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Go Daddy, com, LLC, through undersigned counsel, hereby files its Supplement to Responses

to Staffs First Set of Data Requests to GoDaddy.com, LLC.

Dated this l ltd day of April, 2017.
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l CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

ORIGINAL and thirteen (13) copies of the foregoing filed this l 1"' day of April, 2017 with:

The Arizona Corporation Commission
Utilities Division -Docket Control
1200 W. Washington Street
Phoenix, AZ 85007

COPY of the foregoing emailed this l ltd day of April, 2017 to:

Lori Morrison
Public Utilities Analyst
Utilities Division
1200 W. Washington Street
Phoenix, AZ 85007
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GoDaddy.com, LLC
Supplement to Response to Staff's First Set of Data Requests
Arizona Corporation Commission
Docket No. T-2098lA-l 6-0283
April ll, 2017

STF 1.4 To comply with the requirements in Section (A-19) of the Application:

a. Please provide a list of!! owners, corporate officers and key employees
and provide supporting background information ro include their name,
rifle, position, description of work experience and the years of service in
the telecommunications services industry.

Response: GoDaddy.com's ownership information was provided in Attachment A of its
Application. Biographies for Go Daddy's corporate officers and key employees
are provided below. They collectively have more than 168 years of experience in
the technology industry, and more than l l years of experience in the
telecommunications industry. In addition, the company's senior management
team is supported by a staff ofwell trained and experienced telecommunications
professionals, most of whom were with Call Catchers Inc. dba FreedomVoice
Systems, which Go Daddy acquired in 2016.

Blake J. Irving- CEO: Blake brings passion and vision - along with serious
tech credentials - to the role of CEO. Before coming to GoDaddy in 20] 3, Blake
was EVP and Chief Product Officer at Yahool, where he expanded monthly users
to nearly one billion, launched 180 new Yahoo! websites worldwide and rolled
out products in 23 languages and 30 new markets.

l

l

l
l
l

Prior to Yahoo!, Blake spent 15 years at Microsoft creating world-changing
consumer products like NetMeeting, MSN Messenger and growing Hotmail to the
largest mail service in the world. As Corporate Vice President of the Windows
Live Platform, Blake led the company's global Internet development and
operations, managing a $1 billion global R&D budget and overseeing
development teams in the US, India, China and Europe. Blake has more than 22
years of experience in the technology industry.

Blake began his career at Xerox and Compaq and has been a professor at
Pepperdine's School of Business. Blake earned an M.B.A. from Pepperdine
University and a B.A. from San Diego State University.

Scott W. Wagner- President, COO: As Go Daddy's COO/CFO, Scott manages
the company's business operations as well as all financial reporting, budgeting
and forecasting. Prior to Blake Irving's appointment as CEO in January 2013,
Scott spent six months working on several strategic growth initiatives as
Go Daddy's interim CEO - including the company's expansion into India. Before
joining GoDaddy, Scott spent 13 years with global investment firm KKR, where
he served as a KKR Capstone Member and the long-time leader of its Portfolio
Operations team. Scott has more than 17 years of experience in the technology
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GoDaddy.com, LLC
Supplement to Response to Staffs First Set of Data Requests
Arizona Corporation Commission
Docket No. T-20981 A-I 6-0283
April ll, 2017

industry. Scott holds a B.A. from Yale University and an M.B.A. from Harvard
University.

l

l

Ray Win borne - CFO: As Go Daddy's CFO, Ray manages the company's
finance functions including financial planning and analysis, controllership, tax,
treasury, internal audit and Investor relations. Ray brings more than 20 years of
experience leading finance teams in global companies with significant operating
scale and complexity, and more than 10 years of experience in the
telecommunications industry. Before joining Go Daddy in 2016, Ray was Chief
Financial Officer of First Data, a global leader in commerce-enabling technology
and solutions. He played a catalyst role influencing the direction of company
with respect to product pricing, wholesale channel engagement, the card issuing
business and the need for transformational change in the small merchant business
segment. Ray was also pivotal in the strengthening of the company's balance
sheet, refinancing nearly $24 billion in debt. Prior to First Data, he served in
senior financial leadership roles at Delta Air Lines and AT&T. Ray began his
professional career at PwC in Atlanta. He earned a Bachelor of Science degree in
Business Administration from Troy University.

Arne Josefsberg - CTO, CIO: Arne is responsible for leading Go Daddy's
evolution of our globally scalable cloud, powering the business with Big Data,
and linking the latest advances in technology to GoDaddy's cloud and IT strategy.
Arne joined Go Daddy in 2014 from ServiceNow where he served as Chief
Technology Officer and oversaw the expansion of the company's cloud strategy.
Prior to his time at ServiceNow, Arne had a more than 25 year career at Microsoft
in various leadership positions. His roles there included General Manager
building and operating Microsoft's global cloud infrastructure, and most recently
General Manager in Windows Azure. Arne kicked off his career as an engineer at
Bofors Aerotronics and Intel before moving over to Microsoft. Arne has more
than 32 years of experience in the technology industry.

i
i

:

AugusteGoldman - Chief People Officer: As head of GoDaddy's People
Operations group, Auguste leads the charge to hire and develop the greatest team
of talented individuals on the planet. Having previously led technology teams as
Go Daddy's CIO (including Product Development, IT Operations, Information
Security and R&D) Auguste brings a perspective and skillset to human resources
that is unique in the industry. Prior to 2010, Auguste served as Managing
Director of Integral is Security Services in Stockholm, Sweden and CTO ofLinde
AG, the world's largest natural gas company based in Munich, Germany.
Auguste attended Dartmouth College. Auguste has more than 7 years of
experience in the technology industry.
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James Carrol - EVP of Global Platform Development: As head of Global
Platform Development, James drives the architecture and development for all of
Go Daddy's global business and product platforms, including the systems that
power our global marketing and ecommerce systems worldwide. Before coming
to GoDaddy in 20] 3, James was a Senior Vice President at Yahoo!, where he
directed the company's global R&D centers in China, India and the Middle East.
He also oversaw Yahoo's content, social and membership platforms as well as the
international delivery of all Yahoo! products and services worldwide. Prior to
Yahoo!, James spent 13 years as General Manager at Microsoft. While there, he
managed the MSN international team and later, the Windows and Windows Live
international teams. James has more than 20 years of experience in the
technology industry.

Steven Aldrich - Chief Product Officer: It's Steven'sjob to set and execute the
company's vision of providing elegant, end-to-end technology solutions for
Go Daddy's 14 million small business customers. He also heads up the Online
Bookkeeping and WorkSpace teams. Steven brings over a decade of experience
at Intuit, where he built solutions to help small businesses use the Web to grow
and run their stores. He also has small business experience as the founder of a
Web company that simplified shopping for insurance. Steven has more than 20
years of experience in the technology industry. Steven earned an M.B.A. from
Stanford and a B.A. in physics from University of North Carolina.

N ina Jacobs-Kelly- EVP, GC, CSEC: Nina is General Counsel for Go Daddy,
responsible for mergers & acquisitions, governance, corporate and patent
litigation, and intellectual property matters, as well as customer-facing and third-
party transactional agreements. Since joining Go Daddy in 2002, Nina has served
as project manager, Vice President of Wild West Domains (the company's
reseller affiliate), Public Relations and Corporate Administration, and Deputy
General Counsel. She also grew the company's philanthropic efforts with
Go Daddy Cares. In her life before Go Daddy, Nina worked for Business Edge
Solutions and Beechwood Data Solutions. She also practiced labor and
employment law in New York City. Nina has more than 15 years of experience
in the technology industry. Nina earned her J.D. from the University of
Pennsylvania Law School and a B.A., summa cum laude, from Gettysburg
College where she was elected to Phi Beta Kappa.

Barbara J. Rechterman - SEVP: As Chief Marketing Officer and Chief
Customer Officer, Barb oversees all facets of corporate marketing and strategic
end-to-end customer relationships. Barb creates programs and promotes
consumer-related functions with a unified vision to provide a consistent customer
experience and value, all while including strategic planning and business
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GoDaddy.com, LLC
Supplement to Response to Staff"s First Set of Data Requests
Arizona Corporation Commission
Docket No. T-2098 l A- l 6-0283
April ll, 2017

development for Marketing, Global Branding and Product Management. She has
teamed with GoDaddy founder Bob Parsons for more than two decades, having
previously servedas Vice President of Application Development for Parsons
Technology and as President during the company's acquisition by Intuit, Inc.
Barbara has more than 20 years of experience in the technology industry. Barb
earned a B.A. in Accounting from the University of Dubuque and is a Certified
Public Accountant.

l
l
l
l

Barrett Saik - SVP, Telephony, Product Development: Barrett Salk has
served as our Senior Vice President and General Manager of GoDaddy's
telephony products group since April 2016. Prior to joining our company, Barry
worked in a number of roles ensuring consumer satisfaction with mass-market
products at Intuit from 2001 to 2015, including Head of Intuit's consumer finance
products: Mint, Mint Bills and Quicken. Barry also served as general manager of
the company's Intuit Web sites Division and led Product Management for
TurboTax for many years. Saik also previously served as Director of Product
Management for Vayusphere. Saik earned an MBA from UCLA, and bachelor's
degrees in General Engineering, Product Design and in Communications from
Stanford University. Saik has more than 15 years of experience in the technology
industry, and l year in the telecommunications industry.

Respondent: Nina Kelly
Executive Vice President & General Counsel
14455 N. Hayden Rd., #2 l9m
Scottsdale, AZ 85260
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GoDaddy.com, LLC
Supplement to Response to Staff's First Set of Data Requests

Arizona Corporation Commission
Docket No. T-2098 l A- l 6-0283

Apri l  l l , 2017

STF1.I2 The Company did not provide its or its parent company'sfinancial statements but
rather provided a link ro the parent companys website, specyically the investor-
relafionsdinancials. Please provide the .following information and supporting
documentation:

a.

andl

Please provide the financial statements ending December 31, 2015 andjill in
the following requested information from tnatfnancial statement:

i. Total Assets of$ ,.
ii. Total Equity of$
iii. Net Income (Loss) of$

b. Please provide the fnancial statements ending December 31, 2016, wren

available, and/ill in the following requested information from that
financial statement:

i. Total Assets of$ ;
ii. Total Equity of$ , and
iii. Net Income (Loss) 0f$ .

Response: GoDaddy.com is a disregarded entity for tax purposes and does not have separate

audited financial statements. Rather, all financial information for the company is
included in the audited financial statements of its parent company, GoDaddy Inc.

The requested information for Go Daddy Inc. is as follows, which can be found on
pages 78-79 of the company's Form 10-K for 2016, attached hereto.

For the year ending December 31, 2015:

Total Assets: $3,498.8 million
Total Stockholders' Equity: $681.0 million

Net Income (Loss): $120.4 million

I

For the year ending December 31, 2016:
Total Assets: $3,786.9 million
Total Stockholders' Equity: $714.2 million
Net Income (Loss): $21.9 million

Respondent: Nina Kelly
Executive Vice President & General Counsel
14455 N. Hayden Rd., #2 l9m
Scottsdale, AZ 85260
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

E ANNUAL REPURT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR l5(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 3 l 2016
or

U

l

TRANSITION REPORT PlRSTANT TO SECTION 13 OR l5(d) OF Tm; SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from lo

Commission File Number: 001-36904 l
i
i
i

iGoDoddy
GoDaddy Inc.

(Exact manic of rcgistrant as spccNied iii its chance)

4 6 - 5 7 6 9 9 3 4

( l .R  S. Em ployer Iden ti fi c a ti on  Num ber)

D e l a w a r e

(Slate or other jurisd ic tion of inc orporation or
o rgan i za ti on )

1 4 4 5 5  N .  H a yd e n  R o a d

S c o t t s d a l e ,  Ar i zo n a  8 5 2 6 0

(Address o f pr inc ipa l  exec uti ve  o fl i c es inc lud ing zip  c ode)

( 4 8 0 )  5 0 5 - 8 8 0 0

(Rc gistrants te lephone num ber inc luding area c ode)

Se c u r i t i e s  re g i s te re d  p u rsu a n t to  Se c ti o n  l 2 (b )  o f th e  Ac t:

Nam e o f eac h  exc hange on  wh ic h  reg i ste red

New York Stoc k Exc hange

T i tle  o f eac h c lass

Class A Com m on Stoc k par va lue  $0 .00 l  per share

Se c u r i t i e s  re g i s te re d  p u rsu a n t to  Se c t i o n  l 2 (g )  o f th e  Ac t:  No n e

E E lN oYesIndicate by check mark if the registrant is a \veldknown seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Ac t.

D 8NoYesIndicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to fi le reports pursuant to Sec tion 13 or l5(d) of the Ac t.

E
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ( I) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec tion 13 or l5(d) of the Securities Exchange Ac t of 1934 during the preceding I" months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reponsl. and (2) ha been subjec t to such tiling requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No U

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted elec tronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any every Interac tive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant
to Rule 405 of Regulation ST  (§232405 of this chapter) during the preceding 17 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files) Yes E

N o U

Indicate by cheek mark if disc losure ofdelinquent fi lers pursuant to Item 405 olRegulatlon SK (§229405 of this chapter) is not contained herein and will not be contained. to the best of
registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Pan Il l  of this Form I0K or any amendment to this Form I0K U

Indicate by check inarch whether the registrant is a large accelerated lila an accelerated filer a nonaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated
fi ler accelerated fi ler and smaller reporting company" in Rule l 2b-2 of the Exchange Ac t.

M l:lAccelerated filerLarge accelerated filer

U ELNonaccelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company

EN oC IIndicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule l2b2 of the Exchange Ac t). Yes

As of June 30 2016 the aggregate market value of the registrants Class A common stock held by nonatT iliales. based upon the c losing sales price for the registrants Class A common stock as
reported by the New York Stock Exchange was $l476049440 For the purpose of calculating the aggregate market value of shares held by nonaffi l iates we have assumed that all
outstanding shares are held by nonalT iI\ates. except for shares benefic ially owned by each olour executive officers direc tors and 5% or greater stockholders. In the case of 5% or greater
stockholders we have not deemed such stockholders to be atT illates unless there are facts arid c ircumstances indicating that such stockholders exerc ise any control over our company. T his

i



determ ination of aITilia te  status is not necessarily a  conclusive  determ ination for any other purpose.

As  o f  Fe b rua ry 24  2017 the re  we re  89672472 sha re s  o f GoDaddy Inc. s  C la ss  A com m on stock  S0.00l pa r va lue  pe r sha re  outs tand ing and 78409899 sha re s  o f GoDaddy Inc. s  C la ss  B

common stock  $0.001 par va lue  per share . outstanding

D O C U M E N T S  I N C O R P O R A T E D  B Y  R E F E R E N C E

Portions  o f the  reg is trants  De fin itive  P roxy Sta tem ent re la ting to  the  Annua l Mee ting o f Stockho lde rs  a rc inco rpora ted by re fe rence  into  Pan ill o f th is  Annua l Report on Fo rm  I0K whe re

indica ted. Such De finitive  P roxy Sta tem ent will be  filed with the  Securitie s  and Exchange  Com m iss ion within 120 days a fte r the  end o f the  rcg istranfs  fisca l year ended Decem ber 31 2016

l
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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form I0K including the sections titled "Business" "Risk Factors "Use of Proceeds" and Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended and Section 2 lE of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended involving substantial risks and uncertainties. The words "believe" "may," "will"

"potentially." "plan" estimate." "continue" "anticipate" "intend" "project" "expect" and similar expressions conveying uncertainty of future events or outcomes

are intended to identify forwardlooking statements. These statements include among other things those regarding:

l

our ability to continue to add new customers and increase sales to our existing customers

our ability to develop new solutions and bring them to market in a timely manner

our ability to timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing solutions including GoCentral;

our dependence on establishing and maintaining a strong brand;

the occurrence of serviee interruptions and security or privacy breaches;

system failures or capacity constraints

the rate of growth of and anticipated trends and challenges in our business and in the market for our products

our future financial performance including our expectations regarding our revenue cost of revenue operating expenses including changes in
technology and development marketing and advertising general and administrative and customer care expenses and our ability to achieve and

maintain future profitability

our ability to continue efficiently acquiring customers maintaining our high customer retention rates and maintaining the level four customers
lifetime spend;

our ability to provide high quality Customer Care;

the effects of increased competition in our markets and our ability to compete effeetively;

our ability to grow internationally;

the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on our business and our ability to effectively manage the exposure to such fluctuations;

our ability to effectively manage our growth and associated investments

our ability to integrate recent or potential future acquisitions including our proposed acquisition of llost Europe Holdings Limited (HEG);

the transaction costs in connection with our acquisition ofHEG;

the timing of and our ability to consummate our acquisition ofHEG;

our ability to maintain our relationships with our partners;

adverse consequences four substantial level of indebtedness;

our ability to maintain protect and enhance our intellectual property,

our ability to maintain or improve our market share;

sufficiency of cash and cash equivalents to meet our needs for at least the next 12 months;

beliefs and objectives lOt fUture operations;

our ability to stay in compliance with laws and regulations currently applicable to or which may become applicable to our business both iii the United

States (US) and internationally;

economic and industry trends or trend analysis;

the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel

the amount and timing of any payments we make under tax receivable agreements (TRAs) or for tax distributions;

the future trading prices four Clas A common stock;

as well as other statements regarding our future operations financial condition prospects and business strategies.

I
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NOTE ABOlT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS (continued)

We operate in very competitive and rapidlychanging environments and new risks emerge from timeto-time. It is not possible for us to predict all risks
nor can ac assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially
from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. in light of these risks uncertainties and assumptions the forward-looking events discussed
in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those implied in our forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forwardlooking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe the expectations reflected in our forward
looking statements are reasonable we cannot guarantee the future results levels of activity performance or events and circumstances described in the lbrward-
looking statements will be achieved or occur. Neither we. nor any other person assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date olthis report to conform such statements to
actual results or to changes in our expectations except as required by law. Givcn these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place tindue reliance on
such forwardlooking statements.

Unless expressly indicated or the context suggests otherwise references to GoDaddy we us arid our refer to GoDaddy inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries including Desert New co LLC and its subsidiaries (Desert Ncwco). We refer to Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. LP. (together with its affiliates
KKR) Silver Lake Partners (together with its affiliates Silver Lake) and Technology Crossover Ventures (together \with its affiliates TCV) collectively as the
Sponsors. Wc refer to YAM Special Holdings Inc. as YAM. We refer to Robert R. Parsons the sole beneficial owner of YAM our founder and a member four
board ofdircctors as Bob Parsons.

4
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Part i.

Item l. Business

Our customers have bold aspirations--the drive lo be their own boss "Tile their own story and take a leap of faith to pursue their dreams. Launching that
brewery running that wedding planning service organizing that FUndraiser expanding that web-design business or whatever sparks their passion. We are inspired
by our customers and are dedicated to helping them tum their powerful ideas into meaningful action. Our vision is to radically shi ft the global economy toward

lifefUlfilling independent ventures.

Overview

Our nearly 15 million customers are people and organizations with vibrant ideas-businesses, both large and small entrepreneurs universities charities
and hobbyists. They are defined by their guts grit and determination to transform their ideas into something meaningful. Thcy wear many hats and juggle many
responsibilities and they need to make the most of their time. Our customers need help navigating todays dynamic Internet environment and want the benefits of
the latest technology to help them succeed. We are a trusted partner and champion for organizations of all sizes in their quest to build successful online ventures.

We are a leading technology provider to small businesses web design professionals and individuals delivering simple, easy-to-use cloudbased products
and outcome-driven personalized Customer Care. We operate the worlds largest domain marketplace, where our customers can find that unique piece of digital
real estate perfectly matching their idea. We provide website building hosting and security tools to help customers easily construct and protect their online
presence. As our customers grow we provide applications and access to relevant third party products helping them connect to their customers, manage and grow
their businesses and get lund online.

Our customers need help navigating todays dynamic Internet environment and want the benefits of the latest technology to help them succeed. The
increase in broadband penetration mobile device usage and the need tor presence across search engines content destinations listing providers (Ag. Yelp) c-
commerce sites and social media channels create both opportunities and challenges for them. We offer products and solutions to help our customers tackle this
rapidly changing technology landscape. We develop the majority of our products internally and believe our solutions are among the best in the industry in terms of
breadth. performance functionality and ease fuse.

Often technology companies force their customers to choose between technology and support delivering one but not the other. At GoDaddy we dont
believe our customers should have to choose and strive to deliver both great technology and great customer support. We believe engaging with our customers in a
proactive consultative way helps them knock down the technology hurdles they race. Through the thousands of conversations we have withour customers every
day we receive valuable feedback enabling us to continually evolve our products and solutions and respond to their changing needs.

Our people and unique culture have been integral to our success. We live by the same principles that enable new ventures to survive and thrive: hard
work perseverance. conviction an obsession with customer satisfaction and a belief that no one can do it better. We take responsibility for driving successful
outcomes and are accountable to our customers which we believe has been a key factor in enabling our rapid customer and revenue growth. We believe we have
one of the most recognized technology brands in the U.S.

Our Size and Scale

Our combination of easyto-use cloud-based products personalized Customer Care a powerful brand and a unique culture have helped us build an
attractive business with strong financial performance.s

Il
i
|
l

We are the global market leader in domain name registration-a key on-ramp to establishing a business online in our connected economy-with more
than 63 million domains under management as of Deccmbcr 31 2016 According to VeriSign's Domain Name Industry Brie£ we had 19% of the
worlds domains registered as oflunc 30 2016 .

As of December 31 2016 we had nearly 15 million customers and added approximately 1 million customers in 2016

As of December 31 20 l6 we had nearly 800000 customers who each spent more than $500 a year.

5



l l ontents

In each of the five years endedDecember 31, 2016 , our customer retention rate exceeded 85% and our retention rate for customers who had been with

us for over three years we approximately 90% .

In 2016 we generated $2.155 million in total bookings up 12.6% (or approximately 138% on a constant currency basis) from $1914 million in 2015
In 2016 we had $1848 million olrevenue up 15.0% (or approximately 167% on a constant currency basis) from $1607 million in 2015

As of December 3 I 2016 we provided localized solutions in 56 markets. For the year ended December 31 2016 approximately 28% four total

bookings were attributable to customers outside of the US.

Our highly-rated Customer Care team of more than 4. 100 specialists including more than 1100 outside the U.S. is focused on providing highquality.
personalized care As a result of their ongoing dialogue with customers our Customer Care team also drives bookings and in 2016 generated
approximately 24% olour total bookings.

Our Market

Our customers represent a large and diverse market which we believe is largely underserved According to the U.S. Small Business Administration there
were approximately 28 million small businesses in 2012. Based on data from the 2012 U.S. Census Bureau and the U.S. Small Business Administration over 85%
olsma1l businesses have fewer than five employees and approximately 23 million , or over 75% of small businesses were non-employer finns. Furthermore the
Kautlinan Index o1Entrepreneurial Activity Report estimated that in 2015 there were approximately 530000 new business owners created each month in the U.S.
Moreover according to a study perlbrmed by the International Finance Corporation and McKinsey Company there are more than 420 million micro small and
medium enterprises (defined as one to 250 employees) worldwide. We believe our addressable market extends beyond small businesses and includes individuals
and organizations such as universities charities and hobbyists

Despite the ubiquity and importance of the Internet to individual consumers many small businesses and organizations have remained offline given their
limited resources and inadequate tools. We believe approximately 60% o f small businesses do not have a website However as proliferation of mobile devices
blurs the online/ollline distinction into an always online" world having an impactful online presence is becoming a "must have" for small businesses worldwide

What it means for small businesses and ventures to be online continues to evolve. Only a few years ago an online presence typically consisted of a simple
and static website with basic information perhaps supported by limited search engine marketing. Today having an effective online presence requires much more,
including a secure and content rich website viewable from any device presence on social media sites and an increasing number of horizontal and vertical
marketplaces (eg Yelp and Openlable); branded email communication; online marketing and Internet-enabled reservation and scheduling capabilities. in
addition, other needs such as telephony invoicing payment processing and accounting and tax preparation which are typically separate point solutions can now
increasingly be linked to the front-end.

The shift toward dynamic online presence for small business has been fueled by the emergence olsimple yet powerful cloudbased technologies that can
easily be utilized by individuals with limited technical skills. Cloud technologies have helped enable the integration of front and backend activities. Cloudbased
products which can be "rented" on a monthly or yearly basis allow a business to more easily scale from a nascent idea to a thriving venture. The Parallels SMB
Cloud Insights lOt Global 2014 report estimates the cloud market for small business was $62 billion in 2013 and will double by 2016 growing to $l25 billion .

Our Customers

i

l

i

Our customers share common traits such as tenacity and determination yet their specific needs vary depending on the type and stage of their ventures.
They range from individuals who are thinking about starting a business to established ventures that arc up and running but need help attracting customers growing
their sales managing their business or expanding their operations. While our customers have differing degrees of resources and technical capabilities they all share
a desire to bring their ideas to life. Our customers are united by a number of common characteristics: entrepreneurial spirit strong work ethic and above all
passion for their ventures.

Our target customers are primarily local service-based businesses Most four customers have fewer than five employees and most identify themselves as
having little to no technology skills. They need our help to give their businesses a unique and secure digital identity and tools to help them stay connected with
their customers.
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his is made up of web-savvv individuals who utilize digital
To serve our customers well at every phase of their ventures we group them into multiple stages of growth starting with "nascent" and evolving to

"established and content" We have also identified special groups like the "digital commerce" group. w
commerce platforms as their primary business vehicles Wc also serve a group ofeustomers consisting of web-designers and web-developers-who we call "Web

and wePros"-who are in the business of building designing and managing the online presence of othcrs Each of these groups is unique in their needs,

personalize our solutions to meet them at each stage in their lifecycle.

Our Opportunity-What Successful Ventures Need

Our customers are consumers themselves and use the Internet to get infonned, research and shop for solutions which makes them keenly aware of the
need to have an impactful online presence. While our customers' needs change depending on where they are in their lifecycle the most common customer needs
we serve include:

Catting online and looking great . Our customers want to find a name perfectly identifying their business hobby or passion. Once they have a name
they want to create a digital identity so their customers can find engage and transact with them online. We believe a complete digital identity includes
an elegant mobileenabled website and the ability to get found across various search engines, social media platforms and vertical marketplaces.

Growing their business and running their operations Our customers need to communicate with their existing customers and find new customers.
They also need tools ac help them run their businesses from telephony productivity and marketing tools to getting paid and balancing their books. In
todays online world these activities can now increasingly be linked to a customer's online presence.

Easy-to-use products with help from a real person when needed . Our customers want easy-touse products and sometimes they need help from real
people to set up their website launch a new feature or try something new. We build products that are intuitive for beginners to use yet robust and
featurerich to address the needs ofexpert designers and power-users. We also provide high quality consultative Customer Care and advise our
customers as needed.

Technology that grows with them . Our customers need a simple platform and set of tools enabling their domain website and other solutions to easily
work together as their venture grows and becomes more complex. The right platform can meet the needs ofboth an entrepreneur who is not
technologically savvy and a Web Pro with a more complexset of requirements.

Reliability, security and performance. Our customersexpect reliable products and want to be confident their digital presence is secure. Our
customers work on their ventures whenever arid however they can and need solutions fitting their lifestyle and schedule.

.Affordable solutions . Our customers often have limited financial resources and are unable to make large upfront investments in the latest technology.
Our customers need affordable solutions leveling the playing field and giving them the tools to look and act like bigger ventures

()ur Solution-What We Do and flow We Do It i
W

We built GoDaddy to serve our customers by providing elegant easy-to-use cloudbased products wrapped with personalized Customer Care Our
customers tum IO us in order IO:

Get a great domain name . Every great idea needs a great name. Staking a claim with a domain name has become the first step in establishing an idea
and presence online When inspiration strikes we are there to provide our customers with high-quality search discovery and recommendation tools as
well as the broadest selection of domains to help them find the right name for their venture.

Turn their domain into a dynamic online presence Our products including GoCentral enable anyone to build an elegant website or online store
tor both desktop and mobile regardless of technical skill. Our products powered by a unified cloud platform enable our customers to get found online
by helping to enhance the information on their website and extending theirwebsite and its content to where they need to be from searchengine results
(Ag. Google) to social media (cg. Facebook) to vertical marketplaces (eg. Yelp and FourSquarc) all loom one location For more technically
sophisticated web designers developers and customers we provide highperformance flexible hosting and security products that can be used with a
variety of open source design tools. We design these solutions to be easy lo use effective reliable. flexible and a great value.
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Add backoffice and marketingproducts . Our customers want to spend their time on what matters most to them selling their products or services or
helping their customers do the same. We provide them with productivity tools such as domainspecific email online storage and invoicing and payment
solutions to help run their ventures. We also provide robust marketing products such as email marketing to help them attract and retain customers.

Lse our products together in a solution that grows with our customers over time. Our APl-driven technology platform is built on state-of-theart
open source technologies like Hadoop OpenStack and other largescale distributed systems. Simply put we believe our products work well together
and are more valuable and easier to use together than four customers purchased them individually from other companies and tried to integrate them
Additionally, our platform allows our developers to innovate new and enhanced products or product features assembled from common building blocks

leading to faster deployment cycles.

Receive assistance from our highlyrated Customer Care team . Our Customer Care team consists of more than 4100 specialists who are available
24/7/365 and are capable of providing care to customers having different levels of technical sophistication. Our specialists are evaluated on customer
outcomes and the quality of the experience they provide. We strive to provide highquality. consultative care and deliver a distinctive experience
helping us create loyal customers who renew their subscriptions purchase additional products and refer their family and friends to us.

Itiliz e a reliable, secure,global technology platform and infrastructure In 2()l6 we handled on average nearly 18 billion DNS queries per day
and hosted approximately l() million websites on servers located throughout our worldwide data centers. We focus on online security customer privacy
and reliable infrastructure to address the evolving needs of our customers.

Receive high value . We price most of our products at a few dollars per month while providing our customers with robust features and functionality.
We believe our high-quality products and personalized Customer Care provide our customers with an affordable bridge between their available
resources and their aspirations.

Our Advantages-Why WeWin

We believe the following strengths provide us with competitive advantages in realizing the potential of our opportunity:

We are the leadingdomain name marketplace,a key onramp in establishing a digital identity . We are the global market leader in domain name
registration. According to VeriSigns Domain Name Industry Brief we held over 19% of the approximately 335 million worldwide domain names
under management as of lune 30 2016 . As of December 31 2016 we had more than 63 million domains under management.

We combine an integrated cloud-technology platform with rich data science At our core we are a product and technology company. As of
December 31 2016 we had 922 engineers 193 issued patents and 186 pending patent applications in the U.S. Our investments in technology and
development and our data science capabilities enable us to innovate and deliver a personalized experience to our customers.

We operate an industry-leading Customer Care team that also drives bookings . We give our customers much more than typical customer support.
Our team is unique blending personalized Customer Care with the ability to evaluate our customers' needs which allows us to help and advise them as
well as drive incremental bookings. Our Customer Carc team contributed approximately 24% four total bookings in 2016 . Our customers respond to
our personalized approach with high marks for customer satisfaction. Our proactive Customer Care model is a key component helping create long-term
customer relationships which is reflected in our high retention rates.

Our brand and marketing efficiency . We believe GoDaddy is one of the most recognized technology brands in the U.S. Through a combination of
costcffcctive directmarketing brand advertising and customer referrals we have increased our total customers from 10.2 million as of Dcccmber 31
2012 to 14.7 million as of December 31. 2016 .

Our financial model . Our stable and predictable business model is driven by efficient customer acquisition high customer retention rates and
increasing lifetime spend. In each of the five years ended December 3 l 2016 our customer retention rate exceeded 85% and our retention rate for
customers who had been with us for over three years was approximately 90% . We believe the breadth and depth four product offerings and the high
quality arid responsiveness four Customer Care team builds strong customer relationships and are keys to our high level of customer retention.

Our people and our culture . We are a company whose people embody the grit and determination four customers. Our world-class engineers
scientists designers marketers and Customer Care specialists share a passion for technology and its ability to change our customers lives. We value
hard work, extraordinary effort living passionately
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taking intelligent risks and working together toward successful customer outcomes Our relentless pursuit o f doing right for our customers has been a

crucial ingredient of our growth

Our scale . We have achieved significant scale in our business enabling us to efficiently acquire new customers serve our existing customers and

continue to invest in growth.

In 2016 we generated $2155 million in total bookings up from $l250 million in 2012 representing a compound annual growth rate (CAGR)

of l 5% .

In 2016 we had $L848 million of revenue up from $91 l million in 2012 representing a CAGR of 19% .

in 2016 we had $387 million of net cash provided by operating activities.

in the five years ended December 3 l 2016 we invested to support our growth with $ll90 million in technology and development expenses
and $87l million in marketing and advertising expenses.

Our St rategy-HowWe Grow

We are pursuing the tbllowing principal strategies to drive our business:

Expand and innovate our product offerings . Our product innovation priorities include:

Delivering the next generation of naming . The first generationof naming included a limited set of generic toplevel domains (giLDs) such as
com and net and country code toplevel domains (ccTLDs) such as .uk and .in. With approximately 335 million existing domains registered it
may be increasingly difficult for customers to find the name best suiting their needs. As a result. ICANN began introducing more than 1300 new
giLDs in late 2013. We merchandise hundreds of these newer TIDs including new generic options (e.g..shop and .blog) as well as names
geared toward professions (cg. photography) personal interests (Ag. club). geographies (Ag. London .nyc and .Vegas) and just plain fun (cg
.ninja) Additionally we have invested to expand the secondary market to help match buyers to sellers who already own domains. Our GoDaddy
Investor mobile application helps investors watch and hid on domains at auction and stay on top of current bids from their mobile devices. We
continue to invest in search discovery and recommendation tools and transfer protocols for both primary and secondary domains.

Powering elegant and effortless presence We continue to invest in tools templates and technology to make building maintaining and updating
a professional looking mobile or desktop website simple and easy Additionally we are investing in products to help our customers drive their
customer acquisition efforts by managing their presence across search engines social networks and vertical marketplaces and keep their online
presence and infonnation secure. We recently launched GoCentral a new service combining a mobile-optimized website builder with an
integrated set ofmarkcting and e-commerce tools to help our customers create an audience for their idea or business enabling them to design a
professional website in under an hour.

Making the business of business easy .Our business applications range from domainspecific email and email marketing to telephony services
and payment tools to help our customers communicate with their customers and grow their ventures. We intend to continue investing in the
breadth four product offerings to help our customers connect with their customers and run their ventures

i

i

i

Win the Web Pros . We are investing in building a suite of tools and services tor web designers and developers to help them save time make money
and exceed client expectations. These client management tools include administrative access and shopping features making it easier for designers and
developers to buy and manage products for their clients. We have further bolstered our Wcb Profocused suite through recent
acquisitions strengthening our site management capabilities and technical support and extending our reach into the Wordless community

Co global . As of December 3 l 2016 approximately 34% four customers were located in international markets notably Canada, india and the
United Kingdom. We have made significant investments in the localization four service offerings in markets outside of the U.S. and as of
December 3 l, 2016 we offered localized products and Customer Care in 56 markets. To support our international growth we will continue investing
to develop our local capabilities across products marketing programs data centers and Customer Care. Our recent international acquisitions including
our proposed acquisition of HEG are an important pan of this international growth.

Partner up Our flexible platform also enables us to acquire companies and quickly launch new products for our customers including through
partnerships such as Microsoft Office 365 lOt email and PayPal tor payments. We have
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also acquired companies and technologies ro complement our product and service offerings and expand our geographic footprint. We intend to continue

identifying value-added technology acquisition targets and partnership opportunities.

Make it personal. We seek to leverage data and insights to personalize the product and Customer Care experiences four customers as well as tailor
our solutions and marketing efforts to each four customer groups. We are constantly seeking to improve our website marketing programs and
Customer Carc to intelligently reflect where customers are in their lifecycle and identify their specific product needs. We intend to continue investing in
our technology and data platforms to further enable our personalization efforts.

Wrap it with Care . We believe our highly~rated Customer Care team is distinctive and essential to the lifetime value proposition we offer our
customers. We continue to invest in our Customer Care team. including investing to expand our Customer Care service improve the quality of our
Customer Care resources and introduce enhanced tools and processes across our expanding global footprint.

Products

We have designed and developed an extensive set of easytouse cloudbased technology products enabling our customers to establish a digital presence
connect with their customers and manage their ventures. We understand our customers needs vary depending on the type and stage of their venture which is why
we offer our products both independently and bundled as suites of integrated products designed for specific activities.

Our domain name registration products enable us to engage customers at the initial stage of establishing a digital identity and act as an on-ramp for our
other products. We believe our hosting presence and business applications products increase our revenue and margin growth opportunities, frequentlyserveas
starting points for our customer relationships improve customer retention and significantly improve our value proposition to customers.

Domains

We are the global market leader in domain name registration. Securing a domain is a necessary first step to creating a digital identity and our domain
products often serve as the starting point in our customer relationships. As of December 3 l 2016 more than 93% of our customers had purchased a domain from
us and as of December 31 2016 the had more than 63 million domains under management. In 2016 2015 and 2014 we generated approximately 50% 52%
and 55% four total revenue respectively from sales of our domain products.

i
I
i

Our primary domains product offerings arc:

primary registrations with the relevant registry. Our inventory for primary registrations is defined by the number of top-level domains (TLDs) we offer.
Pr/maqv Registrations . Using our website or mobile application we offer customers the ability to search for and register available domain names or

As of
December 3 l 2016 391 different giLDs (Ag. com .net and .org) and 50 different ccTLDs (Ag..dh .ca in and .up.) were available for purchase through our
primary registration product. Sir cc 2013 new giLDs have been periodically launched including names geared toward professions (eg. photography) personal
interests (Ag. guru) geographies (Ag London .nyc and .Vegas) adjust plain fun (Ag..ninja) These new giLDs make it easier tr companies and individuals to
find and register new easytoremember domain names tailored to their ventures industry or interests that may not have been available in the relatively crowded.
traditional giLDs such as .com. ccTLDs are important to our international expansion efforts as we have found international customers often prefer the ccTLD for
the country or geographic market in which they operate. Our primary registration offering relies heavily on our search discovery and recommendation tools which
enable our customers to find a name matching their needs. We also sell domain registrations through relationships with thirdpany resellers.

Aftermarket . We operate the worlds largest domain aftemtarket which processes aftermarket or secondary domain name sales. Our aftermarket
platform which we substantially supplemented through our acquisition ofAhernic in 2013 is designed to enable the seamless purchase and sale of an already
registered domain name through an online auction an offer and counter-offer transaction or a "buy now" transaction. In 2015 and 2()l6 we acquired more than
430000 domain names to increase the inventory available to our customers. In January 2016 we launched the Got)addy Investor mobile application to help
investors watch and bid on domains at auction and stay on top of their current bids all from their mobile devices. We operate a crossregistrar network that
automates transaction execution across registrars thereby reducing the time required to complete a transaction. We receive a percentage of the sales price for each
domain sold.
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Domain Name AddOns . Domain name add-ons are features a customer can add to a domain name registration. Our domain name privacy product allows
our customers to register a domain name on an "unlisted" basis. This product helps prevent privacy intrusions, helps deter domain related spam and allows our
customers to confidentially secure a domain for an unannounced product service or idea. Domain name add-ons are typically purchased concurrently with domain

name registrations and have minimal costs associated with their delivery.

Hosting and Presence

We offer a variety of hosting and presence products enabling our customers to create and manage their digital identity, or in the case of Web Pros the
digital identities of their end-customers. As olDecember 31 2016 we hosted approximately 10 million websites. In each ot20l6 2015 and 2014 we derived
approximately 37% four total revenue tram sales four hosting and presence products.

Our primary hosting products are:

l

l

l

Shared Website Hosting .The temp "shared hosting" refers to the housing of multiple websites on the same sewer via the use of cheroot environments.
Shared hosting is our most popular hosting product. We operate maintain and support shared website hosting in our owned and operated data center arid our leased
ea-located data center facilities using either Linux or Windows operating systems. We currently alTer three tiers of shared website hosting plans to suit the needs
and resources four customers all of which use industry standard Panel or Parallels Plesk control panels. We also bundle our hosting plans with a variety of

applications and products such as web analytics and SSL certificates.

l

i

l

l

Website Hosting on Virmal PrIvate Servers and Virtual Dedicated Servers . Our broad range of vinual private server and virtual dedicated server
offerings allows our customers to select the server configuration best suited for their applications requirements and growth Our virtual private sewer offering
provides customers with a single virtual machine running on a single bare fetal server that is running multiple other virtual machines for other customers. Our
virtual private server product is designed to meet the requirements of customers with a need for greater control more advanced technical capabilities and higher
performance than that offered by our shared hosting plans. For those customers who have a need for dedicated resources we created our virtual dedicated server
product, providing customers with a single tenant virtual machine housed on a bare octal server reserved exclusively for their use. Our customers have the ability
to tailor their virtual dedicated server plan based on a range of performance. storage bandwidth and operating system.

l
Managed Hosting .with our managed hosting products we set up monitor maintain secure and patch softwareand servers for our customers. We offer

a variety of managed hosting plans to support our custoiners needs including multiple tiers atManaged WordPress hosting on a platform optimized for WordPress.
We also offer other managed environments that span across our VPS and Dedicated products like Joomla Drupal and Magento and apps like Gallery. in addition
to managed hosting plans tailored to our customers needs we also offer expert services which provide additional support services at a fixed hourly rate.

Secunrv .Our security products include secure sockets layer certificates (SSLs), Malware scanners and Malware removal. According to Netcraft we are
one of the worlds largest provider of SSLs. An SSL validates a customers website identity and encrypts online transactional information such as credit card
information and communications sent to or by the website. We offer a variety ofSSLs all of which provide high-grade 256bit encryption. Our SSL offerings
include multiple domain SSLs and wildcard" SSLs which secure a singular website URL as well as subdomains on that URL (Ag. protectmyvisitorscom and
cartprotectmyvisitors.com). We also offer "code signing certificates" designed to prove the identity of software authors and validate that the software has not been
tampered with since its original distribution.

Our primary presence products arc:

Website Bu//der Our Website Builder is an easytouse doit-yourselfonline tool enabling customers irrespective of their technical skills to build
elegant websites. We offer a variety of plans with pricing dependent on the number of available design styles and desired business and marketing features. with
each of these plans customers have access to hundreds ofprotessional designs which can be further customized using our dragand-drop editor by adding photos
graphics or text. Our designs cover a wide range of categories with professionally written content for small businesses organizations families athletic teams.
weddings reunions and other interest groups. Once built websites can be easily connected to social profiles such as Facebook and Twitter and optimized for
search engines. Our customers are also able to receive a mobile-optimized version of their website through Website Builder.
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Ecommerce .Our online store product allows customers to easily create their own standalone website with an integrated online store optimized for
mobile shopping which allows customers to showcase products. manage inventory and shipping and securely accept payments via credit card Apple Pay or
PayPal. The online store also provides integrated tools for customers to maximize their sales via Google email marketing and Facebook.

Search Engine VisIbilitv . Search Engine Visibility (SEV) helps our customers get their website found on major search sites through search engine
optimization. SEV offers a simple step-by-step wizard giving targeted recommendations on which search phrases are most likely to drive traffic to a customers
site. We have built a ground-up system that helps our customers receive specific recommendations on keywords and content. Customers who are using a domain
name and DNS purchased from GoDaddy can also automatically apply updates with one click meaning they never have to touch a line of code.

Business Applications

Wc offer a variety of products designed to make the business of business easier br our customers. The products we offer include those developed in-
house as well as thirdparty applications which we distribute and support such as Microsolt Office 365. in 2016 2015 and 2014 we derived approximately 13%
l l% and 8% of our total revenue respectively. from sales four business applications products.

Our primary business applications products are:

M/crosof! ()Moe 365 . We offer fullysupported Microsoft Office 365 email accounts that are easy to set up and use with our customers domains. We
offer Microsoft Office 365 in multiple plans ranging from email with calendar and contacts connected to a custom domain to a full suite of productivity tools
including file sharing and full desktop versions of applications including Outlook Word. Excel and PowerPoint. For customers needing to comply with regulatory
requirements we offer email addon services such as l{lPPA-enabled email encryption services (in partnership with Proof Point) and archiving services (in
partnership with Sonian). Microsoft Office 365 is easy to set up and can be up and running in minutes.

I
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i

Email Accounts . We offer a range of email service plans that connect to our customers domains. Some of these plans include a multifeature web
interface an integrated calendar and secure online storage. The pricing of these plans depends on the customers desired amount of storage and number o f email
addresses. All of our email accounts are advertising-free and include security functionality designed to provide protection from spam viruses and other forms of
online fraud such as whishing.

Email Marketing. Our email marketing product helps customers market their businesses through pcnnissionbased email. Customers can easily create and
send newsletters targeted advertising campaigns promotions and surveys as well as connect email campaigns with their social media networks and track the
results of campaigns.

Telephony . Through our 2016 acquisition of Freedom Voice we provide internet-based telephone services that can be accessed with either IP
phones or traditional local or cellular telephone services. Some four telephone plans include additional services. such as voicemail a virtual receptionist a
customizable phone tree voicemail transcription, followme call forwarding fax on demand and email delivery of voicemail. We expect to launch expanded
telephony services through our Smartline offering during the second quarter of 20l7.

Technology and Infrastructure

Our technology platform fonts the core of many four solutions and we have invested significantly to develop a platform designed to be intelligent fast.
secure and scalable. Our technology and development expenses including those expenses related to our technology platform were $288 million $270 million and
$25 l million in 2016 2015 arid 2014 respectively. Wc have built a scalable platform allowing us to provide faster business insights at lower costs develop and
introduce new products quickly and leverage economies of scale to reduce costs and enable next-generation hosting architecture. Our technology stack which
includes physical infrastructure lnfrastructureasa-Service Platform-asa~Scrvice applications and data science allows our customers to build and manage their
digital identities and enable access across multiple devices. We seek to continuously enhance the performance and reliability of our technology infrastructure by
investing in faster data centers improved network connectivity and improved resiliency both domestically and internationally.

Physical infrustru cure

Our physical technology infrastructure includes servers located throughout 12 data centers around the world. We have also invested significantly in our
peering architecture and utilize multiple peering sites allowing us to handle high ll' transit traffic
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at low bandwidth costs. Our large technology infrastructure lbotprint allows us to leverage economies of scale through low server network storage and processing
costs by commoditizing hardware across various systems and leveraging Virtualization vvherc possible.

Infraslrudu re-asaService

We leverage an Infrastructurc-asa-Scrvice model geared toward the Virtualization and automation of common physical data center components like
servers load balancers switches and storage. We use open source solutions when possible to automate manual processes and thereby reduce the risk of human
error as well as to lower costs. Additionally we are beginning to use a single automated infrastructure based on OpcnStack to enable nextgeneration services.

Platform-asa-Service

Our cloud platform offers our customers an integrated and comprehensive set of timesaving services. Our platform is designed to help us reduce costs
increase personalization and more easily and quickly build and deploy new products. We continuously invest to develop our platform capabilities and have recently
deployed a new authentication platlbmi allowing us to onboard new products more quickly and securely. We have also deployed Cassandra an open source
distributed database management system across our datacenters lbr improved customer data replication enabling personalization We have started to introduce
container technology managed through an orchestration plaltbrm to further simplify and automate how we build and manage services.

Applications

Our platform is highlyllexible allowing us to easily integrate thirdpar1y offerings and enhance our value proposition to our customers by offering
comprehensive and integrated solutions that can be rapidly scaled up or down and used across multiple platforms including mobile. Our platform also allows
resellers to easily sell our products thereby broadening our distribution channels. We seek to continuously launch new and relevant applications and streamline our
existing offerings in order to provide the best user experience to our customers.

Darn science

Our data collection technology enables tis to collect customer product and business data from various sources including web crawling local listings
providers (eg. Yelp and slate business registrations) social platlbrms (Ag. Facebook and Twitter) and mobile platforms (e.g. geoloeation and ecommerce). We
use Hadoop. an open source software framework for storage and large-scale processing of data sets to develop an integrated customer insights data platform. By
integrating this data we are able to offer personalized and intelligent insights and business intelligence to our customers that they can access via dashboards. These
dashboards also enhance our ability to develop and offer differentiated products and more intelligent Customer Care. We believe our ability to olfer this insight
helps us deliver the right solutions targeted to the needs of our customers and attract more businesses Io our platform

Customer Care

We have more than 4100 Customer Care specialists who provide technical assistance 24/7/365 to customers located around the world Operating as
"business consultants" our specialists advise customers of products best suiting their individual needs. This ability to provide realtime product suggestions while
providing a world-class support experience allows our Customcr Care team to provide an impactful contribution to bookings through the sale of product
subscriptions. Our Customer Care specialists take great pride in owning outcomes and being accountable to our customers both of which are essential to enhancing
customer experience. in each of20l6 2015 and 2014 at least 23% four total bookings were generated from the sale olproduct subscriptions by our Customer
Care team. The majority four Customer Care specialists are located in our Arizona and lowa facilities in the U.S. We have additional international specialists
providing inregion support in native languages. In addition our easyto-use website contains extensive educational content designed to demystify the process of
establishing an online presence and to assist customers in choosing the products best meeting their needs.

Our Customer Care team spans a variety of channels to provide tailored and timely support to our customers handling approximately 14 million contacts
annually in each of the last three years. Our customers can choose their preferred Customer Care channel including proactive and reactive chat and phone support.
We take a consultative approach to our customers acting as a trusted partner to guide them through the process with technical solutions supporting them at each
phase ottheir lifecycle and
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offer realtime product suggestions best suited to the customers needs. The effectiveness otour model is retlccted in the high ratings we receive from our

customers the bookings generated by our Customer Care team and strong customer referrals.

The strength four Customer Care team is our people. Our hiring process is extensive arid highly selective designed to yield individuals who will thrive
in our team based on core values. character work ethic and ability. Our new Customer Care hires spend over Ra month moving from classroom to a live "nesting"
environment where they refine their customer and technology skills. With a commitment to lifelong learning Ive offer hundreds of classes to our employees
spanning leadership sales. service and technology We have an incentive program that rewards outcomes across both customer satisfaction and bookings goals.
For that arid many other reasons as of December 3 l 2016 approximately 40% four Customer Care specialists had been with us for at least three years.

Marketing

l

I
We intend to continue investing in our brand as we seek to further grow our total customers. particularly internationally. Customer referrals are another

We believe GoDaddy is one of the most recognized technology brands in the U.S. We have established this high level of brand awareness primarily
through our advertising campaigns across various plattbrms including television commercials print, online and billboards. We have supplemented these
advertising campaigns with athlete and celebrity sponsorships. Our strong brand has helped us attract and retain nearly 15 million customers as of December 3 l
20 la .
highly efficient and costeflective channel for acquiring customers.

We complement our brand marketing efforts with highly focused and metric-driven direct response marketing to acquire new customers. We use a variety
of targeted online marketing programs for lead generation including search engine marketing search engine optimization arid targeted email and social media
marketing campaigns as well as more traditional direct marketing and indirect channel partner marketing programs to drive interest in our products and traffic to
our websilcs.Aspan of this effort we regularly run numerous campaigns simultaneously and constantly refine our media mix across our channels.

International

Central to our international strategy is a philosophy of localizing our product offerings and deploying them through our global infrastructure We have
nearly 5 million customers outside of the U.S. In 2016 we derived approximately 28% four total bookings from international sales compared to 26% in 2015
and 25% in 2014 . We have devoted substantial dedicated resources to growing our international presence leading to the expansion of our localized products and
Customer Care to 56 markets as of December 3 l 2016 We believe our international scale and growth to date are indicative of the international growth
opportunities available to us and position us to continue to grow our business outside the U.S.

We have built a dedicated team responsible for the internationalization and localization four core product offerings as well as our Customer Care and
marketing efforts. In conjunction with our localization efforts we have added ontheground regional teams and increased our country and regional specific
marketing spend. These investments have enabled us to suctressliilly launch and expand our business in select international markets Our success in these markets
has furthered our belief that our international model can work in both established and emerging markets. We have taken a rigorous approach to managing the level
of investment we expect to make in each geographic market we enter based on a market tier approach. We expect to continue to expand internationally growing
our share and increasing penetration of the international markets weve entered in recent years including through our proposed acquisition of I [EG

Competition

We provide cloud-bascd solutions enabling individuals businesses and organizations to establish an online presence connect with customers and manage
their ventures. The market br providing these solutions is highly fragmented and competitive. These solutions are also rapidly evolving creating opportunity for
new competitors to enter the market with point-solution products or address specific segments of the market. in some instances, we have commercial partnerships
with companies with which we also compete. Given our broad product porttblio we compete with niche pointsolution products and broader solution providers.
Our competitors include providers of:

domain registration services and web-hosting solutions such as Endurance Rightside United Interact and Web.com

website creation and management solutions such as Automattic Shopify Squarespace and Win;

cloudinfrastructure services and online security providers such as Comodo Symantec Let's Encrypt and WP Engine;
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alternative web presence and marketing solutions such as Constant Contact Easy, OpenTable Yelp and Zillow; and

productivity tools such as business-class email calendaring and tilesharing such as Dropbox Microsoll and Google.

We expect continued competition from companies in the domain hosting and presence markets such as Automattic Endurance Rightside Squarespacc
United Internet Web.com and Wix. We also expect potential increased competition tram companies like Amazon, Google and Mierosoll which are providers of
web-hosting and other cloud-based services. Google has recently entered the domain registration business with eBay and Facebook both offering robust Internet

marketing platforms.

We believe the principal competitive factors include: product capabilities meeting customer requirements a secure reliable and integrated technology
platfonn €0$[.eff¢¢[i\¢ customer acquisition brand awareness and reputation customer service and support and overall customer satisfaction. We believe we
compete favorably with respect to each of these factors For additional information, see "Risk Factors."

Regulation

Our business is subject to regulation by ICANN federal and state laws in the U.S.and the laws ofothcr jurisdictions in \which we do business.

I ICANN . The registration of domain names is governed by ICANN. ICANN is a multistakeholder private sector not-forprofit corporation formed in
1998 for the express purposes of overseeing a number of Internet related tasks including management of the DNS allocation of IP addresses accreditation of
domain name registrars and registries and the definition and coordination of policy development for all of these functions. We are accredited by ICANN as a

domain name registrar and thus our ability to offer domain name registration products is subject to our ongoing relationship with arid accreditation by ICANN. The
regulation of lnternet domain names in the U.S. and in foreign countries is subject to change. For example in 2016 the National Telecommunications and

Infonnation Administration or the NTIA an agency of the U.S. Department of Commerce transitioned oversight of key internet domain name functions to the
global multi-stakeholder community. As a result. there is uncertainty at this time concerning the nature and signitieance oI this recent transition from U.S.
oversight of ICANN to oversight of ICANN by other bodies

ecTLDAu!hormes . The regulation of ccTLDs is governed by national regulatory agencies of the country underlying the specific ccTLDs such as China

(.on) Canada (.ea) and the United Kingdom (.uk). Our ability to sell ccTLDs is dependent on our and our partners ability to maintain accreditation in good
standing with these various international authorities.

Advertising and promotional information presented on our websites and in our products and our other marketing and promotional activities are subject to
federal and state consumer protection laws regulating unfair and deceptive practices U.S. federal state and foreign legislatures have also adopted laws and
regulations regulating numerous other aspects four business. Regulations relating to the Internet including laws governing online content user privacy taxation
liability for thirdparty activities and jurisdiction are particularly relevant to our business. Such laws and regulations are discussed below.

Communications Decency Ac/ The CDA regulates content of material on the Interact and provides immunity to Internet service providers and providers
of interactive computer services lOt certain claims based on content posted by third parties. The CDA and the case law interpreting it generally provide that domain
name registrars and website hosting providers cannot be liable for defamatory or obscene content posted by customers on their servers unless they participate in

creating or developing the content.

Digital MIllennIum Copyright Act . The DMCA provides domain name registrars and website hosting providers a safe harbor from liability for thirdparty
copyright infringement. To qualify lOt the safe harbor. however registrars and website hosting providers must satisfy numerous requirements. including adoption
ola user policy providing for termination of service access of users who are repeat infringers. informing users of this policy and implementing the policy in a
reasonable manner. In addition registrars and website hosting providers must expeditiously remove or disable access to content upon receiving a proper notice
loom a copyright owner alleging infringement of its protected works. A registrar or website hosting provider failing to comply with these safe harbor requirements
may be found liable for copyright infringement.

.4nliCybersqualnng Consumer Pr detection Act. The ACPA was enacted to address piracy on the Internet by curtailing a practice known as

"eybersquatting" or the badiaith registration of a domain name identical or similar to another party's trademark or to the name of another living person in order
to profit from that name or mark. The ACPA provides that registrars
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may not be held liable for damages br registration or maintenance of a domain name for another person absent a showing of the registrars bad faith intent to
profit. Registrars may, however be held liable if their activities are deemed outside the scope of basic registrar functions.

Lanham Ac! The Lanham Act governs trademarks and false advertising. Case law interpreting the Lanham Act has limited liability for many online
service providers such as search engines and domain name registrars. Nevertheless there is no statutory safe harbor for trademark violations comparable to the
provisions of the DMCA and we may be subject to a variety of trademark claims in the future.

Privacy and Dale Prolecllon . In the areas of personal privacy and data protection the U.S. federal and various state and foreign governments have
adopted or proposed limitations on and requirements associated with the collection distribution use storage and security of personal information of individuals.
lour practices with respect to the collection distribution storage or security of personal information arc challenged we may not be able to demonstrate adequate
compliance with existing or future laws or regulations. In addition in the European Union member states and certain other countries outside the U.S., data
protection is more highly regulated and rigidly enforced. As we conduct and expand our business within these countries we expect compliance with these

regulatory schemes to be more burdensome and costly tor us.

Laws and regulations relating to our activities are unsettled in many jurisdictions or may prove difficult or impossible to comply with in some
jurisdictions. Additionally federal state local and foreign governments are also considering legislative and regulatory proposals that would regulate the Internet
and our activities in more and different ways than exist today. It also is impossible to predict whether new taxes will he imposed on our services and depending
upon the type olsuch taxes whether and how we would be affected. Laws and regulations in the U.S. or in foreign jurisdictions may be applied in new or different
manners in pending or future litigation. Further, other existing bodies outlaw including the criminal laws olvarious jurisdictions may be deemed to apply to our
activities or new statutes or regulations may be adopted in the future.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our intellectual property and proprietary rights are important to our business. We rely on a combination of trademark patent copyright and trade secret
laws confidentiality and access-related procedures and safeguards and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technologies confidential information
brands and other intellectual property.

We have also developed acquired or licensed proprietary technologies for use in our business. As of December 3 l 2016 we had 193 issued patents in
the U.S. covering various aspects four product offerings. Additionally as off)ecember 3 l. 2016 we had 186 pending U.S. patent applications and intend to file
additional patent applications in the future.

We have nondisclosure confidentiality arid license agreements with employees contractors customers and other third parties which limit access to and
use four proprietary information. Though we rely in pan upon these legal and contractual protections as well as various procedural safeguards we believe the
skill and ingenuity of our employees the tiinctionality and frequent enhancements to our solutions and our ability to intrcducc new products and features meeting
the needs of our customers are more important to maintaining our competitive position in the marketplace.

We have an ongoing trademark and service mark registration program pursuant to which we register our brand names and product names taglines and
logos in the U.S. and other countries to the extent we detennine appropriate and cost-effective. We also have common law rights in some unregistered trademarks
that were established over years of use. In addition we have a trademark and service mark enforcement program pursuant to which we monitor applications filed
by third parties to register trademarks and service marks that may be confusingly similar to ours as well as the use of our major brand names in social media
domain names and other Internet sites.

i
I
l
l

i Despite our efforts to preserve and protect our intellectual property unauthorized third parties may attempt to copy. reverse engineer or otherwise obtain
access to our proprietary rights. and competitors may attempt to develop solutions that could compete with us in the markets we serve. Unauthorized disclosure of
our confidential information or proprietary technologies by our employees or third parties could also occur Thc risk of unauthorized use four proprietary and
intellectual property rights may increase as we continue to expand outside of the U.S.

Thirdparty infringement claims are also possible iii our industry especially as functionality and features expand evolve and overlap across industries.
Third parties including non~practicing patent holders have from time to time claimed and could claim in the future that our processes technologies or websites
infringe patents they now hold or might obtain or be issued in the future.
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Employees

Substantially all four employees are based in the U.S. None four employees is represented by a labor union or is party to any collective bargaining

As of December 3 I 2016 we had 4.749 employees worldwide including 3.019 in our Customer Care team 922 in technology and development 164 in
marketing and advertising and 644 in general and administrative. Excluded from our employee figures are more than 1100 Customer Care specialists located in
China The Philippines Mexico India and the Unitcd Kingdom who are directly employed by thirdpartv partners but who are dedicated to GoDaddy on a full
time basis.
agreement in connection with his or her employment with us.
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hem IA. Risk Factors

Our operations andfnancial results are subject lo various risks and uncertainties including those described below. The risks and uncertainties described
beloware not the only ones reface. Additional risks and I111691[gin]1€5 we are unaware of or we currently believe are not material may also become important
/actors awcting us. l/any ofthefollowingrisks occur our business fnaneial condition operating results and prospects could be materially and adversely
agected in that event the price four Class A common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

I f we are unable to attract andretain customersarid increase sales to new aridexisting eusmmers,our business and operating results wouldbe harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain customers and increase sales to new and existing customers. We derive a substantial portion of our
revenue from domains and our hosting and presence products. The rate at which new and existing customers purchase and renew subscriptions to our products
depends on a number of factors including those outside four control. Although our total customers and revenue have grown rapidly in the past in recent periods
our slower growth rates have reflected the size and scale olour business. We cannot be assured that we will achieve similar growth rates in future periods. In future
periods our total customers and revenue could decline or grow more slowly than we expect Our sales could fluctuate or decline as a result of lower demand for
domain names websites and related products declines in our customers' level of satisfaction with our products and our Customer Care the timeliness and success
of product enhancements and introductions by us and those olour competitors the pricing offered by us and our competitors the frequency and severity of any
system outages. breaches and technological change. Our revenue has grown historically due in large part to sustained customer grovnh rates and strong renewal
sales of subscriptions to our domain name registration and hosting and presence products. Our future success depends in part on maintaining strong renewal sales
Our costs associated with renewal sales are substantially lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers and costs associated with
generating sales of additional products to existing customers. Therefore a reduction in renewals even i f oflSet by an increase in other revenue would reduce our
operating margins in the near term. Any failure by us to continue to attract new customers or maintain strong renewal sales could have a material adverse effect on
our business. growth prospects and operating results. lfwc are unable to increase sales of additional products such as personalized email accounts and other
business applications products to new and existing customers our growth prospects may be harmed.

I f wedo not successfully develop and market products lim! anticipate or respondprompffv to the needs four customers,our business and operating results
may S/([f€l.

Themarkets in which we compete are characterized by constant change and innovation and weexpect them to continue to evolve rapidly. Our historical
success has been basedon our ability to identify and anticipate customer needs and design products providing small businesses and ventures with the tools they
need to create. manage and augment their digital identity. To the extent we are not able to continue to identify challenges faced by small businesses and ventures
and provide products responding in a timely and elTeetive manner to their evolving needs our business operating results and financial condition will be adversely
affected.

The process of developing new technology is complex and uncertain. If we fail to accurately predict customers' changing needs or emerging technological
trends. or if we fail to achieve the benefits expected from our investments in technology (including investments in our internal development efforts such as our
"do-ityourself" website builder GoCentral and security products acquisitions such as the acquisition of FreedomVoice and the addition of telephony services
such as Smartline; or partner programs) our business could be harmed. We must continue no commit significant resources to develop our technology in order to
maintain our competitive position. and these commitments will be made without knowing whether such investments will result in products our customers will
accept. Our new products or product enhancements could fail to attain meaningfUl customer acceptance for many reasons including:

delays in releasing new products or product enhancements or those otcompanies we may acquire to the market;

our failure to accurately predict market demand or customer preferences;

defects errors or failures in product design or perlbrmance

negative publicity about product performance or effectiveness;

introduction of competing products (or the anticipation thereof) by other market participants;
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poor business conditions for our customers or poor general macroeconomic conditions;

the perceived value four products or product enhancements relative to their cost; and

changing regulatory requirements adversely affecting the products we offer.

There is no assurance we w ill successftilly identify new opponunitics develop and bring new products Io market on a timely basis or products and
technologies developedby others will not render our products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive any of which could adversely affect our business and
operating results I four new products or enhancements do not achieve adequate acceptance by our customers or four new products do not result in increased sales
or subscriptions our competitive position will be impaired our anticipated revenue growth may not be achieved and the negative impact on our operating results
may be particularly acute because of the upfront technology and development. marketing and advertising and other expenses we may incur in connection with the

new product or enhancement

Our brand is integral lo our success. If we fail ro protect or promote our brand, our business and competitive position may be harmed.

Protecting and maintaining awareness four brand is important to our success particularly as we seek to attract new customers globally. We have
invested and expect to continue to invest substantial resources to increase our brand awareness both generally and in specific geographies and to specific
customer groups such as Web Pros. There can be no assurance that our brand development strategies will enhance the recognition four brand or lead to increased
sales. Furthermore our international branding cffons may prove unsuccessful due to language barriers and cultural differences. lour efforts to protect and
promote our brand are not successful our operating results may be adversely affected In addition even four brand recognition and loyalty increases our revenue
may not increase at a level commensurate with our marketing spend.

A network attack a securiti breach or other dam securing incident could delay or interrupt service to our customers, harm our reputation or subject us to
significant liability.

Our operations depend on our ability to protect our network and systems against interruption or damage lrom unauthorized entry computer viruses denial
otservice attacks and other security threats beyond our control. We regularly experience distributed denial of service (DDOS) attacks by hackers aimed at
disrupting service to our customers and attempts to place illegal or abusive content on our or our customers websites and we may be subject to [)DOS attacks or
content abuse in the future. Our response ro such DDOS attacks may be insufficient to protect our network and systems especially as such attacks increase in size
(such as the DYN attack in October 2016). In addition there has beenan increase in the number of malicious software attacks in the technology industry including
Malware and f2lllsoll1\v2llc. In addition from time to time activities four customers or other parties may cause its to suspend or terminate customer 8ccol1lHs We
have suspended and terminated. and will in the future suspend or terminate a customers use four products when their activities on their site breach our temps of
service (lOt example. whishing or resource misuse) interfere with or harm other customers websites sharing the same resources or otherwise violate applicable law.
We may also suspend or terminate a customers website it it is repeatedly targeted by DDOS or other attacks disrupting other customers websites or servers or
otherwise impacts our infrastructure. We cannot guarantee our backup systems regular data backups security protocols network protection mechanisms and other
procedures currently in place, or that may be in place in the future will be adequate to prevent or remedy network and service interruption system failure damage
to one or more four systems data loss security breaches or other data security incidents. Also our products are cloud-based and the amount of data we stoic for
our customers on our servers has been increasing as our business has grown. Despite the implementation of security measures our infrastructure may be vulnerable
to computer viruses worms other malicious software programs illegal or abusive content or similar disruptive problems caused by our customers employees
consultants or other Internet users who attempt to invade or disrupt public and private data networks or to improperly access use or obtain data. Any actual or
perceived breach of our security or any other data security incident could damage our reputation and brand expose us to a risk olloss or litigation and possible
liability subject us to regulatory or other government inquiries or investigations, require us to expend significant capital and other resources to alleviate problems
caused by the breach and deter customers from using our products any of which would harm our business financial condition and operating results.

Urhe security of the confidential information or personally identifiable information we maintain, including that four customers and the visitors to our
customers' website stored in our systems is breached or otherwise subjected m unauthorized recess, our reputation may he harmed arid we may be exposed m
liability.

Our business involves the storage and transmission of confidential infonnation including personally identifiable in fonnation. In addition as nearly all of
our products are cloud-based the amount of data we store for our customers on our servers (including personally identifiable information and other potentially
sensitive infonnation) has been increasing. Wc take
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measures intended to protect the security integrity and confidentiality of the personal information and other sensitive information including payment card
information we collect store or transmit. but cannot guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure will not occur or that third parties will not gain
unauthorized access to this information despite our efforts. If third parties succeed in penetrating our security measures or those four vendors and partners or in
otherwise accessing or obtaining without authorization the payment card information or other sensitive or confidential in fomation we or our vendors and partners
maintain we could be subject to liability loss of business litigation. government investigations or other losses. Hackers or individuals who attempt to breach our
security measures or those four vendors and partners could if successful cause the unauthorized disclosure misuse or loss o f personally identifiable infoniiation
or other confidential information including payment card information suspend our web-hosting operations or cause malfunctions or interruptions in our networks.

If we or our partners experience any breaches four security measures or sabotage or otherwise suffer unauthorized use or disclosure of or access to
personally identifiable information or other confidential information including payment card information we might be required to expend significant capital and
resources to protect against or address these problems. We may not be able to remedy any problems caused by hackers or other similar actors in a timely manner,
or at all. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally arc not recognized until after they are
launched against a target vie and our vendors and partners may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures.
Advances in computer capabilities discoveries ofncw weaknesses and other developments with software generally used by the Internet community such as the
lleartblced vulnerability which is a vulnerability in Open Secure Sockets Layer (Open SSL) library or the Shellshock vulnerability in the Linux Bash shell also
increase the risk we or our customers using our servers will suffer a security breach. Our partners and we may also suffer security breaches or unauthorized access
to personally identifiable information and other confidential information including payment card information due to employee error rogue employee activity
unauthorized access by third parties acting with malicious intent or who commit an inadvertent mistake or social engineering. If a breach o four security or other
data security incident occurs or is perceived to have occurred the perception of the effectiveness otour security measures and our reputation could be harmed and
we could lose current and potential customers.

Security breaches or other unauthorized access to personally identifiable information and other confidential information including payment card
information. could result in claims against us tor unauthorized purchases with payment card information identity theft or other similar fraud claims as well as for
other inisuscs of personally identifiable infomialion including for unauthorized marketing purposes which could result in a material adverse effect on our business
or financial condition Moreover these claims could cause us to incur penalties from payment card associations (including those resulting from our failure to
adhere to industry data security standards) termination by payment card associations four ability to accept credit or debit card payments litigation and adverse
publicity and regulatory or other government inquiries or investigations any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition
We expect to continue to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches and other data security incidents. The risk that these types of events
could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we expand the number ofcloud-based products we offer and operate in more countries.

Weare exposed to lire risk ofsysrem failures and capacity constraints.

We have experienced and may in the future experience system failures and outages disrupting the operation four websites or our products such as web-
hosting and email or the availability four Customer Care operations. For example certain olour customers experienced a service outage in September 2012
which led to our granting of$10.4 million ofservicc disruption credits to certain customers. Our revenue depends in large part on the volume of traffic to our
websites the number of customers whose websites we host on our sewers and the availability ollour Customer Care operations. Accordingly the performance
reliability and availability four websites and sewers for our corporate operations and infrastructure as well as in the delivery of products to customers are critical
to our reputation and our ability to attract and retain customers.

We are continually working to expand and enhance our website features technology and network infrastructure and other technologies to accommodate
substantial increases in the volume of traffic on our godaddy.com and affiliated wcbsitcs the number olcustomer websites we host and our overall total customers.
We may be unsuccessful in these efforts or we may be unable to proieet accurately the rate or timing of these increases. In the future we may be required to
allocate resources including spending substantial amounts to build purchase or lease data centers and equipment and upgrade our technology and network
infrastructure in order to handle increased customer traffic as well as increased traffic to customer websites we host. We cannot predict whether we will be able to
add network capacity from thirdparty suppliers or otherwise as we require it. In addition our network or our suppliers networks might be unable to achieve or
maintain data transmission capacity high enough to process orders or download data effectively in a timely manner. Our failure or our suppliers failure to achieve
or maintain high data transmission capacity could significantly reduce consumer demand for our products. Such reduced demand and resulting loss of traffic cost
increases or failure to accommodate new technologies could harm our business revenue and financial condition
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Our systems including those of our data centers and Customer Care operations arc also vulnerable to damage from tire power loss telecommunications
failures computer viruses physical and electronic breakins and similar events. The property and business interruption insurance coverage we carry may not be

adequate to compensate us fully for losses that may occur.

Evolving technologies the value of anddemand fordomain names.andresulting changes in customer behavior or customer practices marv impact

Historically Internet users would typically navigate to a website by directly typing its domain name into a web browser or navigation bar. The domain
name serves as a branded unique identifier not unlike a phone number or email address. People now use multiple methods in addition to direct navigation to access
websites. For example people increasingly use search engines to Lind and access websites as an alternative to typing a website address directly into a web browser
navigation bar People are also using social networking and microblogging sites more frequently to find and access websites. Further as people continue to access
the internet more frequently through applications on mobile devices domain names may become less prominent and their value may decline. These evolving

technologies and changes in customer behavior may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects

We rely on our marketing efforts and channels topromote our brand andacquire new customers. These efforts may require significant expense andmay not
be successful or cost-effective.

We use a variety of marketing channels to promote our brand including online keyword search sponsorships and celebrity endorsements television
radio and prim advertising email and social media marketing lfwe lose access to one or more of these channels such as online keyword search because the costs
of advertising become prohibitively expensive or for other reasons we may become unable to promote our brand effectively which could limit our ability to grow
our business. Further if our marketing activities fail to generate traffic to our website attract customers and lead to new and renewal sales four subscriptions at
the levels we anticipate our business and operating results would be adversely affected. There can be no assurance our marketing efforts will succeed or be cost-
efficient and if our customer acquisition costs increase our business operating results and financial performance could be adversely affected.

Our ubilitv to increase sales of our products is highly dependent on the quality four Customer Care. Our failure to provide highqualitv Customer Care would
have an adverse effect on our business, brand and operating results.

Our Customer Care team has historically contributed significantly to our total bookings In each of 20l6 2015 and 2014 all least 23% four total
bookings were generated from the sale of product subscriptions by our Customer Care team.

Thc majority of our current offerings are designed for customers who often self-identify as having limited to no technology skills. Our customers depend
on our Customer Care to assist them as they create manage and grow their digital identities. After launching their sites and leveraging our product offerings
customers depend on our Customer Care team to quickly resolve any issues relating to those offerings. Further as we continue to broaden our portfolio of
solutions increase the size four customer base and increase the size four solution deployments within our customers' IT infrastructure we must continue to
adapt our customer support organization to ensure our customers continue to receive the high level of customer service which they have come to expect.
Notwithstanding our commitment to Customer Care our customers will occasionally encounter interruptions in service and other technical challenges and it is
therefore critical we are there to provide ongoing highquality support to help our customers and ensure high renewal rates and cross-selling four products.
Additionally we focus on Web Pros and continue to expand into nonU.S. markets. We must continue to refine our efforts in Customer Care so we can adequately
serve these customer groups as we expand.

lfwe do not provide effective ongoing Customer Care our ability to sell our products to new and existing customers could be harmed our subscription
renewal rates may decline and our reputation may suffer any of which could adversely affect our business reputation and operating results.

Weface significant competition for our products in the domain name registration and web-hosting markets and other markets in which we compete which we
expect will continueto intensffv and we may not be able to maintain or improve our competitive position or market share.

We provide cloudbased solutions enabling individuals businesses and organizations to establish an online presence connect with customers and manage
their ventures. The market for these solutions is highly fragmented and competitive These solutions are also rapidly evolving creating opportunity for new
competitors to enter the market with point-solution products or address specific segments of the market. In some instances, we have commercial partnerships with
companies with which we also
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compete. Given nor broad product portfolio we compete with niche pointsolution products and broader solution providers. Our competitors include providers of
domain registration services web-hosting solutions website creation and management solutions, e-commerce enablement providers cloud computing service and
online security providers alterative web presence and marketing solutions providers and providers of productivity tools such as business-class email.

We expect competition to increase in the future from competitors in the domain and hosting and presence markets such as Endurance United lntcmet.
Webcom and Rightside as well as competition from companies such as Amazon Google and Microsoft all of which are providers of web-hosting and other
cloud-based services and have recently entered the domain name registration business as upstream registries and eBay and Facebook both of which offer robust
Intcmet marketing plattOnns. In addition we face competition in the website building market from competitors outside of the domain and hosting markets such as
Wix and Weebly. Some four current and potential competitors have greater resources more brand recognition and consumer awareness more diversified product
offerings greater international scope and larger customer bases than we do and we may therefore not be able to effectively compete with them. ltthese
competitors and potential competitors decide to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of products in the markets in which we compete
or if the products offered by these companies arc more attractive to or better meet the evolving needs four customers our market share growth prospects and
operating results may be adversely affected.

in addition in an attempt to gain market share competitors may otTer aggressive price discounts or alterative pricing models on the products they oflCr.
such as socalled "frccmium pricing in which a basic offering is provided for free with advanced features provided for a tee or increase commissions paid to their
referral sources. As a result increased competition could result in lower sales price reductions reduced margins and the loss of market share.
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Furthermore conditions in our market could change rapidly and significantly as a result of technological advancements. partnering by our competitors or
continuing market consolidation. innovative new start-up companies and large competitors making significant investments in technology and development may
invent similar or superior products and technologies competing with our products and technology. Our current and potential competitors may also establish
cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their ability to compete. The continued entry of competitors into the
domain name registration and web-hosting markets and the rapid growth of some competitors that have already entered each market may make it difficult for us
to maintain our market position. Our ability to compete will depend upon our ability to provide a better product than our competitors at a competitive price and
supported by superior Customer Care. To remain competitive we may be required to make substantial additional investments in research development marketing
and sales in order to respond to competition and there can be no assurance that these investments will achieve any returns for us or that we will be able to compete
successfully in the future.

The future growl/r four business depends in significant part on increasing our international bookings. Our recent and continuing international expansion
efforts subject us to additional risks.

Bookings outside of the U.S. represented approximately 28% 26% and 25% four totals for 2016 2015 and 2014 respectively. In 20I 2 we began the
process of localizing our products in numerous markets languages and currencies. expanding our systems to accept payments in forms common outside of the
U.S. focusing our marketing efforts in numerous non-U.S geographies tailoring our Customer Care offerings to serve these markets, expanding our infrastructure
in various nonU.S. locations and establishing Customer Care operations in overseas locations. We intend to continue our international expansion eflbrts including
through our acquisition olHEG. As a result we must continue to hire and train experienced personnel to staff and manage our international expansion. Our
international expansion efforts may be slow or unsuccessful to the extent we experience difficulties in recruiting training managing and retaining qualified
personnel with international experience language skills and cultural competencies in the geographic markets we target Furthermore as we continue to expand
internationally it may prove difficult to maintain our corporate culture which we believe has been critical to our success. In addition we have limited experience
operating in fOreign jurisdictions. Conducting and expanding international operations subjects us to new risks we have not generally faced in the U.S. including
the following:

management communication and integration problems resulting from language barriers cultural differences and geographic dispersion of our
customers and personnel;

language translation of and associated Customer Care support for. our products

compliance with lbreign laws including lass regarding online disclaimers advertising liability of online service providers for activities of customers
especially with respect to hosted content and more stringent laws in foreign jurisdictions relating to consumer privacy and protection oldata collected
from individuals and other third parties
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accreditation and other regulatory requirements to do business and to provide domain name registration webhosting and other products in foreign
jurisdictions;

greater difficulty in enforcing contracts including our universal terms of service and other agreements;

increased expenses incurred in establishing and maintaining oflicc space and equipment for our international operations;

greater costs and expenses associated with international marketing and operations

greater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory practices tariffs and tax laws and treaties

different or lesser degrees of protection for our or our customers' intellectual property and free speech rights in certain markets;

increased exposure to foreign currency risks;

increased risk of a failure of employees to comply with both U.S. and foreign laws. including export and antitrust regulations antibribery regulations
and any trade regulations ensuring fair trade practices

heightened risk ofunfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and

the potential tor political social or economic unrest terrorism hostilities or war and multiple and possibly overlapping tax regimes.

In addition the expansion four existing international operations and entry into additional international markets has required and will continue to require
significant management attention and financial resources. in particular we have invested and intend to continue to invest in product marketing infrastructure and
personnel to support our international expansion cflOrts. These increased marketing costs may increase our cost of acquiring international customers, which may
delay our ability to achieve profitability or reduce our profitability in the future. We may also face pressure to lower our prices in order to compete in emerging
markets which could adversely affect revenue derived from our international operations. These and other factors associated with our international operations could
impair our growth prospects and adversely affect our business. operating results and financial condition.

Mobile devices are increasingly being used lo access the Internet and our cloud-based and mobile support products may nor operate or be as effective when
accessed through thesedevices which could harm our business.

Wc offer our products across a variety of operating systems and through the Internet. Historically we designed our webbased products for use on a
desktop or laptop computer; however mobile devices such as smartphones and tablets are increasingly being used as the primary means for accessing the Internet
and conducting ecommerce. We are dependent on the interoperability four products with third-party mobile devices arid mobile operating systems, as well as
web browsers we do not control. Any changes in such devices. systems or web browsers degrading the functionality four products or giving preferential
treatment to competitive products could adversely affect usage four products. in the event our customers have difficulty accessing and using our products on
mobile devices our customer growth business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Wehave made significant investments in recent periods to support our growth strafegv. These investments may not succeed.I f we donot effectively manage
future growth, our operating results will be adversely affected

We continue to increase the breadth arid scope four product offerings and operations. To support future grovnh we must continue to improve our
information technology and financial infrastructure operating and administrative systems and ability to effeetivelv manage headcount capital and processes. We
must also continue lo increase the productivity four existing employees and hire train and manage new employees while maintaining our unique corporate
culture. lfwe tail to manage our growth or change in a manner failing to preserve the key aspects four corporate culture the quality olour platform products and
Customer Care may suffer which could negatively affect our brand and reputation and hand our ability to retain and attract customers and employees.

We have incurred and will continue to incur expenses relating to our investments in international operations and infrastructure such as the expansion of
our offerings and marketing presence in India Europe Latin America and Asia; our targeted marketing spending to attract new customer groups such as Web Pros
and customers in non-U.S. markets and investments in software systems and additional data center resources to keep pace with the growth olour cloud
infrastructure and cloudbased product offerings. We have made significant investments in product development corporate infrastructure and
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technology and development and intend to continue investing in the development four products and infrastructure and our marketing and Customer Care teams.

We are likely to recognize the costs associated with these investments earlier than some of the anticipated benefits and the return on these investments
may be lower or may develop more slowly than we expect. lfwe do not achieve the benefits anticipated from these investments or if the achievement of these
benefits is delayed our operating results may be adversely affected.

We have experienced rapid growth over the last several years, which has the potential to strain on our management administrative operational and
financial infrastructure. The scalability and flexibility otour infrastructure depends on the functionality arid bandwidth of our data centers peering sites and
servers. The significant growth in our total customers and the increase in the number of transactions we process have increased the amount four stored customer
data. Any loss of data or disruption in our ability to provide our product offerings due to disruptions in our infrastructure or services could result in harm to our
brand or reputation. Moreover as our customer base continues to grow and uses our platform for more complicated tasks we will need to devote additional
resources to improve our infrastructure and continue to enhance its scalability and security. If we do not manage the growth four business and operations
effectively the quality four platform and efficiency otour operations could suffer which could harm our operating and business results.

in January 2016 we selected a new enterprise resource planning system. During the fourth quarter of 2016 we completed the human capital management
portion four system implementation. We expect to begin the system implementation of the financial portion in 2017, continuing into early 2018. As we plan for
and implement a new system we may experience difficulties in managing our existing systems and processes which could disrupt our operations and the
management four finances Our failure to improve our systems and processes or their failure to operate in the intended manner may result in our inability to
manage the growth four business and to accurately forecast and report our results

We may acquire other businesses or talent, which could require signuieulit management attention, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder valueandadversely
affect our operating results.

As pan of our business strategy we have iii the past made and may in the future make acquisitions or investments in companies talent products and
technologies we believe will complement our business and address the needs four customers with respect to our recent acquisitions such as FreedomVoice and
ManageWP and our proposed acquisition ofHEG we cannot ensure we will be able to successfully integrate the acquired products talent and technology or
benefit from increased subscriptions and revenue For example we may be unsuccessful in capturing the Web Pro market or in helping our customers attract new
customers to their businesses from sites like Google Yahoos Facebook and Yelp. In the future we may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates and we
may not be able to complete such acquisitions on favorable terns if at all. If we do complete acquisitions we may be unsuccessful in achieving the anticipated
benefits otthe acquisition and may Tail to integrate the acquired business and operations effectively. In addition any future acquisitions we complete could be
viewed negatively by our customers investors and industry analysts.

We may have to pay cash incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for future acquisitions each ofwhieh could adversely affect our financial condition
or the value four Class A common stock. Equity issuances in connection with potential future acquisitions may also result in dilution to our stockholders In
addition our future operating results may be impacted by performance camouts or contingent bonuses. Furthemiore acquisitions may involve contingent
liabilities adverse tax consequences additional equitybased compensation expense adjustments for fair value of deferred revenue the recording and subsequent
amortization of amounts related to certain purchased intangible assets and if unsuccessful impairment charges resulting from the write-offofgoodwill or other
intangible assets associated with the acquisition any ofwhich could negatively impact our future results ofopcrations.

In addition if we are unsuccesstul at integrating the operations or technologies associated with such acquisitions into our company the revenue and
operating results olie combined company could be adversely affected. We may fail to identity all of the problems liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges
of an acquired company including issues related to intellectual property solution quality or architecture regulatory compliance practices and customer or sales
channel issues Any integration process may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and require significant time and resources and we may not be able to
manage the process successfully. In particular we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the companies solutions technologies accounting
systems personnel or operations we acquire particularly if the key personnel are geographically dispersed or choose not to work for us. We may also experience
difficulty in effectively integrating or preserving the different cultures and practices of the companies we acquire. Acquisitions may also disrupt our core business
divert our resources and require significant management attention that would otherwise be available for development four business. We may not
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successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology intellectual property or personnel or accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction
including accounting charges. lfwe fail to properly evaluate execute or integrate acquisitions or investments the anticipated benefits may not be realized. ac may
be exposedto unknown or unanticipated liabilities and our business and prospects could be harmed.

Utne rate of growth of small businesses and ventures is sign f/icantly lower than our estimates nr Vdemandfor ourproducts does not meerexpectations our
ability to generate revenue and meet ourjinancial targets could be adversely affected.

Although we expect continued demand from small businesses and ventures for our products it is possible the rate of growth may not meet our
expectations or the market may not grow either of which would adversely affect our business. Our expectations for future revenue growth are based in part on
assumptions reflecting our industry knowledge and experience serving small businesses and ventures as well as our assumptions regarding demographic shifts
growth in the availability and capacity of Internet infrastructure internationally and the general economic climate. If any of these assumptions proves to be
inaccurate our revenue growth could be significantly lower than expected.

Our ability to compete successfully depends on our ability to offer an integrated and comprehensive suite of products enabling our diverse base of
customers to start grow and run their businesses. The success four domains hosting presence and business applications offerings is predicated on the
assumption that an online presence is and will continue to be an important factor in our customers abilities to establish expand and manage their businesses
quickly easily and affOrdable. lfwe are incorrect in this assumption for example due to the introduction of a new technology or industry standard superseding the
importance of an online presence or renders our existing or future products obsolete, then our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers could
be adversely affected which could harm our ability to generate revenue and inlet our financial targets.

We rely onsearch engines to attract a meaningful portion of our customers. Research engines change their search algorithms or policies regarding
advertising, increase their pricing or suffer problems, our ability to attract new customers may be impaired.

Many four customers locate our website and products through Internet search engines such as Google Yahoo! and Bing. The prominence four website
in response to search inquiries is a critical factor in attracting potential customers to our websites. If we are listed less prominently or tail to appear in search results
br any reason visits to our website by customers and potential customers could decline significantly and Ive may not be able to replace this traffic. Search
engines revise their algorithms from time to time in an attempt to optimize their search results. lfscarch engines on ivhich we rely for algorithmic listings modify
their algorithms our websites may appear less prominently or not at all in search results which could result in reduced traffic to our websites. Additionally if the
costs of search engine marketing services such as Google AdWords increase we may incur additional marketing expenses or be required to allocate a larger
portion four marketing spend to this channel and our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Furthermore competitors may in the future bid on our brand names and other search terns we use to drive traffic to our websites. Such actions could
increase our advertising costs and result in decreased balTic to our websites. in addition search engines or social networking sites may change their advertising
policies from time to time If any change to these policies delays or prevents us from advertising through these channels it could result in reduced traffic to our
website and sales four subscriptions.

If we are unable ro increase sales four prorlucrs ro Web Pros our business, growth prospects and operating results will be adversely affected.

l Historically our business has been focused on sewing individuals who are thinking about starting a business to small businesses and ventures that are up
and running but need help growing and expanding their digital capabilities. As a result our products were less suited to the needs of more technically skilled
individtials or web developers arid other Web Pros. Furthermore we did not target Web Pros with our marketing activities or provide Customer Care resources
tailored to this customer group. We continue to focus on Web Pros to increase our total customers and grow our FCVCUUC. Our recent acquisitions have further
expanded our Web Pro offerings by providing additional features such as Managed Wordless, bolstered our Web Profocused Customer Care team and extended
our reach into the Web Pro community. We are also working to tailor our marketing efforts to and build dedicated Customer Care resources for Web Pros. lfwe
are unable to develop products and provide Customer Care addressing the needs of Web Pros successfully target them with our marketing efforts or successfully
leverage the Media Temple brand to capture a greater portion of the Web Pros market, our business growth prospects and operating results could be adversely
affected.
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We maintain a network of different types ofpanners some ofwhich create integrations with our products. For example we partnered with Microsoft
Corporation to offer Office 365 email and other productivity tools to our customers and SiteLock LLC (SiteLock) to offer website security products to our
customers and we have worked to make certain four products interoperable with services such as Yelp. We have invested and will continue to invest in partner
programs to provide new product offerings to our customers and help us attract additional customers. However our relationships with our partners may not be as
successful in generating new customers as we anticipate which could adversely affect our ability to increase our total customers. Further, these programs could
require substantial investment while providing no assurance of return or incremental revenue We also rely on some four partners to create integrations with
third-party applications and platforms used by our customers. such as Office 365 and SiteLock lour partners fail to create such integrations or if they change the
features of their applications or alter the terns governing use of their applications in an adverse manner demand for our products could decrease which would
harm our business and operating results. lfvve are unable to maintain our contractual relationships with existing partners or establish new contractual relationships
with potential partners we may not be able to offer the products and related functionality our customers expect and we may experience delays and increased costs
in adding customers and may lose customers which could have a material adverse effect on us. Any ineffectiveness four partner programs could adversely affect
our business and results of operations.

Our quarterly and annual operating results may be adversely affected due to a variety of factors, which could make ourjiuure results off/icult to predict ant/
could cause our operating results tofall below investor or analyst expectations.

Our quarterly and annual operating results and key metrics have varied from period to period in the past and we expect they may continue to fluctuate as
a result of a number of factors many of which are outside four control including:

I
i

our ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers

the timing arid success of introductions of new products;

changes in the growth rate of small businesses and ventures

changes in renewal rates for our subscriptions and our ability to sell additional products to existing customers;

refunds to our customers could be higher than expected;

the timing of revenue recognition relative to the recording of the related expense;

any negative publicity or other actions which harm our brand

the timing of our marketing expenditures

the mix of products sold;

our ability to maintain a high level of personalized Customer Care and resulting customer satisfaction;

competition in the market for our products;

our ability to expand internationally;

changes in foreign currency exchange rates,

rapid technological change frequent new product introductions and evolving industry standards;

systems data center and Internet failures breaches and service interruptions

changes in U.S. or tOrcign regulations that could impact one or more four product offerings or changes to regulatory bodies such as ICANN as well
as increased regulation by governments or multigovernmental organizations such as the International Telecommunications Union a specialized
agency of the United Nations or the European Union. that could affect our business and our industry;

a delay in the authorization of new TLDs by ICANN or our ability to successfully onboard new TLDs which would impact the breadth four customer
offerings;

shortcomings in or misinterpretations of our metrics and data which cause us to fail to anticipate or identify market trends;

tcmtinations oR disputes with or material changes to our relationships with thirdparty partners including referral sources. product partners and
payment processors;

reductions in the selling prices for our products
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timing of the completion four acquisition off lEG;

costs and integration issues associated with our acquisition of HEG and any other acquisitions we may make;

changes in legislation afleeting our collection olindirect taxes both in the U1S. arid in foreign jurisdictions;

recording higher than expected domain portlblio assets resulting from an increased rate of failed sales on our aftermarket platform for transactions in
which we act as the primary obligor;

timing ofexpenscs and tax distributions

threatened or actual litigation; and

loss of key employees.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some olie factors referred to above may result in significant fluctuations in our quarterly or

annual operating results including fluctuations in our key financial and operating metrics our ability to forecast those results and our ability to achieve those
forecasts. This variability and unpredictability could result in our failing to meet our revenue, bookings or operating results expectations or those of securities
analysts or investors for any period. In addition. a significant percentage four operating expenses are lived in nature and based on forecasted revenue and
bookings trends. Accordingly in the event of revenue or bookings shortfalls we are generally unable to mitigate the negative impact on operating results in the
short tern.

We may release guidance in our quarterly earnings conference calls quarterly earnings releases. or otherwise based on predictions of management which
are necessarily speculative in nature. Our guidance may vary materially from actual results for a variety of reasons including that our cash generation may be
uneven across quarters. four revenue bookings or operating results or the rate of growth four revenue bookings or operating results tall below the
expectations four investors or financial analysts or below any forecasts or guidance we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market
are below the expectations of analysts or investors the price four common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when
we have mc! our own or other publicly slated revenue bookings or earnings lbrecasts. Our failure Io meet our own or other publicly stated revenue bookings or
earnings forecasts or even when we meet our own forecasts but fall short of analyst or investor expectations could cause our stock price to decline and exposeus
to costly lawsuits including securities class action suits. Such litigation against us could impose substantial costs and divert management's attention and resources

We have a history of operating losses am/ may not be able ro achieve profitability in the future.

We had net losses of$22 million $l20 million and $l43 million in 2016 2015 arid 2014 respectively. While we have experienced revenue growth
over these same periods. we may not be able to sustain or increase our growth or achieve profitability in the future or on a consistent basis. We have incurred
substantial expenses and expended significant resources upfront to market promote and sell our products. We also expect to continue to invest tor future growth.
In addition we expect to continue to incur significant accounting legal and other expenses as a public company.

As a result of our increased expenditures we will have to generate and sustain increased revenue to achieve future profitability. Achieving profitability
will require us to increase revenues manage our cost structure and avoid signitieant liabilities. Revenue growth may slow or decline or we may incur significant
losses in the future for a number ofpossihle reasons including general macroeconomic conditions increased competition a decrease in the growth of the markets
in which we operate or if we fail tor any reason to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. Additionally we may encounter unforeseen operating expenses
difficulties, complications delays and other unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If these losses exceed our expectations or our revenue
growth expectations are not met in ligature periods. our financial perfonnance will be harmed arid our stock price could be volatile or decline.

We may need additional equity debt or other/inancing in the future. which we may not be able to obtain on acceptable terms or at all, and any additional
financing may result in restrictions on our operations or substantial dilution to our stockholders.

We may need to raise funds in the future, lOt example, to develop new technologies expand our business respond to competitive pressures arid make
acquisitions We may try to raise additional funds through public or private financings. strategic relationships or other arrangements. Although our credit
agreement limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions and may be amended with
the consent of our lenders. Accordingly under certain circumstances we may incur substantial additional debt.
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Our ability to obtain debt or equity funding will depend on a number of factors including market conditions, interest rates our operating performance our
credit rating and investor interest Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available we may be
required to reduce expenditures including curtailing our growth strategies, foregoing acquisitions or reducing our product development efforts lfwe succccd in
raising additional funds through the issuance of equity or equitylinked securities then existing stockholders could experience substantial dilution. lfwe raise
additional funds through the issuance of debt securities or preferred stock these new securities would have rights preferences and privileges senior to those of the
holders of our Class A common stock. In addition any such issuance could subject us to restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other
financial and operational matters which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities including potential
acquisitions Further to the extent we incur additional indebtedness or such other obligations the risks associated with our substantial leverage described elsewhere
in this I0-K including our possible inability to service our debt would increase

Changes in accounting principles, or interpretations thereof, may cause unexpectedjinancial reporting/Iucruations and adversely affect our operating results
amljinancial statements goingforwartl.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements and the related notes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (GAAP).
These principles are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) the SEC and various bodies footed to create and interpret
appropriate accounting principles. Accounting rules and regulations are continually changing in ways that could materially impact our financial statements and a
change in the current accounting principles could have a significant effect on our reported results or may retroactively affect previously reported transactions
Additionally the adoption of new or revised accounting principles may require us to make significant changes to our systems processes and controls. For example.
the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). as amended will supersede nearly all existing
revenue recognition guidance. While we continue to assess the potential impacts of the new standard we do not know or cannot reasonably estimate quantitative
infbnnation related to its impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures at this time We cannot predict the impact of future changes to
accounting principles or our accounting policies on our financial statements going forward which could have a significant effect on our reponcd financial results.
In addition if we were to change our critical accounting estimates as a result ofncw accounting standards in the future our financial position or results of
operations could be significantly affected.

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements tor information regarding recent accounting pronouncements.

Because we are generally required ro recognize revenuefor our products over the term of the applicable agreement, changes in our sales may not be
immediately reflected in our operating results.

As described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements we generally recognize revenue from our customers ratably over the respective terms of
their subscriptions in accordance with GAAP. Our subscription terns are typically one year but can range from monthly terms to multiannual terms of up to 10
years depending on the product. Accordingly increases in sales during a particular period do not translate into immediate proportional increases in revenue during
such period and a substantial portion of the revenue we recognize during a quarter is derived from deferred revenue from customer subscriptions we entered into
during previous quarters. As a result our margins may suffer despite substantial sales activity during a particular period since GAAP docs not permit us to
recognize all of the revenue from our sales immediately. Converscly a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not be reflected in our
revenue for that quarter and the existence of substantial deterred revenue may prevent deteriorating sales activity from becoming immediately observable in our
consolidated statement of opcrations. In addition we may not be able to adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected bookings shortfall,
and any significant shortfall in bookings relative to planned expenditures could negatively impact our business and results ofopcrations.

Our failure to properly register or maintain our customers' domain names could subject us to additional expenses, claims floss or negative publicity that
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

System and process failures related to our domain name registration product may result in inaccurate and incomplete infOnnation in our domain name
database. Despite testing system and process failures may remain undetected or unknown which could result in compromised customer data loss odor delay in
revenues failure to achieve market acceptance injury to our reputation or increased product costs any of which could harm our business. Furthermore the
requirements for securing and renewing domain names vary from registry to registry and are subject to change. We cannot guarantee we will be able to readily
adopt and comply with the various registry requirements. Our failure or inability to properly register or maintain our customers domain names even if we arc not
at fault might result in significant expenses and subject us to claims floss or to negative publicity which could harm our business brand and operating results.
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We rely heavily on the reliability, security and performance four internally developed systems and operations. Any difficulties in maintaining these systems
may result in damage to our brand, service interruptions, decreased customer service or increased expenditures.

i

The reliability and continuous availability of the software. hardware and workflow processes underlying our internal systems. networks and infrastructure
and the ability to deliver our products are critical to our business and any interruptions resulting in our inability to timely deliver our products or Customer Care
or materially impacting the efficiency or cost with which we provide our products and Customer Care. would hand our brand profitability and ability to conduct
business. In addition many of the software and other systems we currently use will need to be enhanced over time or replaced with equivalent commercial
products or services which may not be available on commercially reasonable tests or at all. Enhancing or replacing our systems networks or infrastructure could
entail considerable ellbrt and expense. Il we tail to develop andexecute reliable policies procedures and tools to operate our systems networks or infrastructure.
we could face a substantial decrease in workflow efficiency and increased costs as well as a decline in our revenue.

We rely on a limited number of data centers to deliver most of our products.If weare unable to renew our data center agreements on favorable terms or at all,
our operating margins and proftabilitv could beadversely affected andour business could be harmed

I
I

We own one four data centers and lease our remaining data center capacity from wholesale providers. We occupy our leased data center capacity
pursuant to colocation service agreements with third-pany data center facilities which have built and maintain the co-located data centers for us and other parties
We currently serve all our customers from our GoDaddy-owned Arizonabased data center as well as seven domestic and four international co-located data center
facilities located in Arizona California Virginia New York the Ncthcrlands and Singapore. Although we own the servers in these co-located data centers and
engineer and architect the systems upon which our platlbrms run we do not control the operation of these facilities and we depend on the operators of these
facilities to ensure their proper security and maintenance

Despite precautions taken at our data centers these facilities may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from break-ins computer viruses DDOS or
other cyder-attacks acts of terrorism vandalism or sabotage. power loss. telecommunications failures fires floods earthquakes hurricanes tornadoes and similar
events. The occurrence of any of these events or other unanticipated problems at these facilities could result in loss of data (including personal or payment card
information) lengthy interruptions in the availability four services and harm to our reputation and brand. While we have disaster recovery arrangements in place
they have been tcslcd in only very limited circumstances and not during any largescale or prolonged disasters or similar events.

The terms four existing colocated data center agreements vary in length and expire on various dates through 2026 Only some of our agreements with
our colocated data centers provide tis with options to renew under negotiated terms. We also have agreements with other critical infrastructure vendors who
provide all olour facilities, including our data centers with bandwidth. Tiber optics and electrical power. None olthese infrastructure vendors are under any
obligation to continue to provide these services after the expiration of their respective agreements with us nor arc they obligated to renew the terms of those
agreements.

Our existing colocated data center agreements may not provide us with adequate time to transfer operations to a new facility in the event of early
tennination If we were acquired to move our equipment to a new facility without adequate time to plan and prepare for such migration we would face significant
challenges due to the technical complexity. risk and high costs of the relocation. Any such migration could result in significant costs for us and may result in data
loss and significant downtime for a significant number four customers which could damage our reputation cause us to lose current and potential customers and
adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Undetected or unknown defects in our products could liar our business andfurure operating results.

For example a small number of reccntly issued SSL certificates tailed due to a software bug inadvertently introduced during a routine code change.
The products we offer or develop including our proprietary technology and technology provided by third parties could contain undetected detects or

errors. We
revoked the SSL certificates potentially affected by the bug as a precautionary matter, remedied the bug contacted affected customers. ad initiated a new
certificate request on their behalf at no additional cost. The performance four products could have unforeseen or unknown adverse effects on the networks over
which they are delivered as well as more broadly. on Internet users and consumers and third-party applications and services utilizing our solutions. These adverse
effects defects and errors and other performance problems relating to our products could result in legal claims against us that hand our business and damage our
reputation. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in
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compromised customer data loss odor delay in revenues an increase in our annual refund rate which has ranged from 66% to 72% of total bookings from 2014
to 2016 . loss of market share. failure lo achieve market acceptance diversion of development resources injury to our reputation or brand and increased costs. In
addition. while our terms of service specifically disclaim certain warranties and contain limitations on our liability. courts may still hold us liable for such claims if
asserted against us.

Privacy concerns relating ro our technology could damage our reputation and deter existing and new customers from usingour products.

From time to time concerns have been expressed about whether our products or processes compromise the privacy of custoiners and others. Concerns
about our practices with regard to the collection use disclosure or security ofpcrsonally identifiable information including payment card information or other
privacy related matters even if unfounded could damage our reputation and adversely affect our operating results in addition as nearly all four products are
cloudbased the amount of data we store for our customers on our servers (including personally identifiable inlbmtation) has been increasing. Any systems failure
or compromise olour security resulting in the release four users' or customers data could seriously limit the adoption four product offerings as well as harm
our reputation and brand and therefOre our business. We expect to continue to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches. The risk that these
types olevcnts could seriously ham our business is likely to increase as we expand the number of cloudbased products we offer and operate in more countries.

I
I
I

We are subject to privacy am/ darn protection laws anti regulations as well as contractual privacy nm/ /Inly protection obligations. Our failure ro comply with
these or any future laws, regulations or obligations could subject us Io sanctions and damages and could /term our reputation and business.

We are subject lo a variety oflaws and regulations including regulation by various federal government agencies including the Federal Trade
Commission (FTC) Federal Communications Commission and state and local agencies. We collect personally identifiable information including payment card
information and other data from our current and prospective customers website users and employees The U.S. federal and various state and foreign governments
haveadopted or proposed limitations on or requirements regarding the collection distribution use security and storage of personally identifiable information of
individuals. including payment card information. and the FTC and many state attorneys general are applying federal and state consumer protection laws to impose
standards on the online collection. use and dissemination of data. Selfregulatory obligations other industry standards policies and other legal obligations may
apply to our collection distribution use security or storage of personally identifiable information or other data relating to individuals including payment card
information. These obligations may be interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with one another other
regulatory requirements or our internal practices. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with U.S F.U. or other foreign privacy or security laws
policies industry standards or legal obligations or any security incident resulting in the unauthorized access to or acquisition release or transfer of personally
identifiable information or other data relating to our customers employees and others including payment card information may result in governmental
enforcement actions litigation lines and penalties or adverse publicity and could cause our customers to lose trust in us which could have an adverse effect on our
reputation and business.

We expect there will continue to be new proposed laws regulations and industry standards concerning privacy data protection and information security in
the the European Union and other jurisdictions and we cannot yet determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our
business. Future laws regulations standards and other obligations could impair our ability to collect or use information we utilize to provide targeted advertising to
our customers thereby impairing our ability to maintain and grow our total customers and increase revenue. Future restrictions on the collection, use sharing or
disclosure four users data or additional requirements for express or implied consent of users tor the use and disclosure of such information could require us to
modify our products possibly in a material manner and could limit our ability to develop new products and features.

In particular with regard to transfers ofpcrsonal data as such term is used in the 1995 EU Data Protection Directive and applicable European Union
member state legislation lrom our employees and European customers and users to the US. we historically have relied upon adherence to the U.S. Department of
Commerces Safe llarbor Privacy Principles and compliance with the U.S.EU Safe Harbor Framework agreed to by the U.S. Department ofCommcrce and the
European Union. The U.S.EU Safe Harbor Framcvrork which established means for legitimizing the transfer of personal data by US. companies from the
European Economic Area (the EEA) to the US. was invalidated in October 2015 by a decision ofthc European Coup of.lustice (the ECJ). In light of the EC.ls
decision we have engaged in a review otour business practices and recently selfcenitied under the U.S.EU Privacy Shield a replacement framework for the
U.S.-EU Safe Harbor Framework that was adopted in July 2016. The US-EU Privacy Shield may be subject to legal challenge and may be modified or
invalidated. and we may be unsuccessful in maintaining legitimate means for our transfer and receipt ofpersonal data from the EEA. We may experience
reluctance or
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refusal by current or prospective European customers to use our products and we may find it necessary or desirable to make further changes no our handling of
personal data of EEA residents. The regulatory environment applicable to the handling of EEA residents' personal data and our actions taken in response may
cause us to assume additional liabilities or incur additional costs and could result in our business. operating results and financial condition being harmed.
Additionally we and our customers may face a risk of enforcement actions by data protection authorities in the EEA relating to personal data transfers to us and by
us loom the EEA.Any such enforcement actions could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources. distract management and technical personnel and
negatively affect our business operating results and financial condition.

In addition several foreign countries and govemmcntal bodies including the European Union and Canada have laws and regulations concerning the
collection arid use ofpcrsonally identifiable intbrmalion obtained lrom their residents including payment card inlbrmation which are alien more restrictive than
those in the US. Laws and regulations in these jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection use storage disclosure and security of personally identifiable
information including payment card information identifying. or which may be used to identify an individual such as names email addresses and in some
jurisdictions Internet Protocol (IP) addresses. Although we are working to comply with those laws and regulations applicable to us these and other obligations
may be modified arid they may be interpreted in different ways by courts arid new laws and regulations may be enacted in the future. Within the European Union
legislators have approved the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) a new regulation that will become effective in May 2018 and at that tiinc. will
supersede the 1995 European Union Data Protection Directive. The GDPR includes more stringent operational requirements for processors and controllers of
personal data including payment card information imposes significant penalties for noncompliance and has broader extraterritorial effect. As the GDPR is a
regulation rather than a directive it requires strict adoption by all EU member states but permits those member states to enact supplemental requirements if they so
choose. Further fOllowing a referendum in June 2016 in which voters in the United Kingdom approved an exit from the EU it is expected that the United
Kingdom government will initiate a process to leave the EU. This has created uncertainty with regard to the future regulation of data protection in the United
Kingdom.

Any new laws. regulations other legal obligations or industry standards or any changed interpretation of existing laws regulations or other standards
may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations. lour privacy or data security measures fail to comply with current or future laws
regulations policies legal obligations or industry standards. we may be subject to litigation regulatory investigations, fines or other liabilities. as well as negative
publicity and a potential loss ofbusincss Moreover if tincture laws regulations other legal obligations or industry standards, or any changed interpretations of the
foregoing limit our customers ability to use and share personally identifiable information including payment card information or our ability to store process and
share such personally identifiable information or other data demand for our products could decrease our costs could increase and our business operating results
and financial condition could be harmed

Failure ro adequately protect and enforce our inrelleclual properly rights could sub.vmmialb harm our business am/ operating results.

The success four business depends in part on our ability to protect and enforce our patents trademarks. copyrights trade secrets and other intellectual
property rights. We attempt to protect our intellectual property under patent trademark copyright and trade secret laws and through a combination of
confidentiality procedures contractual provisions and other methods all of which offer only limited protection.

As oIDeeember 31 2016 we had 193 issued patents in the U.S covering various aspects olour product offerings. Additionally. as off)ecembcr 3 l.
2016 we had 186 pending U.S. patent applications and intend Io life additional patent applications in the future. The process of obtaining patent protection is
expensive and timeconsuming and ac may not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. We
may choose not to seek patent protection br certain innovations and may choose not to pursue patent protection in certain jurisdictions and under the laws of
certain jurisdictions patents or others intellectual property may be unavailable or limited in scope Funhennore it is possible that our patent applications may not
issue as granted patents that the scope four issued patents will be insufficient or not have the coverage originally sought that our issued patents will not provide
us with any competitive advantages. and that our patents and other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative
processes or litigation. In addition issuance of a patent does not assure that we have an absolute right to practice the patented invention or that we havethe right to
exclude others from practicing the claimed invention. As a result we may not be able to obtain adequate patent protection or to entbrce our issued patents
effectively.

In addition to patented technology we rely on our unpatented proprietary technology and confidential proprietary information including trade secrets and
knowhow Despite our elTons to protect the proprietary and confidential nature of such technology and information unauthorized parties may attempt to
misappropriate reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use
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them. The contractual provisions in confidentiality agreements and other agreements we generally enter into with employees consultants, partners vendors and
customers may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our proprietary technology or intellectual property rights and may not provide an adequate remedy in
the event of unauthorized use or disclosure four proprietary technology or intellectual property rights. Moreover policing unauthorized use four technologies
products and intellectual property is difficult expensive and time-consuming particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not be as protective of
intellectual property rights as those iii the U.S. and where mechanisms for enforcement ofintelleetual property rights may be weak. To the extent we expandour
international activities our exposure to unauthorized copying and use four products and proprietary information may increase. We may be unable to determine
the extent olany unauthorized use or infringement four products technologies or intellectual property rights.

As of December 3 l. 2016 we had 395 registered trademarks in 63 countries including the GoDaddy logo and mark in all international markets in which
we operate or intend to operate We have also registered or applied to register the trademarks associated with several four leading brands in the U.S. and in
eenain other countries. Competitors and others may have adopted and in the future may adopt. tag lines or service or product names similar to ours which could
impede our ability to build our brands identities and possibly lead to confusion. In addition there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims
brought by owners of other registered arid common law trademarks or trademarks incorporating variations of the terms or designs ozone or more four trademarks
and opposition tilings made when we apply to register our trademarks.

From time to time legal action by us may be necessary to enforce our patents trademarks and other intellectual property rights to protect our trade
secrets to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property rights of othcrs or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Such litigation
could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources distract management and technical personnel and negatively affect our business operating results and
financial condition. If the are unable to protect our intellectual property rights we may find ourselves at a competitive disadvantage to others who need not incur
the additional expense. time and effort required to create the innovative products that have enabled us to be successful to date. Any inability on our pan to protect
adequately our intellectual property may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are currently a party to intellectual properly claims and litigation asserted by third parties, arid rmrv be subject to additional claims and litigation in the
future, which could result in significant costs and subsmntiallv harm our business and results ofaperatiuns.

In recent years there has been significant litigation in the US. and abroad involving patents and other intellectual property rights. Companies providing
web-based and cloudbased products arc increasingly bringing and becoming subject to, suits alleging infringement of proprietary rights particularly patent rights.
The possibility of intellectual property infringement claims also may increase to the extent we face increasing competition and become increasingly visible. Any
claitns we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their intellectual property
rights. in addition our exposure to risks associated with the use of intellectual property may increase as a result olacquisitions we make or our use ofsohware
licensed from or hosted by third parties as we have less visibility into the development process with respect to such technology or the care taken to safeguard
against infringement risks. Third parties may make infringement and similar or related claims after we have acquired or licensed technology that had not been
asserted prior to our acquisition or license. Many companies are devoting significant resources to obtaining patents that could affect many aspects four business.
This may prevent us from deterring patent infringement claims and our competitors and others may now and in the future have larger and more mature patent
porttblios than we have.

We currently face and expect to face in the future claims and litigation by third parties that we infringe upon or misappropriate their intellectual property
rights Defending patent and other intellectual property claims and litigation is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. and
there can be no assurances that favorable final outcomes will be obtained iii all cases. In addition plaintiffs may seek and we may become subject to. preliminary
or provisional rulings in the course otany such litigation including potential preliminary injunctions requiring us to cease otTering certain four products or
features. We may decide to settle such lawsuits and disputes on terns that are unfavorable to us. Similarly. ifany litigation to which we arc a party is resolved
adversely we may be subject to an unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed upon appeal. The terms of such a settlement or judgment may require us to
cease offering certain four products or features or pay substantial amounts to the other party. In addition. we may have to seek a license to continue practices
found to be in violation of a third partys rights. which may not be available on reasonable terms. or at all and may significantly increase our operating costs and
expenses. As a result we may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology or discontinue offering certain products or features. The
development of alterative non-infringing technology, products or features could require significant effort and expense or may not be feasible. Our business
financial condition and results ofopcrations could be adversely affected by intellectual property claims or litigation
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We are involved in numerous lawsuits, including putative class action lawsuits, that areexpensive and time consuming and could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operarions.

In addition to intellectual property claims we arealso involved in other types of litigation and claims including employment commercial and consumer
protection claims. Plaintifts in such current and future litigation matters otter file such lawsuits on behallofa putative class and typically claim substantial
statutory damages and attomeys lees and often seek changes to our products features or business practices. As a result although the results of any such current or
fixture litigation regardless of the underlying nature of the claims cannot be predicted with certainty the final outcome of any current or future claims or lawsuits
we lace could adversely affect our business. financial condition and results ofopcrations. Any negative outcome from claims or litigation including settlements
could result in payments of substantial monetary damages or lines attorneys lees or undesirable changes to our products, features or business practices. Further.
claims or litigation brought against our customers or business partners may subject us to indemnification obligations or obligations to refund tees to and adversely
affect our relationships with. our customers or business partners. Such indemnification or refund obligations or litigation judgments or settlements that result in the
payment of substantial monetary damages fines and attorneys fees may not be sufficiently covered by our insurance policies if at all.

In addition during the course of any litigation regardless omits nature there could be public announcements of the results of hearings motions
preliminary rulings or other interim proceedings or developments. Insecurities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative it could have a substantial
adverse effect on the trading price four Class A common stock. Regardless of whether any claims against us have any merit these claims arc timeconsuming and
costly to evaluate and defend and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. Further because ofthe substantial amount of discovery
required in connection with litigation. there is a risk that some four confidential business or other proprietary information could be compromised by disclosure.

Litigation to which we are currently a party including putative class action lawsuits or to which we may become a party in the future may adversely
affect our business financial condition and results of operations.

Our use of open source tee/:nology could impose limitations on our nbilily lo commercialize our products.

We use open source software in our business including in our products. It is possible some such open source software is governed by licenses containing
requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software. and that we license such
modifications or derivative works under the terms of a particular open source license or other license granting third parties certain rights of further use By the
terms ofcertain open source licenses we could be required to release the source code four proprietary software and to make our proprietary software available
under open source licenses. if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in certain manners.

Although we monitor our use of open source software in an effort to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend. we cannot be certain all
open source software is reviewed prior to use in our proprietary software that programmers working for us have not incorporated open source software into our
proprietary software or that they \vial not do so in the future. Any requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or to make it available under an open source
license could be handful to our business. operating results and financial condition. Furthemiore the terns of many open source licenses have not been interpreted
by U.S. courts. As a result there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to
commercialize our products. In such an event we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our products to make our proprietary
code generally available in source code form. to re-engineer our products or to discontinue the sale of our products ire-engineering could not be accomplished on
a timely basis any of which could adversely affect our business. operating results and financial condition.

Our business depends on our customers' continued and unimpeded access to the Internet and the development and maintenance of Internet infrastructure.
Internet accessproviders may be able ro block, degrade or cltargefor access ro certain of our products, which could lead to additional expenses andthe loss of
customers.

Our products depend on the ability of our customers to access the Internet. Currently this access is provided by companies having significant market
power in the broadband and Internet access marketplace including incumbent telephone companies cable companies mobile communications companies and
government-owned service providers. The adoption of any laws or regulations adversely affecting the grovnh. popularity or use of the Internet. including laws
impacting Internet ncutralitv. could decrease the demand for our products and increase our operating costs. The legislative and regulatory landscape regarding the
regulation of the Internet and In particular Interact neutrality in the US. arc subject to uncertainty. The Federal Communications Commission passed Open
Internet rules in February 2(Jl5 collective in June 2015 generally providing for
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Internet neutrality with respect to lived and mobile broadband Internet service but they have been challenged in federal court. Any changes in the legislative and
regulatory landscape regarding Internet neutrality or otherwise regarding the regulation of the lntemeL could harm our business. For example to the extent any
laws, regulations or rulings permit Internet service providers to charge some users higher rates than others for the delivery of their content. Internet service
providers could attempt to use such law regulation or ruling to impose higher fees or deliver our content with less speed reliability or otherwise on a non-neutral
basis as compared to other market participants. and our business could be adversely impacted. Internationally government regulation concerning the Internet, and
in particular network neutrality, may be developing or non-existent. Within such a regulatory environment, we could experience discriminatory or anticompetitive
practices impeding both our and our customers domestic and international growth increasing our costs or adversely affecting our business

Ourcorporate culture /ms contributed m our success, arid U we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose the innovation, creativity and teamwork fostered by
our culture, and our business may be harmed.

We believe a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture which we believe fosters innovation creativity a customer-centric focus
collaboration and loyalty. Our corporate eulturc is central to our devoted Customer Care team which is a key component of the value we offer our customers. As
we continue to evolve our business we may find it difficult to maintain these important aspects four corporate culture which could limit our ability to innovate
and operate effectively. Difficulty in preserving our corporate culture will be exacerbated as we continue to expand internationally grow our employee base and
expand our solutions. Any failure to preserve our culture could also negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel continue to perform at current
levels or execute on our business strategy.

Ourbusiness is exposed lo risks associated with credit card and or/rer online payment clrargebacks andfraud.

A majority of our revenue is processed through credit cards and other online payments lour retiings or chargcbacks increase. our processors could
require us to create reserves increase tees or terminate their contracts with us, which would have an adverse elect on our financial condition.
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Our failure to limit fraudulent transactions conducted on our websites such as through the use ofstolcn credit card numbers could also subject us to
Inability and adversely impact our reputation. Under credit card association rules penalties may be imposed at the discretion of the association for inadequate laud
protection Any such potential penalties would be imposed on our credit card processor by the association Linder our contracts with our payment processors we
are required to reimburse them for such penalties. llowcver we face the risk that we may fail to maintain an adequate level of fraud protection arid that one or
more credit card associations or other processors may at any time assess penalties against us or terminate our ability to accept credit card payments or other form
of online payments from customers \which would have a material adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating results.

We could also incur significant lines or lose our ability lo give customers the option olusing credit cards to pay for our products ifwc fail to follow
payment card industry data security standards even if there is no compromise of customer information. Although we believe we are in compliance with payment
card industry data security standards and do not believe there has been a compromise of customer intimation it is possible that at times either we or any four
acquired companies may not have been in hill compliance with these standards. Accordingly we could be fined which could impact our financial condition or
certain four products could be suspended which would cause us to be unable to process payments using credit cards. Ifwe are unable to accept credit card
payments our business financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.

in addition we could be liable if there is a breach olie payment information ac store. Online commerce and communications depend on the secure
transmission of confidential information over public networks. We rely on encryption and authentication technology to authenticate and secure the transmission al
confidential information including customer credit card numbers However we cannot ensure this technology will prevent breaches of the systems we use to
protect customer payment data. Although we maintain network security insurance we cannot be certain our coverage will be adequate for liabilities actually
incurred or insurance will continue to be available to us on reasonable terms or at all. In addition some four partners also collect or possess inlbrmation about
our customers and we may be subject to litigation or our reputation may be harmed if our partners la11 to protect our customers' information or if they use it in a
manner inconsistent with our policies and practices. Data breaches can also occur as a result of nontechnical issues. Under our contracts with our processors if
there is unauthorized access to. or disclosure of credit card information we store we could be liable to the credit card issuing banks for their cost of issuing new
cards arid related expenses.
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Activities of customers or the cement of tlieir website could damage our reputation and brand or harm our business and./inaneialresults.

As a provider of domain name registration and hosting and presence products. we may be subject to potential liability lOt the activities four customers
on or in connection with their domain names or website or for the data they store on our servers. Although our terms of service prohibit illegal use of our products
by our customers and permit us to take down or suspend website or take other appropriate actions br illegal use customers may nonetheless engage in prohibited
activities or upload or store content with us in violation of applieablc law or the customer's own policies which could subject us to liability Furthermore our
reputation and brand may be negatively impacted by the actions of customers that are deemed to be hostile offensive or inappropriate. We do not proactively
monitor or review the appropriateness of the domain names our customers register or the content of their websites and we do not have control over customer
activities. The safeguards we have in place may not be sutlicient to avoid harm to our reputation and brand especially if such hostile offensive or inappropriate
use is high profile.

Several US. federal statutes may apply to us with respect to various activities four customers including: the Digital Millennium Copyright Act of 1998
(the DMCA) which provides recourse for owners of copyrighted material who believe their rights under U.S. copyright law have been infringed on the Internet
the Communications Decency Act of 1996 (the CDA), which regulates content on the Internet unrelated to intellectual property; and the Anticybersquatting
Consumer Protection Act (the ACPA) which provides recourse lOt trademark owners against eybersquattcrs. The DMCA and the CDA generally protect online
service providers like us that do not own or control website content posted by customers from liability br certain activities of customers. such as the posting of
defamatory or obscene content. unless the online service provider is participating in the unlawful conduct. For example the safe harbor provisions of the DMCA
shield Internet service providers and other intermediaries tram direct or indirect liability Tor copyright infringement However under the DMCA we must follow
the procedures tor handling copyright infringement claims set thanh in the DMCA including expeditiously removing or disabling access to the allegedly infringing
material upon the receipt of a proper notice tram or on behalfotI a copyright owner alleging infringement of copyrighted material located on websites we host.
Under the CDA we are generally not responsible for the customer-created content hosted on our servers and thus are generally immunized from liability for torts
committed by others Consequently we do not monitor hosted websites or prescrcen the content placed by our customers. Undcr the safe harbor provisions of the
ACPA domain name registrars arc shielded from liability in many circumstances including cybersquatting although the sale harbor provisions may not apply if
our activities are deemed outside the scope of registrar fUnctions.

Although these statutes and case law in the U.S. have generally shielded us from liability for customer activities to date court rulings in pending or future
litigation may narrow the scope ofprotcction atTorded us under these laws. Neither the DMCA nor the CDA generally apply to claims of trademark violations and
thus they may be inapplicable to many of the claims asserted against our company. Furthermore notwithstanding the exculpatory language of these bodies of law
the activities four customers may result in threatened or actual litigation against us. If such claims are successful. our business and operating results could be
adversely affected, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor these claims and the time and resources necessary to resolve them.
could divert the resources four management and adversely affect our business and operating results.

in addition. laws governing these activities are unsettled in many international jurisdictions or may prove difficult or impossible for us to comply with in
some international jurisdictions. Also other existing bodies outlaw including the criminal laws of various states may be deemed to apply or new statutes or
regulations may be adopted in the future any of which could expose us to further liability and increase our costs of doing business.

We mqvface liability or become involved in disputes over registration and transfer of domain names and control over website.

The safeguards and procedures we have adopted may not be successful in insulating us against liability from such claims in the future. in addition we face

As a provider olweb-based and cloud-based products, including as a registrar of domain names and related products we from time to time become aware
oldisputes over ownership or control of customer accounts websites or domain names. We could face potential claims of tort law liability tor our failure to renew
a customer's domain We could also face potential tort law liability for our role in the wrongful transfer of control or ownership of accounts website or domain
names. .
potential liability for other forms of account website or domain name "hijacking" including misappropriation by third parties of our network ofcustomer
accounts websites or domain names and attempts by third parties to operate accounts. websites or domain names or to extort the customer whose accounts
websites or domain names were misappropriated. Furthermore we are exposed to potential liability as a result four domain privacy product wherein the identity
and contact details for the domain name registrant are masked Although our tests of service reserve our right to take certain steps when
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domain name disputes arise related to our privacy product including the removal four privacy service the safeguards we have in place may not be sufficient to
avoid liability which could increase our costs of doing business.

Occasionally one four customers may register a domain name identical or similar to a third pony's trademark or the name of a living person. These
occurrences have in the past arid may in the future lead to our involvement in disputes over such domain names. Disputes involving registration or control of
domain names are often resolved through the Uniform Domain Name Dispute Resolution Policy (the UDRP) lCANN's administrative process for domain name
dispute resolution or less frequently through litigation under the ACPA or under general theories of trademark infringement or dilution. The UDRP generally does
not impose liability on registrars and the ACPA provides that registrars may not be held liable for registration or maintenance of a domain name absent a showing
of the registrars bad faith intent to profit. However we may face liability if we act in bad faith or fail to comply in a timely manner with procedural requirements
under these rules including lbrleiturc of domain names in connection with UDRP actions. in addition domain name registration disputes and compliance with the
procedures under the ACPA and URDP typically require at least limited involvement by us and therefore increase our cost of doing business. The volume of
domain name registration disputes may increase in the future as the overall number of registered domain names increases

We are dependent url the continued services and performance ofour senior management and other key employees, the loss of any of whom could adversely
affect our business operating results undjinanciul condition.

l
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l

Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions four senior management and other key employees to execute on our
business plan and to identity and pursue new opportunities and product innovations. The loss of services olsenior management or other key employees could
significantly delay or prevent the achievement four development and strategic objectives. In addition some olie members olour current management team

have only been working together for a short period of time. which could adversely impact our ability to achieve our goals. The loss of the services four senior
management or other key employees for any reason could adversely affect our business financial condition and operating results.

I f we areunable ro /lire, Temin and motivate qunlyied personnel, our business would suffer.

.s.

Our fUture success and ability to innovate depends in pan on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. The loss of the services
of any four key personnel the inability to attract or retain qualified personnel or delays in hiring required personnel. may seriously hand our business. financial
condition and operating results. Our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel specifically employees with technical and engineering skills
and employees with language skills and cultural knowledge of the geographic markets we have recently expanded to or that we intend toexpand to in the near
fUture. will be critical to our future success Competition for highly skilled personnel is frequently intense. particularly in U tech hubs such as the San Francisco
Bay Area Seattle and Cambridge. We are limited in our ability to recruit global talent by US. immigration laws including those related to lll-B visas. The
demand lOt H-IB visas to till highlyskilled IT and computer science jobs is greater than the number ola-lB visas available each year; lOt the U.S. governments
2017 fiscal year the U.S. issued 85.000 HIB visas out of 236.000 requests. In addition. many four employees have outstanding options or other equity awards.
As a public company. the ability four employees to sell their stock received pursuant to equity awards in the public market may lead to a larger than normal
turnover rate. We intend to issue stock options or other equity awards as key components olour overall compensation and employee attraction and retention
efforts In addition. we are acquired under GAAP to recognize compensation expense in our operating results for employee equitybased compensation under our
equity grant programs which may negatively impact our operating results and may increase the pressure to limit equity-based compensation. We may not be
successful in attracting assimilating or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. Also. to the extent we hire personnel from competitors
we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or divulged proprietary or other confidential inlbmiation.

The requirements of being n public company may strain our resources.

As a public company voc are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act al 1934 as amended (the Exchange Act) the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (the NYSE). We expect the requirements olthese rules
and regulations will continue to increase our legal accounting and financial compliance costs make some activities more difficult time-consuming and costly and
place significant strain on our personnel systems arid resources. Management's attention may be diverted from other business concerns \which could adversely
affect our business and operating results.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us among other things, to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
re ort if . We continue to develop and reline our disclosure controls and other rocedurcs Desi redp g P p g
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to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we will file with the SEC is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
principal executive and financial officers. We also continue to improve our internal control over financial reporting. in order to maintain and improve the
effectiveness four disclosure controls and procedures and intcmal control over financial reporting we have expended and anticipate we will continue to expend
significant resources, including legal and accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

1/ we fail m maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting our ahilitv m produce timely andaccurate
financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

We were able to determine iii our managements report lOt fiscal 2016 that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as well as provide as
unqualified attestation report from our independent registered public accounting firm to that effect. In the event that our chief executive officer chief financial
officer or independent registered public accounting fi t determines in the future that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective as defined under
Section 404 we could be subject to one or more investigations or enforcement actions by state or federal regulatory agencies stockholder lawsuits or other adverse
actions requiring us to incur defense costs pay lines settlements or judgments and causing investor perceptions to be adversely affected and potentially resulting in
restatement four financial statements for prior periods arid a decline in the market price of our stock.

In addition our current Internal controls and any new controls we implement may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business or
information technology systems or changes in the applicable laws regulations and standards. Any failure to design or operate effective controls or any difficulties
encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our operating results cause its to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Not fully recognizing
understanding or testing the state odor changes tn our internal control environment could also adversely affect the results of management evaluations and
independent registered public accounting limy audits four internal control over financial reporting. about which we are required to include in our periodic reports
filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our
reported financial and other information which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price four Class A common stock. in addition ifwe are unable
to continue to meet these requirements we may not be able lo remain listed on the NYSE in the future.

Economic conditions in the United States and international economies may adversely impact our business and operating results.

i

General economic conditions such as a recession or economic slowdown in the U.S. or in one or more four other major markets could adversely affect
demand for our products. The recent national and global economic downturn affected many sectors of the economy and resulted in among other things declines in
overall economic growth consumer and corporate confidence and spending increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. Changing
macroeconomic conditions may affect our business in a number ofvvays making it difficult to accurately forecast and plan our future business activities In
particular spending patterns of small businesses and ventures are difficult to predict and are sensitive to the general economic climate the economic outlook
specific to small businesses and ventures. the then-current level of profitability experienced by small businesses and ventures and overall consumer confidence
Our products may be considered discretionary by many four current and potential customers. As a result people considering whether to purchase or renew
subscriptions to our products may be influenced by macroeconomic factors affecting small businesses and ventures and consumer spending Uncertain and adverse
economic conditions may also lead to a decline in the ability four customers to use or access credit including through credit cards. as well as increased refunds
and chargebacks any of which could adversely affect our business Although we continued to grow through the most recent recession we may be unable to do so
in future economic slowdowns.

To the extent conditions in the national and global economy change our business could be harmed as customers may reduce or postpone spending or
choose not to purchase or renew subscriptions to our products. Changing economic conditions may also adversely affect third parties with which we have entered
into relationships and upon which we depend in order to grow our business.

Weare subject to export controls and economic sanctions lawsthat could impair our ability to compete in international markets and subject us to liability U we
are not in full compliance with applicable laws.

Our business activities are subject to various restrictions under U.S. export controls and trade arid economic sanctions laws. including the US. Commerce
Depaninents Export Administration Regulations and economic and trade sanctions regulations maintained by the U.S. Treasury Departments Office of Foreign
Assets Control (OF AC) lfwe fail to comply with
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these laws and regulations we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties and reputational harm. U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions laws also
prohibit certain transactions with U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries governments. persons and entities.

We employ a number of screening and other remedial measures designed to prevent users in embargoed countries and prohibited persons from purchasing
or accessing our products or services. Even though we take precautions to prevent transactions with U.S. sanctions targets there is risk that in the tincture we could
provide our products to such targets despite such precautions. Changes in the list ofembargoed countries and regions or prohibited persons may require us to
modify these procedures in order to comply with governmental regulations. This could result in negative consequences to us, including govcmment investigations
penalties and reputational harm

Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction and sale olour products in international
markets or in some cases. prevent the sale four products to certain countries governments or persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations
shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries governments persons or technologies targeted by such regulations could result
iii decreased use of our products or decreased ability to sell our products to existing or potential customers Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our
ability to sell our products internationally could adversely affect our growth prospects.

Due ro /he global nature of our business, we could be adverses affected by violalians ofanli-bribery and anti-corruption laws.

The global nature four business creates various domestic and local regulatory challenges The US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 as amended
(the FCPA) the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the U.K. Bribery Act) U.S Travel Act and similar anti-bribery and anticorruption laws in other jurisdictions generally
prohibit companies and their intemiediaries from making improper payments to lbreign government officials and other persons for the corrupt purpose of obtaining
or retaining business directing business to any person or securing any advantage in addition companies are required to maintain records accurately and fairly
representing their transactions and having an adequate system of internal accounting controls. We face significant risks il we tail to comply with the FCPA and
other anticorruption and antibribery laws prohibiting companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from authorizing offering or providing,
directly or indirectly improper payments or benefits to foreign government officials. political parties arid private-sector recipients for an illegal purpose.

I

We operate in areas of the world experiencing corruption by government officials to some degree and in certain circumstances compliance with anti-
bribery and anticorruption laws may conflict with local customs and practices. We operate in several countries and sell our products to customers around the
world which geographically stretches our compliance obligations In addition changes in laws could result in increased regulatory requirements and compliance
costs which could adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations. While we are committed to complying with all applicable anti
bribery and anticorruption laws. we cannot assure our employees or other agents will not engage in prohibited conduct and render us responsible under the FCPA
or the UK. Bribery Act.

lfwe are found to be in violation of the FCPA the U.K. Bribery Act or other antibribery and anti-corruption laws (either due to acts or inadvertence of
our employees or due to the acts or inadvertence ofothers) we could sufler criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions which could have a material adverse
effect on our business. Any violation of the FCPA or other applicable anticorruption or antibribery laws could result in whistleblower complaints adverse media
coverage investigations loss of export privileges. severe criminal or civil sanctions and in the case of the FCPA suspension or debarment from US. government
contracts which could have a material and adverse effect on our reputation business. operating results and prospects. In addition responding to any enforcement
action may result in a materially significant diversion of manageinents attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.

Unanticipated changes in effective My rates or adverse outcomesresulting from examination of our income or other lax returns could adversefv affect our
operating results anzlfinancialcondition.

We arc subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions and our domestic arid international tax liabilities will be subject to the
allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors including:

changes in the valuation four deferred tax assets (DTAs) and liabilities (DTLs);

expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;

expiration al or detrimental changes in research and development tax credit laws
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lax effects of equitybased compensation;

costs related to intercompany restructurings;

changes in tax laws regulations or interpretations thereof; or
i

lttture earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated earnings in countries
where we have higher statutory tax rates.

In addition we may be subject to audits four income sales and other transaction taxes by federal and state and foreign tax authorities. Outcomes from
these audits could have an adverse clTcct on our operating results and financial condition.

Our business is subject ro the risks of earthquakes fie power outages floods and other catastrophic events am/ ro interruption by manmade problems such
as terrorism.

A significant natural disaster such as an earthquake fire or flood could have a material adverse impact on our business. operating results and financial
condition. Natural disasters could lead to significant power outages and otherwise atTect our data centers as well as our infrastructure vendors abilities to provide
connectivity and perform services on a timely basis. In the event our or our service providers IT systems' abilities are hindered by any of the events discussed
above we and our customers websites could experience downtime and our products could become unavailable. In addition acts of terrorism and other
geopolitical unrest could cause disruptions in our business or the business four infrastructure vendors partners or customers or the economy as a whole. Any
disruption in the business or operations four data center hosting providers or customers could have a significant adverse effect on our operating results and
financial performance. All of the aforementioned risks may he further increased if our disaster recovery plans prove to be ineffective in the event ofsuch a disaster.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Governmental andregulatory policies or claims concerning the domain name registration systemand the Internet in general and industry reactions to those
policies or claims,mav cause inslabilitv in the industry arid disrupt our business.

ICANN is a multi-stakeholder. private sector notfOrprofit corporation formed in 1998 for the express purposes ofoversceing a number of lnternet
related tasks. including managing the DNS allocation ollP addresses accreditation of domain name registrars and registries and the definition and coordination of
policy development for all oflhcse functions. We are accredited by ICANN as a domain name registrar and thus our ability to offer domain name registration
products is subject to our ongoing relationship with and accreditation by ICANN.

ICANN has been subject to strict scrutiny by the public and governments around the world as well as multigovernmental organizations such as the
United Nations with many of those bodies becoming increasingly interested in Internet governance. There is also uncertainty concerning the nature and
significance of the recent transition from U.S. oversight of lCANN to oversight oflCANN by its members.

Additionally we continue to face the possibility that;

the structure and accountability mechanisms contained in ICA fN's new bylaws are untested which may result in ICANN not being accountable to its
stakeholders and unable to make implement or enforce its policies;

the US. or another government or intergovcmmental organization may reassess lCANNs role in overseeing the domain name registration market

the Internet community the U.S. government or other governments may ii) refuse to recognize lCANN's authority or support its policies (ii) attempt to
exertpressure on ICANN or (iii) enact laws in conflict with lCANNs policies each of which could create instability in the domain name registration
system

govcmments via lCANNs Governmental Advisory Committee (GAC) may seek greater influence over ICANN policies and contracts with registrars
and may advocate changes that may adversely affect our business

some of lCANNs policies and practices such as lCANNs position on privacy and proxy domain name registrations and the policies and practices
adopted by registries and registrars could be found to conflict with the laws ozone or morcjurisdietions or could be materially changed in a way that
negatively impacts the sale four products;

the terms of the Registrar Accreditation Agreement (the RAA) under which we are accredited as a registrar could change in ways that are
disadvantageous to us or under certain circumstances could be terminated by ICANN. thereby

39



Ta if on 1 s

preventing us from operating our registrar service or ICANN could adopt unilateral changes Io the RAA that arc unfavorable to us that are inconsistent
with our current or future plans. or that affect our competitive position;

l

l
l
il
I

International regulatory or governing bodies, such as the lntemational Telecommunications Union a specialized agency of the United Nations or the
European Union may gain increased influence over the management arid regulation of the domain name registration system. leading to increased
regulation in areas such as taxation privacy and the monitoring of our customers hosted content;

l

lICANN or any thirdparty registries may implement policy changes impacting our ability to Mn our current business practices throughout the various
stages of the lifecycle of a domain name;

the U.S. Congress or other legislative bodies in the U.S could take action unfavorable to us or influencing customers to move their business from our
products to those located outside the U.S.;

l
I
W
i
1
\ICANN could fail to maintain its role potentially resulting in instability in DNS services administration;

some governments and governmental authorities outside the U.S. have in the past disagreed. and may in the future disagree with the actions policies or
programs of ICANN and registries relating to the DNS which could fragment the single. unitary Internet into a loosely-connected group ozone or more
networks each with different miles policies and operating protocols; and

multipany review panels established by ICANNs new bylaws may take positions unfavorable to our business.

If any of these events occur they could create instability in the domain name registration system and may make it difficult for us to continue to offer
existing products and introduce new products. or serve customers in certain international markets. These events could also disrupt or suspend portions otour
domain name registration product and subject us to additional restrictions on how the registrar and registry products businesses are conducted which would result
in reduced revenue

ICANN periodically authorizes the introduction of new TLDs. and we may not have the right ro register new domain names to our customers based on such
TL Ds, which couldadversely impact our business andresults ofoperalions.

ICANN has periodically authorized the introduction of new ILDs and made domain names related to them available for registration. Our competitive
position depends in pan on our ability to secure access to these new TLDS. A significant portion four business relies on our ability to sell domain name
registrations to our customers and any limitations on our access to newly-created TLDs could adversely impact our ability to sell domain name registrations to
customers and thus adversely impact our business

In 2013 ICANN significantly expanded the number ofgTLDs which resulted in the delegation of new giLDs commencing in 2014 which we refer lo as
the Expansion Program We and certain olour competitors have expended resources tiling goLD applications under the Expansion Program to pursue the
acquisition otgTLD operator rights. For example we secured the rights to become the registry for godaddy a goLD The Expansion Program could substantially
change the domain name industry in unexpected ways and is expected to result in an increase in the number of domains registered by our competitors. lfwe do not
properly manage our response to the change in business environment and accurately predict the market's preference for specific giLDs it could adversely impact
our competitive position or market share.

The relevant domain name registry arid ICA NN impose a charge upon each registrar for the administration of each domain name registration. Uthesefees
increase it would have a significant impact upon our operating results.

Each registry typically imposes a fee in association with the registration of each domain name. For example VeriSign Inc. (VeriSign), the registry for
.com and .net. has a current list price of$7.85 annually lOt each .coin registration. arid ICANN currently charges $0. 18 annually tor most domain names registered
in the giLDs falling within its purview. The tee charged by VeriSign lOt each .com registration increased from $6.86 per year to $7.34 per year in July 2010 and
increased again to $7.85 per year in .laniary 2012 . In 2016 VeriSign and ICANN agreed VeriSign will continue to be the exclusive registry for the .com goLD
through November 2024. As part of this agreement the current list price oI$7.85 annually for each .com registration will remain in place unless VeriSign can
demonstrate to the U.S. Department of Commerce that technology changes or market conditions no longer warrant pricing restrictions. We have no control over
ICANN VeriSign or any other domain name registries and cannot predict their ligature tee structures. While we do not currently do so we have the discretion to
impose service fees on our customers in the future. In addition pricing of new giLDs is generally not set or controlled by ICANN which in certain instances has
resulted in aggressive price increases on certain particularly successful new gTI.Ds. The increase in these tees with respect to any new gel.[) either must he
incltided in the prices we charge to our customers imposed as a surcharge or absorbed by us. lfwe
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absorb such cost increases or if surcharges result in decreases in domain registrations our business operating results and financ ial pcrtbrmance may be adversely

affected.

Our business and financial condition could be harmed materially Usual/ consumers and small businesses and ventures were no longer able ro rely upon the
existing domain name registration system.

The domain name registration market continues to develop and adapt to changing technology This development may inc lude changes in the

administration or operation of the Internet inc luding the creation and institution of alternate systems for directing Internet traffic  without using the existing domain

name registration system. The widespread acceptance of any alterative system such as mobile applications or c losed networks could eliminate the need to

register a domain name to establish an online presence and could materially and adversely affect our business

Changes in state fixat ion laws and regulat ions may discourage the registrat ion or renewal of domain names for e-commerce.

Due to the global nature of the Internet. it is possible that any U.S. or foreign federal state or local taxing authority might attempt to regulate our

transmissions or levy transaction income or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the international federal state and local levels are regularly

reviewing the appropriate treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce. New or revised international. federal state or local tzvc regulations may subject either us

or our customers to additional sales income arid other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales income or other taxes on e

commerce. New or revised taxes. iii particular sales and other transaction taxes would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the

attractiveness of advertising and selling goods and services over the Internet. New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture

data and to collect and remit taxes. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Risks Related to ()ur (ompany and ()ur Organizational Structure

Our only material asset is our economic interest in Desert New co and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from Desert New co to pay our
expenses, faxes and dividends (i/and when declared by our board of directors).

I

I

I

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our ownership of LLC Units. Wc have no independent means ofgcnerating revenue or

cash llovvs We intend to cause Desert Neuco to make distributions to us as its managing member in an amount suffic ient to cover all expenses. applicable taxes

payable and dividends if any dec lared by our board ofdireetors. To the extent we need funds and Desert New co is restric ted loom making such distributions under

applicable law or regulation or under any present or fUture debt covenants or is otherwise unable to provide such funds it could materially adversely affect our

business financ ial condit ion results of operations and cash flows.

Ou r ability Ra pay taxes and expenses, inc luding payments umber the TRAp, may be limited by our structure.

Our princ ipal asset. either directly or through our wholly owned subsidiary GD Subsidiary Inc . is a controlling equity interest in Desert New co. As such.

we have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flows. Desert New co is treated as a partnership for U.S income tax purposes and as such, is

generally not subject to income tax in most jurisdic t ions. Instead taxable income is allocated to holders omits LLC Units, inc luding us. Accordingly we incur

income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of Desert New co.

Pursuant to the amended and restated limited liability company agreement olDesert New co (the New LLC Agreement) Desert New co will make cash

distributions to the owners OlIL( Units calculated using an assumed tax rate to help fund their tax obligations in respect of the cumulative taxable income in

excess of cumulative taxable losses of Desert New co allocated to them. in addition to tax expenses we also incur expenses related to our operations plus payments

under the TRAp which we expect will be significant We intend to cause Desert New co to make distributions or. in the case of certain expenses. payments in an

amount suffic ient to allow us to pay our taxes and operating expenses inc luding distributions to fund any ordinary course payments due under the lRAs. However

Desert Nev co's ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restric tions.

We are a holding company with no operations and rely on Desert New co to provide us with fUnds necessary to meet any financ ial obligations lfwe do

not have sulTic ient fi.lnds to pay tax or other liabilit ies or to fiend our operations (as a result olDesert Nev cos inability to make distributions to us due to various
limitat ions and restric t ions or as a result  olie accelerat ion four obligat ions under the TRAs) we may have to borrow lands and thus our liquidity and financ ial

condit ion could be materially
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and adversely affected. To the extent we arc unable to make payments under the TRAs for any reason such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest at a

rate equal to one year LIBOR plus 500 basis points until paid.

We are required to pay certain pre-IPO uwnersfor certain lax benefits we ma.v claim, and we expect the payments we are required to make to be substantial.

Any future exchanges of LLC Units (together with the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) for shares four Class A common stock are
expected to produce favorable tax attributes for us. When we acquire LLC Units from our pre-IPO owners through these exchanges both the existing tax basis and
anticipated tax basis adjustments are likely to increase (lOt tax purposes) our depreciation and amortization deductions and therefore reduce the amount of income
tax we would be required to pay in the fUture in the absence olthis existing and increased basis. This existing and increased tax basis may also decrease gain lot
increase loss) on ltuure dispositions of certain assets to the extent the tax basis is allocated to those assets. In addition certain acquired net operating losses (NOLs)
and other tax attributes arc available to us as a result of the pre-IPO organizational transactions. Under the TRAs we generally expect to retain the benefit of
approximately l 5% of the applicable tax savings after our payment obligations below are taken into account.

We arc a party to five TRAs. Under four of these agreements. we are generally required to pay to certain preIPO owners approximately 85% of the
amount of savings if any in federal state and local income tax we are deemed to realize (using the actual applicable federal income tax rate and an assumed
combined state and local income tax rate) as ii result of( I) any existing tax attributes of LLC Units acquired in the pre-lPO organizational transactions the benefit
of which is allocable to tis as a result of such transactions (including the allocable share o1 Descrt Ncwcos existing tax basis in its assets) (2) NOLs available as a
result of such transactions and (3) tax benefits related to imputed interest.

Under the fifth of these agreements we are generally required to pay to our other prell'O owners approximately 85% olie applicable savings if any in
income tax we are deemed Io realize (using the actual applicable federal income lax rate and an assumed combined stale and local income tax rate) as a result of
(I) any stepup in lax basis created as a result of exchanges of their LLC Units for shares four Class A common stock (2) any existing tax attributes associated
with their LLC Units. the benefit ofvvhich is allocable to us as a result of such exchanges (including the allocable share of Desert Nev cos existing tax basis in its
assets). (3) tax benefits related to imputed interest and (4) payments under the TRA.

As of December 3 l 20 la we have recorded a liability under the TRAs of$202.6 million payable to certain preIPO owners. This is the amount of
liability we currently deem probable and estimable which takes into account limitations on the use of the favorable tax attributes due to limitations of taxable
income. Becausc we anticipate these favorable tax attributes being greater than our taxable income the excess deductions allocated to us will increase the amount
four NOL carry forwards. We have determined it is morelikely-than- not we \vial be unable to utilize all four DTAs subject to the TRAs; therefOre. we have not

recorded a liability under the TRAs related to the tax savings we may realize from the utilization of fOL carry forwards and the amortization related to basis
adjustments under Code Section 754 created by exchanges of LLC Units. If utilization of these DTAs becomes morelikely-than-not in the fUture at such time we
will accord liabilities under the lRAs of up to an additional $169.8 million as a result of basis adjustments under Code Section 754 and up to an additional $1480
million related to the utilization olNOL and credit carry forwards which will be recorded through charges to our consolidated statement of operations However. if
these tax attributes are not utilized in future years it is reasonably possible no amounts would be paid under the TRAs. In this scenario the reduction of the
liability under the lRAs would result in a benefit to our consolidated statement of operations

The payment obligations under the TRAs are obligations olGoDaddy Inc. and we expect the payments we are required to make under the lRAs will be
substantial. Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and that we cam sufficient taxable income to realize all tax benefits subject to the TRAs we
expect the tax savings associated with (I) the preIPO organizational transactions and (2) luture exchanges of LLC Units (together with the corresponding shares of
Class B common stock) as described above would aggregate to approximately $2.6 billion over 15 years based on the December 30 2016 closing price of$34.95
per share four Class A common stock and assuming all exchanges occurred on the last day of 20l6. Under such scenario we would be required to pay theother
parties to the TRAs approximately 85% of such amount or approximately $2.2 billion over such 15 year period. The actual amounts will materially differ from
these hypothetical amounts as the potential future tax savings we will be deemed to realize and TRA payments to be made by us will be calculated based in pan
on the market value four Class A common stock at the time ofexchangc and the prevailing applicable federal tax rate (plus the assumed combined state and local
tax rate) applicable to us over the lite olthe lRAs and will be dependent on our generating sufficient future taxable income to realize the benefit Payments under
the lRAs are not conditioned on Desert Nev cos preIPO owners' continued ownership ofLL(. Units.

II
42

l

.



Table of Contents

The actual existing lax basis and increase in tax basis as well as the amount and timing of any payments Linder the TRAs will vary depending upon a
number of factors including the timing of exchanges by the holders of LLC Units the price four Class A common stock at the time of the exchange whether
such exchanges are taxable the amount and timing ofthe taxable income we generate in the future. the federal tax rate then applicable and the portion four
payments under the TRAs constituting imputed interest Payments under the TRAp are expected to give rise to certain additional tax benefits attributable to either
further increases in basis or in the lbrm of dcductions lOt imputed interest depending on the TRA and the circumstances. Any such benefits arecovered by the
TRAs and drill increase the amounts due thereunder. In addition the IRAs will provide for interest. at a rate equal to one year LIBOR plus 100 basis points
accrued from the due date (without extensions) of the corresponding tax return to the date of payment specified by the TRAs Under the TRAs to avoid interest
charges. we have the right but not the obligation to make TRA payments in advance of the date the payments are otherwise due

Payments under the TRAs will be based on the tax reporting positions we determine Although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to
challenge existing tax basis a tax basis increase or other tax attributes subject to the TRAs il any subsequent disallowance of tax basis or other benefits were so
determined by the IRS. we would not be reimbursed for any payments previously mac under the applicable TRAs (although we would reduce future amounts
otherwise payable under such TRAP). In addition the actual state or local tax savings we realize may be different than the amount of such tax savings we are
deemed to realize under the TRAp which will be based on an assumed combined state and local tax rate applied to our reduction in taxable income as determined
for federal income tax purposes as a result of the tax attributes subject to the TRAs As a result payments could be made under the TRAs in excess of the tax
savings we realize in respect of the attributes to which the TRAs relate.

In certain eases, pqvnie/its 11 IIder the TRA 5 may be accelerated or signmcuntly exceed the actual benefit we realize in respect of the lax attributes subject to
the TRA 5.

The lRAs provide (I) in the event ac materially breach any four material obligations under the agreements whether as a result of failure to make any
payment within three months of when due (provided we have sufficient Wnds to make such payment) failure to honor any other material obligation required
thereunder or by operation flaw as a result of the rejection of the agreements in a bankruptcy or otherwise or (2) if at any time we elect an early termination of
the agreements our (or our successors) obligations under the applicable agreements (with respect to all LLC Units. whether or not LLC Units have been
exchanged or acquired before or alter such transaction) would accelerate and become payable in a lump sum amount equal to the present value of the anticipated
future tax benefits calculated based on certain assumptions including that we would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the
tax deductions. tax basis and other tax attributes subject to the applicable lRAs. Under the terms of the TRAs we may not elect an early termination of the TRAs
without the consent of(i) each of certain affiliates of the Sponsors and Bob Parsons until such affiliate has exchanged all of its LLC Units (together with the
corresponding shares of Class B common stock) for shares of Class A common stock and (ii) a majority four directors other than directors designated or
nominated by stockholders affiliated with the Sponsors and Bob Parsons.

Additionally the TRAs provide that upon certain mergers. asset sales other forms of business combinations or other changes of control our (or our
successors) tax savings under the applicable agreements tor each taxable year alter any such event would be based on certain assumptions including that we will

thehave sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the lax basis and other tax attributes subject to the applicable TRAp. Furthermore
TRAp will determine the tax savings by excluding certain fixture tax attributes we obtain the use of as a result ofacquiring other entities to the extent such lax
attributes are the subject oftax receivable agreements we enter into in connection with such acquisitions.

As a result of the foregoing, (ll we could be required to make payments under the TRAs that are greater than or less than the specified percentage of the
actual tax savings we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the agreements and (2) if we materially breach a material obligation under the agreements or
if we elect to terminate the agreements early we would be required to make an immediate lump sum payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future
tax savings which payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization ofsuch future tax savings. In these situations our obligations under the
TRAp could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect ofdelaying deferring or preventing certain mergers. asset sales other
fOnts of business combinations or other changes of control. There can be no assurance we will be able to fund or finance our obligations under the TRAs.

In certain circumstances Desert New co will be required to make distributions to us and to its preIPO owners. The distributions Desert Neweo will be required
to make may be substantial.

Desert New co is treated as a partnership for U.S. income tax purposes and as such is gcncrallv riot subject to income tax in most jurisdictions. lnstcad
taxable income is allocated to holders omits LLC Units including us. Pursuant to the New LLC
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Agreement Desert Neweo will make pro rata cash distributions or tax distributions to the owners olLLC Units including us, calculated using an assumed tax
rate to help each of the holders of the LLC Units to pay taxes on such holders allocable share of the cumulative taxable income reduced by cumulative taxable
losses. Under the tax rules Desert Newer is required to allocate net taxable income disproportionately to its owners in certain circumstances. Because tax
distributions will be determined based on the holder ofl.l.C Units who is allocated the largest amount of taxable income on a per unit basis but will be made pro
rata based on ownership Desert New co will be required to make tax distributions that in the aggregate will likelyexceedthe amount of taxes Desert Ncwco
would have paid if it were taxed on its rel income at the assumed rate.

Funds used by Desert New coto satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in our business Moreover. the tax
distributions Desert New cowill be required to make may be substantial and may exceed (as a percentage olDesert Nev cos income) the overall effective tax rate
applicable to a similarly situated corporate taxpayer. In addition because these payments will be calculated with reference to an assumed tax rate and because of
the disproponionatc allocation of net taxable income these payments will likely significantly exceed the actual tax liability for many of the owners olDesert
New co.

As a result of potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to the other owners ofDescrt New co as well as the use of an
assumed tax rate in calculating Desert Nc\vcos distribution obligations Ive may receive distributions significantly iii excess four tax liabilities and obligations to
make payments under the TRAs. To the extent as currently expected we do not distribute such cash balances as dividends on our Class A common stock and
instead lOt example hold such cash balances or lend them to Desert New co our existing shareholders \would benefit from any value attributable to such
accumulated cash balances as a result of their ownership of Class A common stock.

We will not be reimbursed./or any payments madeto our pre-IPOowners under the TRAp in the event any My benefits are disallowed.

If the IRS challenges the tax basis or NOl.s giving rise to payments under the TRAs. and the tax basis or NOLs are subsequently disallowed the
recipients of payments under those agreements will not reimburse us for any payments we previously made to them. Any such disallowance would be taken into
account in determining future payments under the TRAs and would therelbre reduce the amount olany such future payments Nevcnheless if the claimed tax
benefits from the tax basis or NOLa are disallowed our payments under the TRAs could exceed our actual lax savings and we may not be able to recoup payments
under the TRAs that were calculated on the assumption that the disallowed tax savings were available.

We will continue M be controlled by our pre-IP() owners, whose interests min dyferfrom those of our public stockholders.

As of December 3 I 2016 funds alTiliated with the Sponsors as well as Bob Parsons controlled approximately 65.7% of the combined voting power of
our Class A and Class B common stock. Pursuant to the New LLC Agreement. such aftiliatcd owners will generally be required to limit transfers in order to avoid
a technical tax termination which may have the elTect of prolonging the concentration four ownership. Additionally. GoDaddy Inc. and l)escrt New co are parties
to a stockholder agreement with funds affiliated with the Sponsors as well as Bob Parsons and certain specified other holders olLLC Units from time to time
including our executive officers. The stockholder agreement provides that our stockholders atliliated with KKR Silver Lake and Bob Parsons are entitled to
nominate members four board of directors The parties to the stockholder agreement agree to vote for these nominees as well as other directors recommended by
our nominating and corporate governance committee. in addition the stockholder agreement provides that. for so long as their affiliated funds hold specified
amounts four stock our board of directors will maintain an executive committee consisting ozone director designated by each ofKKR Silver Lakc and Bob
l)8Isol1s

The stockholder agreement and the charter for the executive committee further provide that. tor so long as their affiliated funds hold specified amounts of
our stock in addition to the approval of our board of directors. the approvals ofKKR arid Silver Lake. in their capacity as stockholders and a majority of the
members of the executive committee shall be required for corporate actions such as change in control transactions acquisitions with a value in excess of$50
million arid any material change iii the nature of the business conducted by us or our subsidiaries.

As a result based on their ownership four voting stock and the approval rights in the stockholder agreement such affiliated owners have the ability to
elect all of the members four board of directors and thereby to control our management and affairs In addition they are able to determine the outcome of all
matters requiring stockholder approval. including mergers and other material transactions and are able to causeor prevent a change in the composition four
board of directors or a change in control four company that could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their Class A common
stock as pan of a sale four company arid might ultimately affect the market price four Class A common stock.
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As olDecember 3 l. 2016 the Continuing LLC Owners owned approximately 47.0% of the outstanding LLC Units. Because they hold their ownership
interest in our business through Desert New co rather than through the public company the Continuing LLC Owners may have conflicting interests with our public
stockholders. For example. the Continuing LLC Owners may have different tax positions from us which could influence their decisions regarding whether and
when to dispose of assets whether and when to incur new or refinance existing indebtedness. especially iii light of the existence of the TRAs and whether arid
when GuI)addy Inc. should terminate the TRAs and accelerate its obligations thereunder provided that any decision to terminate the TRAs and accelerate the
obligation thereunder would also require the approval of a majority of the directors of GoDaddy Inc. other than directors designated or nominated by stockholders
affiliated with the Sponsors or Bob Parsons In addition the structuring of future transactions may take into consideration these Continuing LLC Owners tax or
other considerations even where tie similar benefit would accrue to us.

Further our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that to the fullest extent permitted by law the doctrine ol"corporate opportunity"
will not apply to the Sponsors. Bob Parsons or their respective affiliates the directors they nominate or our other nonemployee directors in a manner that would
prohibit them from investing in competing businesses or doing business with our partners or customers.

In addition under the terms of the TRAs we may not elect an early termination ofthe TRAp without the consent of each ofcertain affiliates of the
Sponsors and Bob Parsons tmtil such affiliate has exchanged all omits LLC Units (and Class B common stock) for shares ofClass A common stock. Accordingly
we may be prevented from tenninating the TRAs iii circumstances where we detennine it would be beneficial for us to do so. including potentially in connection
with tiiturc strategic transactions.

Weare u "controlled compan.v" within the meaning of the NYSE listing standards and as a result, qualmfor and rely rm, exemptions from certain corporate
governance requirements You will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.

Certain four prelPO owners continue to control a majority of the combined voting power four Class A and Class B common stock As a result we are
a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE listing standards. Under these rules a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by
an individual a group or another company is a "controlled company" and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements of the NYSE
including (I) the requirement that a majority of the hoard of directors consist of independent directors (2) the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate
governance committee composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the commiuees purpose and responsibilities and (3) the
requirement that we have a compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors with a britten charter addressing the committees purpose and
responsibilities. We intend to rely on some or all of these exemptions. As a result we do not have a majority of independent directors and our compensation and
nominating and corporate govemanee committees do not consist entirely of independent directors. Accordingly you will not have the same protections alTorded to
stockholders of companies subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE.

Our substantial leverage could adversely affect ourjinancial condition, our ability to raise additional capital to/Und our operations, our ability to operate our
business, our ability to react to changes in the eco1tonrv or our industry, divert our cash jlowfrom operations for debt payments and prevent usfrom meeting
our debt obligations.

As of Deccmbcr 3 l 2016 . our total indebtedness was $1.073 million . Our substantial leverage could have a material adverse fleet on our business and
financial condition including:

requiring a substantial portion olcash flow from operations Io be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness thereby
reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations capital expenditures and pursue future business opportunities;

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic industry or competitive developments;

exposing us to increased interest expense, as our degree of leverage may cause the interest rates of any future indebtedness whether fixed or floating
rate interest to be higher than they would he otherwise

exposing us to the risk otinereased interest rates because certain four indebtedness bears interest at variable rates

creating a risk of lbreclosure il we default on our debt and are unable to pay any accelerated obligations;

making it more dilticult lOt us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness. and any failure to comply u ith the obligations of any oloiir
debt instruments including restrictive covenants. could result iii an event of default accelerating our obligation to repay indebtedness.
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restricting us from making strategic acquisitions;

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures product development satisfaction otdebt service
requirements acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; and

limiting our flexibility tri planning for or reacting to. changes in our business or market conditions and placing us at a competitive disadvantage
compared to our competitors who may be better positioned to take advantage of opportunitics our leverage prevents us from exploiting.

On February IS 2017. ac amended our credit facility to provide for: (i) a $l072.5 million sevenyear term loan (the Refinanced Term Loan). (ii) a
second contingent Sl.425.0 million tranche (the Acquisition Term Loan) which is intended to provide a portion of the financing lOt our proposed acquisition of
HEG. and (iii) a $l50.0 million five-year revolving credit facility which will increase to $200.0 million upon the closing of our acquisition olHEG (the
Refinanced Revolving Credit Loan). We used the net proceeds from the Refinanced Term Loan to repay all amounts outstanding under our existing tern loan All
four indebtedness currently consists of indebtedness under our Refinanced Tami Loan which matures in 2024. We have also received commitments for an asset

sale bridge facility of up to EUR 500 million associated with the acquisition of I lEG's PlusServer managed hosting business lOt which we intend to explore
strategic alternatives including a possible sale. Itwe are unable to complete the divestiture of PlusServer or if the proceeds from the sale are less than anticipated.
our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. We may not be able to refinanec our existing indebtedness again because otour high
level of debt or adverse conditions in credit markets generally.

I

Furthermore we may incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. Although the credit agreement governing substantially all four indebtedness
contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and entering into certain types of other transactions these restrictions are subject to a number of
qualifications and exceptions. Additional indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also do not prevent us
from incurring obligations such as trade parables. To the extent we incur additional indebtedness the substantial leverage risks described above would be
exacerbated.

I
Cermin of our debt agreements impose signs/ieanl operating andfmaneia/ reslricrions on us and our subsidiaries which may prevent us from capitalizing on
busine.vs opportunities.

The credit agreement govemirig our credit facility imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us These restrictions limit the ability otour
subsidiaries and eflectivcly limit our ability to among other things:

i

incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disqualified equity interests;

pay dividends and make other distributions on or redeem or repurchase capital stock;

make certain investments;

incur certain liens

enter into transactions with affiliates

merge or consolidate

enter into agreements restricting the ability ofrestrictcd subsidiaries to make certain intercompany dividends distributions payments or transfers; and

transfer or sell assets.

As a result of the restrictions described above we will be limited as to how we conduct our business and we may be unable to raise additional debt or
equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities The terms of any future indebtedness we may incur could include more
restrictive covenants We cannot assure you that we will he able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and inc fail to do so. that we will he
able to obtain waivers from the lenders or amend the covenants

Our failure to comply with the restrictive covenants described above as well as other terms four indebtedness or the terms of any future indebtedness
from time to time could result iii an event ofdelauh which if not cured or waived. could result in our being required to repay these borrowings before their due
date lf\ve are lbrced to refinance these borrowings on less lavorable rems or are unable to reliance these borrowings our results ofopcrations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.
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Some provisions of Delaware law arid our amended and restated eertyicnte ofineorporation and amended and restated bylaws may deter lliirdparfiesfrom
acquiring us and diminish the value of our Class A common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide for among other things:

a classified board of direetors with staggered three year terms;

the ability four board oldirectors to issue one or more series of prelerred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could have the effect of
impeding the success of an attempt to acquire us or otherwise cffeet a change in control;

advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders arid for stockholders to include matters to he considered at stockholder meetings;

certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings; and

certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws that may be amended only by the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least twothirds in voting power otall outstanding shares four stock entitled to vote thereon voting together as a
single class ifaffiliates ofKKR and Silver Lake (together \with affiliates ofT CV for so long as TCV is required to vote at the direction ofKKR and
Silver Lake) collectively own less than 40% in voting power four stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.

In addition while vie have opted out of Seclion 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the DGCL) our amended and restated cenificatc of
incorporation contains similar provisions providing that we may not engage in certain business combinations" with any "interested stockholder" for a three year
period following the time the stockholder became an interested stockholder unless:

prior to such time our board of direetors approved either the business combination or the transaction resulting in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

upon consummation of the transaction resulting in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of
the votes four voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced excluding certain shares; or

al or subsequent to that time the business combination is approved by our board of directors and by the atTinnativevoteof holders of at least two-thirds
of the votes of our outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder

Generally a "business combination" includes a merger asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder.
Subject to certain exceptions an "interested stockholder" is a person who, together with that person's affiliates and associates owns or within the previous three
years owned l 5% or more of the votes of our outstanding voting stock. For purposes ofthis provision voting stock" means any class or series of stock entitled to
votegenerally in the election of directors. Our amended and restated certificate of ineorporation provides that KKR Silver Lake Bob Parsons their respective
affiliates and any of their respective direct or indirect designated transferees (other than in certain market transfers and gifts) and any group olwhich such persons
arc a party do not constitute interested stockholders" for purposes of this provision

Under certain circumstances this provision will make it more difficult for a person who would be an interested stockholder" to effect various business
combinations with our company for a three year period. This provision may encourage companies interested iii acquiring tis to negotiate in advance with stir board
of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided four board of directors approves either the business combination or the transaction
resulting in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our board of directors and may
make it more difficult to accomplish transactions stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

These provisions in our amended and restated certificate olincorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage delay or prevent a
transaction involving a change in control four company that is iii the best interest ofotir minority stockholders. Even in the absence of a takeover attempt the
existence of these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our Class A common stock if they are viewed as discouraging future takeover
attempts. These provisions cotild also make it more dillicult for stockholders to nominate directors for election to our board of directors and take other corporate
actions

47



table o l Contents

Risks Relating to Owning Our (Tlass A (TommonStock

Our 5/rare price Mai be volatile andyou Mai be unable ro sell your shares.

1

l
l
l
i

Technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility. The trading price four Class A common stock is likely lo be highly volatile
and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors some ofivhich are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or pan of your investment in our common stock. Since shares four Class A common stock were sold
in our initial public offering (IPO) in April 2015 at a price of$20.00 per share the reported high and low closing sales prices four Class A common stock have
ranged from $23.59 to $37.46 per share through February 24 2017 . Factors that may cause the market price four Class A common stock to fluctuate include:

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market loom time to time;

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general and of companies in our industry;

actual or anticipated changes in our results oloperations or fluctuations in our operating results;

whether our operating results meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts;

actual or anticipated developments in our competitors' businesses or the competitive landscape generally;

litigation involving us our industry or both;

regulatory developments in the U.S. tbreign countries or both;

general economic conditions and trends;

major catastrophic events

sales of large blocks four stock; or

departures of key personnel.

In addition if the market tor technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor conlidcnce the trading price four Class A
common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business. operating results or financial condition. The trading price four Class A common stock might
also decline in reaction to events affecting other companies in our industry even il these events do not directly affect us.

In the past. allowing periods of volatility in the market price of a companys securities. securities class action litigation has Allen been brought against
that company. llour stock price is volatile we may become the target olsecurities litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our
managements attention and resources from our business. and this could have a material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition.

Sales ofoutsnrmling shares four ClassA common slack into the marker ill rhefulure could cause the marker price four Class A common slack ro drop
Sigllui(llllf/y.

lleertain of our existing stockholders sell or indicate intent to sell substantial amounts four Class A common stock in the public market alter the
market standoff and other legal restrictions on resale lapse the trading price four Class A common stock could decline.

Pursuant to the stockholder agreement each of the Sponsors and Bob Parsons have agreed. subject to certain limited exceptions not to transfer sell
exchange assign pledge hypothecate convey or otherwise dispose odor encumber any shares four Class A common stock (including shares otClass A common
stock issuable upon the exchange otLLC Units) during the threeyear period following our IPO without the consent of each olKKR and Silver Lake for so long as
each ofKKR arid Silver Lake is entitled to nominate at least one director to our board of directors. If these additional shares are sold or init is perceived they will
be sold in the public market. the trading price of shares olour Class A common stock could decline.
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lfsecurilies analysts do riot publish research or reports about our business, or Ufhey downgrade our stock, the price of our stock could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock could be influenced by any research and reports securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. In the event securities analysts cover our company and one or more of these analysts downgrade our stock or publish unfavorable research about our
business our stock price would likely decline. lfonc or more of these analysts cease coverage four company or fail to publish reports on us regularly. demand for
our stock could decrease which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline

We doriot intend ro par dividends on our Class A common stock.

l

We do not expect to pay dividends to the holders four Class A common stock for the fOreseeable future. Our ability to pay dividends on our Class A
common stock is limited by our existing indebtedness and may be further restricted by the terms of any future debt incurred or preferred securities issued by us or
our subsidiaries or by law Payments of future dividends if any will be at the discretion four board of directors alter taking into account various factors
including our business operating results and financial condition current and anticipated cash needs plans tor expansion and any legal or contractual limitations on
our ability to pay dividends. As a result. any capital appreciation in the price four Class A common stock may be your only source of gain on your investment in
our Class A common stock.

If however, we decide to pay a dividend in the future we would need to cause Desert Neiveo to make distributions to Go Daddy Inc. in an amount
sufficient to cover such dividend. Deterioration in the consolidated financial condition. earnings or cash flow ofDcsert Ncwco for any reason could limit or impair
its ability to make distributions to us.

Additional Risks Relating to the Proposed Acquisition of NEG

The failure ro integrate successfully our businesses and operations with those ofllEG in the expected timeframe may adversely auect our future results.

On December 5. 2016 we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to purchase all of the outstanding shares otHEG and related loan notes for
approximately EUR 169 billion including approximately EUR 605 million to be paid to the selling shareholders and approximately EUR 1.08 billion in assumed
net debt subject to certain adjustments provided lOt in the Share Purchase Agreement (the Transaction). llistorically llF.G and we have operated as independent
companies and will continue to do so until we close the Transaction. Wc may face significant challenges In consolidating our functions with those of HER and its
subsidiaries. integrating our technologies organizations procedures policies financial reporting and operations as \veil as addressing differences iii the business
cultures of the two companies and retaining key personnel. The integration will be complex and time consuming and require substantial resources arid eflbrt. The
integration process and other disruptions resulting firm the Transaction may disrupt our ongoing operations or cause inconsistencies iii standards controls.
financial reporting procedures arid policies adversely affecting our relationships with our customers and other market participants employees regulators and
others with whom we have business or other dealings. In addition difficulties in integrating our businesses or regulatory fiinctions with those oflIEG could harm
our reputation.

Wewill incur transaction integration and restructuring costs in connection with the Transaction.

We expect to incur significant costs associated with the Transaction including transaction fees and professional services cots. We also expect to incur
integration and restructuring costs following the completion of the Transaction as we continue integrating operations. Although we expect that the realization of
efficiencies related to the Transaction will offset incremental transaction acquisition-related and restructuring costs over time this net benefit may not be achieved
in the near term or at all.

C(IlIsHI"lll{l(loll of the Transaction is subject to certain conditions that coulddelay completion of or terminate the Transaction.

Lonsummation of the Transaction is subject to certain conditions including ( ll the absence of any law or order in the United Kingdom Switzerland
Germany or Spain restraining enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Transaction (2) the receipt of the necessary merger control approvals
and/or clearances contemplated by the merger control rules of Germany and the United Kingdom (3) subject to specific standards the accuracy of certain
guarantees made by the Sellers and Loan Note llolders (as defined in the Share Purchase Agreement) (4) performance and compliance by the Sellers and Loan
Note Holders in all material respects with their respective obligations under the Share Purchase Agreement (5) the absence of a Company Material Adverse Effect
(as defined iii the Share Purchase Agreement) arid (6) the delivery otcertain financial statements ofHEG including financial statements for HEG audited in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
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Standards or IFRS and Generally Accepted Audited Standards, or GAAS and converted to GAAP and certain financial statements for HEGs PlusServcr managed
hosting business prepared on a standalone basis. Unlbreseen regulatory review could also delay the timing of the closing of the Transaction. The Transaction is
not contingent on our ability to procure debt financing and as such. if we are unable to draw down on the Acquisition Term Loan. we may not be able to secure
alternative sources of financing and we will be liable for the entirety of the purchase price

We will incur significant indebtedness in order to flounce the acquisition which may limit our operriringflexibilirv.

On February 15. 2017. we amended our credit facility to provide tor: (it a $l072.5 million sevenyear term Relinanccd Term Loan. (ii) a second
contingent 31425.0 million Acquisition Term Loan which is intended to provide a portion of the financing lOt our proposed acquisition ofHEG and (iii) a $l 500
million fiveyear Refinanced Revolving Credit Loan which will increase to $200.0 million upon the closing four acquisition ofHEG. We intend to finance the
acquisition using the Acquisition Term Loan and an asset sale bridge facility of up to EUR 500 million. The Acquisition Tenn Loan will be issued at a 0.25%
discount on the lace at original issue lOt net proceeds of$l.42 l .4 million in connection with the closing four proposed acquisition ofHFG. The Acquisition
Term Loan will mature in 2024 and will bear interest at a rate per annum ofLlBOR plus 2.50% If the closing olie acquisition has not occurred by April 3. 2017.
the Acquisition Tenn Loan \\ill begin to accrue interest at a rate per annum of l.25%. and if the closing of the acquisition has not occurred by April 16 2017. it
will begin to accrue interest at a rate per annum ofl.lB()R plus 2.50%.

We have received a lender commitment letter for the bridge facility which is subject to customary conditions including the consummation of the
transaction the accuracy of certain specified representations the absence of a Company Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the purchase agreement) with
respect to HEG. and other customary conditions. Terms of the bridge facility have not yet been finalized.

The incurrence of substantial indebtedness in connection with the financing of the proposed acquisition may have an adverse impact on our liquidity limit
our flexibility in responding to other business opportunities and increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions.
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Item IB. lnresolvetl Staff(fonin\ents

None

lteni 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters are located in Scottsdale Arizona and consist of approximately 153.000 square feet of owned office space We also own our

ofliecs in Hiawatha. Iowa. which consist of approximately 75.000 square feet used primarily tor Customer Care and product development. We lease addit ional

Customer Care centers and offices located throughout the U.S. as well as China. the Philippines Mexico India and the United Kingdom

Addit ionally. we provide our c loudbased products through data centers located in the US. and internationally inc luding an approximately 320.000

square foot data center we own and operate in Phoenix Arizona as well as addit ional capac ity in co- located data centers in Arizona CalifOrnia Illinois Virginia

Singapore and the Netherlands. which we occupy through leases which expire on various dates through 2026 .

We believe our existing fac ilit ies are suffic ient for stir current needs. in the future we may need to add new fac ilit ies and expand our existing fac ilit ies as

we add employees grow our intrastructurc  and evolve our business, and we believe suitable additional or substitute space will be available on commerc ially

reasonable terms to meet our future needs.

lteni 3. Legal Proc eedings

We are currently subject to lit igation inc idental to our business inc luding patent inliingemcnt lit igation and trademark infringement c laims as well as

putative c lass ac tions employment commerc ial and consumer protection c laims and other lit igation of a nonmaterial nature. Although the results olany such

current or future lit igation. regardless of the underlying nature of the c laims cannot he predicted with certainty the final outcome of any current or future c laims or

lawsuits we lace could adversely affect our business financ ial condition and results of operations.

Regardless of the final outcome defending lawsuits c laims and proceedings in which we arc  involved is costly and can impose a significant burden on

management and employees We may receive unfavorable preliminary or interim rulings in the course of lit igation and there can be no assurances that lavorable

final outcomes will be obtained.

Item 4. .\Linc Safety Disclosures l
l

l

Not applicable.
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Part ll.
\

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Class A common stock has traded on the NYSE under the symbol "GDDY" since April l 2015 the date four IPO Prior to our IPO there was no
public market for our Class A common stock The following table sets forth. for the period indicated the range of high and low sales prices per share four Class
A common stock as reported by the NYSE i

20152016

LowLowHigh Bligh

:Va

$24.15

21.04

24.41

$23.88

28.1 I

28.13

31.63

n/a

$33.00

29.84

35.35

s33.23

33.58

35.53

3740

First quarter

Second quarter

Third quarter

Fourth quarter

The closing sales price olour Class A common stock as reported by the NYSE on February 24 2017 was $36.96 per share

Stock Performance Graph

771e following performance graph cm related 1n/brInalIon shall not be deemed lo be "sollclllng material" or Wed"for proposes ofSecIIon /8 of the
Exchange .4 c1 nor shall such Injbrmallon he fncorparaled Irv reference into unyf/Ing of Gol)clddy Inc. under the Exchange Act or /he Secure/Iles ACI. except ro the
extent we specfcally incorporate II by reference in suchfllmg.

The graph sci forth below compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on our Class A common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of
the Standard & Poor's 500 Index (the S&P 500) and the Dow .loncs Internet Composite index (the DJ Internet Composite). An investment of$|00 (with
reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our Class A common stock and in each index on April l 2015 the date our Class A common stock
began trading on the NYSE and its relative performance is tracked through December 31 2016 . The returns shown arc based on historical results and are not
intended to suggest future perlOrmanec
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llo lders of Record

As of December 3 l. 2016 there were I I holders ofrecord four Class A common stock although we believe there are a significantly larger number of
beneficial owners olour Class A common stock because many shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf ofstockholders

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any dividends on our Class A common stock and do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future
lf however we decide to pay a dividend in the future we would need to cause Desert New co to make distributions to us in an amount sufficient to cover such
dividend. Il Descrt New co makes such distributions lo us the other holders of LLC Units will he entitled to receive pro rata distributions.

Our ability to pay dividends on our Class A common stock is limited by the covenants four indebtedness and may be ltinher restricted by the terms of
any fUture debt or preferred securities incurred or issued by us or our subsidiaries. See "Managements Discussion and Analysis of Finaneial Condition and Results
olOperations-Liquidity and Capital Resources in addition Desert New co is generally prohibited under Delavvare law from making a distribution to unit holders
(including us) to the extent that at the time of the distribution alter giving effect to the distribution liabilities olDesert New co (with certain exceptions) exceed
the lair value omits assets. Subsidiaries of Desert New co are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to Desert Ncwco.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

You should read the fOllowing selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing in Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

We were incorporated in May 2014 and pursuant to the organizational transactions described in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements became a
holding company whose principal asset is a controlling equity interest in Desert New co. As the sole managing member of Desert New co we operate and control
the business and affairs of Desert New co and its subsidiaries. As a result we consolidate Desert Newers financial results and report a noncontrolling interest
related to the portion ofDcsert New co not owned by us. Because the preIPO organizational transactions were considered transactions between entities under
common control the financial statements lOt periods prior to the IPO have been adjusted to combine the previously separate entities for presentation purposes.

The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31. 2016 . 2015 arid 2014 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 3 I. 2016 and 2015 arc derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing in "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data." The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 3 l 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated balance sheet data as
of December 31 2014 2013 and 2012 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 10K. Our historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in any future period.
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20122016

Year Ended December JI,

2015 2014 2013

(in millions, except share amounts which are reflected in thousands and per share
amounts)

9109s$ s1.8479 1.6078s $ 1387.3 1130.8

518.4

250.8

164.7

190.5

172.0

152.8

L4492

(61.9)

(85.0)

657.8
287.8
228.8
242. l
221 .2
160. I

17978
501

(57.2)

473.9
206.0
145.5
150.9
145.8
140.6

1262.7
(1319)

(71.0)

430.3

175.4

130.1

132.6

106.4

138.6

1,1 13.4
(2025)

(79.I)

565.9

270.2

202.2

2215

219.7

158.8

1.6385

(3 I (I)

(69.2)

(2 l .4 )

19
(20l.0)

l.l
(l99.9)

28

(279.3)

02

(279.l)

0.8
(l46. 1 )

2.8
(l43.3)

s

$

$

s

(\99.9) $

(L58) s

l.(l
(12066)

0.2
(l20.4)

(44.8)

(75.6) s

(0.81) s

(279.l)

(2.2 l)

(l2.5)
(1.9)

(21.5)

(0.4)

(21.9)

(5.4)

(I 6.5)

(0.21)

(l43.3) s

(l.ll) s

(onsolidatcd Statements olOperations Data:

Total revenue

Costs and operating expenses: (1)

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)

Technology and development

Marketing and advertis ing

Customer care

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense

Loss on debt extinguishment

Tax receivable agreements liability adjustment

Other income (expense) net

Loss before income taxes

(Provision) benefit tor Income taxes

Not loss

Less: rel loss attributable lo noncontrolling interests

Net loss attributable to GoDaddy inc

Net loss per share otClass A common stock-basic and diluted (2)

Weighted-average shares of Clas A common stock outstanding-basic

and diluted (2) 388263882679835 58676 38826

( l) Costs and operating expenses delude equitybased compensation expense as follows;

sss ss

I
I
I

I 6

1.6

0 3

8 2

Technology and development 23 2 18 n 104 4 7

Marketing and advertising 8. I 6. l 6. I 2.6

Customer care 3 9 2.9 0.8 0.6

General and administrative 21.6 13.2 12.8 8.5

(2) Amounts for periods prior to our [PO have been retrospectively 8d}us\ed to give effect to the proIPO organizational transactions described in Note 5 to our consolidated financial

statements The prior period amounts do not consider the 26000 shares of Class A common stock sold in our IPO See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements
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I)ecember3l,

2014 201220132016 2015

s sss

(in millions)

s 1390

425.6

220.9

3260.7
12506
1469.5
2.850.3

Consolidated Balance Shcct Data:

Cash and cash equivalents

Prepaid domain name registry fees

Properly and equipment. net

Total assets

Dctbrrcd revenue

Total debt u)

Total liabilities

595

373.8

1597

3027.7

90899

1,040.6

| 98l .6

348.0

456.3

225.0

33498.8

14 162

1083.5

2817 8

954

404.1

1832

32081

11086.2

1132.9

2337.6

566. l
479. I
231.0

3786.9
1.576.2
1,072.5
3072.7

l l ) Total debt includes longterm debt unamortized original issue discounts and unamomzed debt issuance costs

Key Metrics

In 2016. we modified our reporting practices to ensure compliance with recent SEC interpretations on the use of nonGAAP financ ial measures. As a

result we transit ioiicd away from the report ing four historical measure of Ac liusted EBITDA.

In addit ion to our results determined in accordance with GAAP we believe the operating metrics below arc  useful as supplements in evaluating our

ongoing operational pcrtOrmancc and help provide an enhanced understanding four business.

20122016

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013
I

K

!

s $ s 1249.6

10236

98

(unaudi!cd; in millions, except ARpl)

1.9142 s 1.6752 s l397.9

13774 12.709 1 1584

121 1 14 104

2 1 5 5 5

14740

180 ssS ss

Total bookings

Total customers at period end

Avcragc revenue per user

Tofu/ bookings . Total bookings represents cash receipts from the sale of products lo customers in a given period adjusted lOt products where we

recognize revenue on a net basis and without giving effect to certain adjustments primarily net refunds granted in the period. Total bookings provides valuable

insight into the sales olotir products and the performance otour business since we typically collect payment at the time of sale and recognize revenue ratably over

the term olour customer contracts We report total bookings without giving effect to refUnds granted in the period because refunds often occur iii periods different

from the period of sale tor reasons unrelated to the marketing eftbrts leading to the initial sale. Accordingly by exc luding net refunds. we believe total bookings

reflects the effectiveness olour sales efforts in a given period.

Total customers We define a customer as an individual or entity as of the end of a period having an account with one or more paid product

subscriptions. A single user may be counted as a customer more than once il the user maintains paid subscriptions in multiple accounts Total customers is an

indicator of the scale four business and is a critical factor in our ability to increase our revenue base.

. lverage revenue per user (ARPU) We calculate ARPU as total revenue during the preceding 12 month period divided by the average of the number of

total customers at the beginning and end of the period. ARPU provides insight into our ability to sell additional products to customers though the impact to date

has been muted due to our continued growth in total customers. The impact of purchase accounting adjustments makes comparisons ofARPU among historical

periods less meaningful.
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Reconciliation of Bookings

its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.The tbllowing table reconciles total bookings to total revenue

2012

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014 20132016

(unaudited; in millions)

S
-

. Js s 910.9

252.4

80.3

6.0

1.249.6s

1607 s 1387.3 s

165.9 166.4

137 8 116.2

3.2 5.3

s l9 l4 .2 l.(>75.2s

1130.8

169.1

96.1

1.9

s 1397.9 s

18479

163.5

141 9

22

2l55.5

Total bookings:
Total revenue
Change in deferred revenue "l

Net refunds

Other

Total bookings

( ll Change in deterred revenue also includes the impact of realized gains or losses from the hedging of bookings in foreign currencies.
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hem 7. and Analysis of Financial (Tondition and Results ofOperationsManagement's Discussion

.is

You should read the following discussion and analysis ofourfinancial condition and results ofoperat/ons together with our consolidatedjinanciol
statements and related notes included in "FinancialStatements and Supplementary Data. " Some of the u 1rmation contained in this discussIon and analysts.
including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business includesfo/svard/ooking statements involving signmcant risks and uncertainties.
a result ofmanyfactors such as those set/ortn fn "Risk Factors " our actual results may differ mater/ally.hom the results described in. or implied by these
Ionva/dlooking statements.

(Throughout this discussIon and analysts dollars are in millions. excluding ARPU or unless otherwise noted)
l

i

()vervicw

l

i

We are the global market leader in domain name registration. Securing a domain is a necessary lira step Io creating a digital identity and our domain
products often serve as the starting point iii our customer relationships. As of December 3 l 2016 approximately 93% four customers had purchased a domain
tram us and ac had approximately 63.5 million domains under management. According to VeriSign's Domain Name Industry Brief we had 10% of the worlds
domains registered as ol.lune 30 2016 . ll

l
l
l
l

We also offer hosting presence and business applications products and services enhancing our value proposition to our customers by enabling them to
create manage and syndicate their or their customers' digital identities. While these products are often purchased in conjunction with or subsequent to an initial
domain registration they are also lrequentlv the starting points in our customer relationships. As we have grown our hosting, presence and business applications
products have become increasingly important parts four business constituting 50% oltotal revenue in 2016 .

Financial Highlights

Below are our key financial highlights lOt the year ended December 3 l. 2016 All comparisons are to the year ended December 3 l 20lS

Total revenue 01$18479 million an increase of l 5.0% or approximately 16.7% on a constant currency basis to

International revenue of$497.8 million an increase ol20.0% or approximately 26.5% on a constant currency basis U*

Total bookings (2)of$2l55.5 million an increase of l 2.6% , or approximately 13.8% on a constant currency basis ii .

Total customers increased 7.0% to 14.7 million .

ARPU increased 6.8% to $130 .

Cash and cash equivalents were $566.1 million

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3865 million .

Capital expenditures were $6l .5 million

u(ii Discussion ofconslanl currency is selforrn in "Quant//alive and Quai/ralive Disclosures abou/ Marker Risk.

1:1 A reconciliation oflolul bookings lo late/ revenue /Is mos! direct/v comparable GAAPfnancm/ measure is selfo/I/1 In "Selected Financial Dale
Reconciliation of8ooking5. "
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Our Financial Model

We have developed a stable and predictable business model driven by efficient customer acquisition. high customer retention rates and increasing lifetime
spend. We grew our total customers from 12.7 million as olDecember 31 2014 to 14.7 million as olDecember 3 l 2016 primarily through a combination of
brand advertising direct marketing effOrts and customer referrals. In each of the five years ended December 3 l 20 l6 our customer retention rate exceeded 85%
and our retention rate lOt customers who had been with us lot over three years was approximately 90% . We believe the breadth and depth olour product olterings
and the high quality and responsiveness olour Customer Care team build strong relationships with our customers and are key to our high level oleustomer
retention.

We generate bookings and revenue tram sales of product subscriptions including domain products hosting arid presence offerings arid business
applications as described below. We offer our product subscriptions on a variety of terms which are typically one year but can range from monthly terms to
multiannual terms Rolup to ten years depending on the product. We monitor total bookings as we typically collect payment at the time of sale and recognize
revenue ratably over the tern olour customer contracts. Accordingly we believe total bookings is an indicator of the expected growth in our revenue and the
operating performance four business. See "Selected Financial Data---Reconciliation otBookings" for a reconciliation of total revenue to total bookings.

Domains We generated 50% four 2016 total revenue from the sale of domain products primarily from domain name registrations and renewals
domain addons such as privacy and aftermarket sales. Total revenue from domains products grew at a CAGR of l 1.4% over the three years ended December 31.
2016 .

Howling and Presence .We generated 37% of our 2016 total revenue tram the sale of hosting arid presence products primarily tram a variety ofwcb-
hosting oflCrings. website builder products SSL certificates and e-commerce products. These products generally have higher margins than conventional domain
sales Total revenue from hosting and presence products grew at a CAGR ola I 3% over the three years ended December 31 2016 .

8115111035 App//cations We generated 13% olour 2016 total revenue from the sale ofbusiness applications products. primarily from productivity tools
such as domainspecific email accounts. which generally also have higher margins than conventional domain sales Total revenue loom business applications
products grew at a CAGR of 45.4% over the three years ended December 31. 2016

I
I

Total revenue derived from each at"our product categories have increased in each of the last three years ended December 31 2016 with our hosting
presence and business applications products growing faster in recent periods. This mix shift has favorably impacted our margins.

In each of the five years ended December 3 l 2016 greater than 90% four total revenue excluding the impact of purchase accounting, was generated
by customers who were also customers in the prior year. To track our growth and the stability four customer base we monitor among other things revenue.
retention rates arid ARPU generated by our annual customer cohorts over time as well as corresponding marketing and advertising spend. Wc define an annual
customer cohort to include each customer who first became a customer during a calendar year. For example in calendar year 2010 we acquired 2.3 million
customers, who we collectively refer to as our 2010 cohort During the same time period we spent $94 million in marketing and advertising expenses. By the end
ol20l6 the 2010 cohort had generated an aggregate ol$ll04 million of total bookings and we expect this cohort will continue to generate bookings and revenue
in the future. For the five years ended December 31 2016 the average bookings retention rate of the 2010 cohort was approximately 94% . Over this period
ARPU excluding the impact ofpurehasc accounting for the 2010 cohort grew from $91 iii 2012 to $154 in 2016 representing a CAGR of 14% . We selected the
2010 cohort tor this analysis because we believe the 2010 cohort is representative of the spending patterns and revenue impact otour other cohorts. We believe our
cohort analysis is important to illustrate the longterm value four customers.
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Key .\metrics

As described in "Selected Financial Data." we monitor the following key metrics to help us evaluate our business and assess operational performance.
These metrics are supplemental to our GAAP results. A reconciliation of total bookings to total revenue its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure is
set Ii>rth in Selected Financial Data-Reconciliation olBookmgs. In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP we believe the following
operational measures are useful in evaluating our business:

2014

Year Ended December 31,

20152016

$

(unaudited; customers in thousands)

2155.5 $ 1.914.2 $ l675.2

14740 13774 12709

130 121 l 14ss s

Total bookings

Total customers al period end

Average revenue per user

Tore/ bookings .Total bookings increased 12.6% from $l9l4.2 million in 2015 to $2155.5 million in 2016 . This increase was primarily driven by an
7.0% increase in total customers since December 3 l 2015 a 3 l% increase in domains under management over the same period continued increases in
altcrinarket domain sales broadened customer adoption olsondoinains products and a higher growth rate associated with our increased international presence
partially offSet by the impact of adverse movements iii fOreign currency exchange rates.

Total bookings increased l4.3% from $l.6752 million in 2014 to $l9l42 million million in 2015 . This increase was primarily driven by an 8.4%
increase in total customers since December 3 l. 2014. a 4.6% increase in domains under management over the same period. broadened customer adoption ofnon-
domains products and a higher growth rate associated with our increased international presence partially offset by the impact of adverse movements in fOreign
currency exchange rates.

72/14/1 ctlslome/5.As olDeccmber 31 2016 . 2015 and 2014 we had 14740 13774 and 12709 total customers. respectively. Our customer growth
primarily resulted loom our increased international presence. our ongoing marketing and advertising initiatives and our enhanced and expanded product offerings.

Average revenue per user ARPU increased 6.8% from $l2l in 2()l 5 to $130 in 2016 and increased 6.3% tram $l 14 in 2014 to $l2l in 2015 primarily
due to broadened customer adoption four products resulting iii increased customer spend revenue from acquired businesses and to a lesser extent. the reduced
impact of purehase accounting adjustments. partially offset by the impact of adverse movements in tbrcign currency exchange rates.
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\
Results of Operations

i

i

i

The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the periods presented. The periodtoperiod comparison of financial results is not
necessarily indicative of ligature results.

l

Year Ended December 31,

2015

% of Total
Revenue

z014

% of Total
Revenue

2016

°/0of Total
Revenue sss

s s$ 550 %

36.6 %

8 4 %

100.0 %

52.3%

36.8%

109%

100.0%

502%

36.7%

13. l%

100.0%

8408

592.0

174.5

1607.3

927.8

678.7

24 I .4

1,847.9

763.3

507.9

I 16.1

1387.3

518.4
250.8
]647
190.5
172.0
152.8

1449.2
(610)

(85.0)

0.8
(l46.l)

2.8
(1433)

37.4 %

181 %

11.9 %

13.7%

12.4 %

11.0 %

104.5 %

(4.5)%

(6.l)%
--°/o
- %
0.1 %

(l0.5)%

0.2 %

(10.3)%

- %

(l0.3)%(l43.3)

35.2 %

16 8 %

12.6 %

13.8 %

13.7 %

().9 %

102.0 %

(2.0)%

(4.3)%

<l8>%

- %
0.1 %

(7.5)%

- %

(75)%

(2.8)°/o

(4.7)% $

Revenue

Domains

Hosting and presence

Business applications

Total revenue

Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)

Technology and development

Marketing and advertising

Customer care

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense

Loss on debt extinguishment

Tax receivable agreements liability adjustment

Other income (expense) not

Loss before income taxes

(Provision) benefit for income taxes

Net loss

Least net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net loss attributable to GoDaddy Inc.

657.8 35.6% 565.9

2878 15.5 % 270.2

228.8 12.4 % 202.2

242.1 13 % 2215

2212 120% 219.7

160.1 8.7% 158.8

1797.8 97.3 % 1638.3

50.1 2.7% (31.0)

(57.2) (3.1)% (69.2)

- - % (21.4)

(12.5) (0.7)% -
(1.9) (0.1)% 1.0

(21.5) (1.2)% (120.6)
(04) - % 0 2

(21.9) (1.2)% (1204)

(5.4) (0.3)% (44 8)

s (16.5) (0.9)% s (75.6)

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2016 . 2015 and 2014

Revenue

I

I

We generate substantially all four revenue from sales of product subscriptions including domain registrations and renewals hosting and presence
offerings and business applications. Our subscription terms are typically one year but can range loom monthly terms to multi-annual terms of up to ten years
depending on the product We generally collect the full amount of subscription lees at the time of sale but recognize revenue ratably over the applicable contract
term.

Domains revenue primarily consists of revenue from the sale oldomain registration subscriptions. domain add-ons and altennarket domain sales I)omain
registrations provide a customer with the exclusive use of a domain during the applicable contract term. Alter the contract term expires. unless renewed the
customer can no longer access the domain

Hosting and presence revenue primarily consists of revenue loom the sale olsubscriptions lOt our website hosting products website building products and
services online visibility products security products and an online store.

60



Table olContents

Business applications revenue primarily consists ofrevenue loom the sale of subscript ions for email accounts online calendar online data storage third-

pany productivity applicat ions and email marketing tools.

Revenue is presented net of refunds and we maintain a reserve to provide for relunds granted to customers. Our reserve is an estimate based on historical

refund experience. Refunds reduce deferred revenue at the time they are granted and result in a reduced amount of revenue recognized over the applicable

subscription terms compared to the amount originally expected.

The following table presents our revenue during the years ended December 3 l 2016 2015 and 2014

s s ss sDomains

Hosting and presence

Business applicat ions

Total revenue s

2015 to 2014

S change °/» change

77.5 10%

84.1 l 7%

584 50%

220.0 16%s s$s

2016 to 2015

S change % change

87.0 10%

86.7 15%

66.9 38%

240.6 15%

2016

927.8

678.7

241.4

1847.9

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014

840.8 763.3

592.0 507.9

174.5 I 16. I

1607.3 1387.3

20/6 compared to 20/5 1

Total revenue inc reased $240.6 million or l5.0%, from $l607.3 million in 2015 to $l847.9 million in 2016 . The inc rease was primarily driven by

growth in total customers and ARPU as well as revenue from acquired businesses. Total customers increased 0.9 million or 7.0% lrom 13.8 million as of

December 31 2015 to 14.7 million as otI)cccmbcr 31 2016 . The increase in customers impacted each four revenue lines as the addit ional customers purchased

subscriptions across our product porttblio.

Domains. Domains revenue inc reased $87.0 million or l 0.3% from $8408 million in 2015 to $927.8 million in 2016 . This inc rease was primarily

attributable to the 3. l% inc rease in domains under management from 61.6 million as of December Sl. 2015 to 63.5 million as of December 31. 2016 driven by

our international growth and strong renewals. Increased attermarkct domain sales driven by our recent domain portfolio acquisitions also contributed to the revenue

increase.

Hosting cmdpresence. Hosting and presence revenue increased $86.7 million or 14.6% from $592.0 million in 2015 to $678.7 million in 2016 The

increase was primarily attributable to a $54.0 million increase in revenue from our website hosting and website building products and services and a $26.8 million

increase in revenue from sales four security products.

8u.vme5.v app//canons . Business applicat ions revenue increased $66.9 million . or 38.3% from $174.5 million in 2015 to $24 l .4 million in 2016 These

increases were primarily driven by increased customer adoption of our expanded email and productivity solutions

2015 compared to 20/4

Total revenue inc reased $220.0 million or l5.9% t ram $L3878 million in 2014 t o $l6073 million in 2015 The increase was primarily driven by

growth in total customers and ARPU. Total customers inc reased ll million or 8.4% from 12.7 million as of December 31 2014 to 138 million as of

December 3 I 2015 . The increase in customers impacted each four revenue lines as the additional customers purchased subscriptions across our product

port tblio.

Domains . Domains revenue inc reased $77.5 million or 10.2°/n from $763.3 million in 2014 to $840.8 million in 2015 . lhc  inc rease was primarily

attributable to a $54.6 million increase iii revenue from domain registrations and renewals and a $l9.6 million increase in revenue from aftermarket domain sales.

Domains under management inc reased 4.6% , from 58.9 million as of Deccmber 3 l 2014 to 6 l .6 million as of December 3 l 2015 .

Hosting and presence. Hosting and presence revenue inc reased S84.l million or l 6.6% from $507.9 million in 2014 to $592.0 million in 2015 T he

increase was primarily attributable to a $47.0 million inc rease in revenue from our website host ing and website building products and a $22.4 million inc rease in

revenue lrom sales four security products.
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8u.riness app//canons .Business applications revenue increased $58.4 million or 50.3% loom $1 16.1 million in 2014 to $174.5 million in 2015 . lhesc
increases were primarily driven by our offering of expanded email and productivity solutions and increased customer adoption of our business applications
products.

Costs and Operating Expenses

Cos!of revenue

Costs of revenue are the direct costs ac incur iii connection with selling an incremental product to our customers. Substantially all cost ofrevcnue relates
to domain registration fees paid to the various domain registries. payment processing tees third-pany commissions and licensing fees for third-party productivity
applications. Similar to our billing practices we pay domain costs at the time of purchase for the life of each subscription but recognize the costs of service ratably
over the term four customer contracts. The terms ofrcgistry pricing are established by agreements between registries and registrars. and can vary significantly
depending on the TLD. We expect cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars in litture periods as we expand our domains business increase our sales olthird-
pany productivity applications. increase our customer base and expand our international presence. Cost of revenue may increase or decrease as a percentage of
total revenue depending on the mix of products sold in a particular period and the sales and marketing channels used.

S change

Cost of revenue

2015 to 2014

% change

9%

Year Ended December31,

2016 2015 2014

657.8 565.9 518.4

2016 to2015

S change % change

91 .9 l 6% 47.5$ $ s ss

20/6 compared lo 2015.Cost of revenue increased $9l.9 million or l 6.2% from $565.9 million in 2015 to $657.8 million in 2016 This increase was
primarily attributable to increased domain costs driven by the 3. 1% increase in domains under management. higher registration costs associated with many new
giLDS and increased aftcrmarket domain sales a $22.8 million increase in software licensing fees primarily related to increased sales ofemail and productivity
solutions increased third-pany commissions driven by increased aRermarkct domain sales as well as increased payment processing fees due to the overall
bookings increase.

20/5 compared lo 20/4 . Cost ofrcvenue increased $47.5 million or 92% . from $518.4 million in 2014 to $565.9 million in 2015 . This increase was
primarily attributable lo increased domain costs driven by the 4.6% increase in domains under management and higher costs associated with many new goLD
registrations a $l2.l million increase in software licensing tees primarily related to increased sales four email and productivity solutions and increased payment
processing fees due to the overall bookings increase.

Techno/ogv and development

Technology and development expenses represent the costs associated with the creation development and distribution four products and website. These
expenses primarily consist of personnel costs associated with the design development, deployment testing operation and enhancement of our products as well as
costs associated with the data centers and systems infrastructure supporting those products excluding depreciation expense.Weexpect technology and
development expense to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to enhance existing products develop new products and geographically diversify our data
center footprint. Technology and development expenses may increase or decrease as a percentage of total revenue depending on our level of investment in
additional personnel and the expansion four global infrastructure footprint. Our investments in additional technology and development expenses are made to
enhance our integrated technology inlraslructure and to support our new and enhanced product offerings and the overall growth four business.

s change

19.4s

2016 to 2015

% change

7%s

2015 to 2014

% change

8%s

s change

17.6

Year Ended December 31,

2016 20ls 2014

287.8 270.2 250.8 ssTechnology and development

i
20/6 compared Io 20/5 . Technology and development expenses increased $l7.6 million . or 65% from $2702 million in 2015 to $287.8 million in

20 la . This increase was primarily attributable to increased compensationrelated costs driven by increased average headcount associated with the continued
grovnh four business.
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20/5 comparer/10 20/4 Technology and development expenses increased Sl9.4 million or 7.7% from $250.8 million in 2014 to $270.2 million in
2015 . The increase was primarily attributable to increased compensationrelated costs including a $7.8 million increase in equitybased compensation. increased
data center rent related to the continued growth of our business and increased technologyrelated professional fees to support our internal development team and
expedite delivery of product enhancements to our customers.

A lurkelmg and advertising

Marketing and advertising expenses represent the costs associated with attracting and acquiring customers primarily consisting of tees paid to third
parties for marketing and advertising campaigns across television and radio search engines online display social media and spokesperson and event sponsorships
These expenses also include personnel costs and affiliate program commissions. We expect marketing and advertising expenses to fluctuate both in absolute dollars
and as a percentage oftotal revenue depending on the size and scope four future campaigns particularly related to new product introductions and the growth of
our international business

s change s change

s

Year Ended December31,

2016 2015 2014

228.8 202.2 164.7 37.5s

2015 to 2014

% change

23%26.6

21116to 2015

% change

13%$ $ sMarketing and advertising

2016 compared io 2015. Marketing and advertising expenses increased $26.6 million or 13.2% from $202.2 million in 2015 to $228.8 million in 2016
Thc increase was primarily attributable to increased discretionary advertising spend driven by our international growth and new product launches.

2(}I5 com/Jaredlo 20/4 . Marketing and advcnising expenses increased $375 million or 22.8%. from $1647 million in 2014 to $2022 million in 2015
The increase was primarily attributable to increased discretionary advertising spend driven by our international expansion.

l

Customer Care
\

Customer care expenses represent the costs to advise and service our customers primarily consisting of personnel costs. We expect these expenses to
increase in absolute dollars in the fUture as we expand our domestic and international Customer Care teams due to increases in total customers. We expect
Customer Care expenses to fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue depending on the level of personnel required to support the continued growth four business

s change

2016 to 2015

% change

Customer care 20.6 31.0

Year Ended December31,

2016 2015 2014

2421 221.5 190.5s 9%S

2015 to 2014

S change % change

l 6%ss s

20/6 compared lo 2015. Customer care expenses increased $20.6 million or 9.3% . loom $2215 million in 2015 to $242.l million in 2016 . The
increase was primarily due Io increased compensation-related costs associated with the continued growth four business as well as increased costs associated with
the continued expansion four international third-party Customer Care locations.

20/5 compared lo 20/4 Customer care expenses increased $3 l .0 million or 16.3% from $190.5 million in 2014 to $22l.5 million in 2015 The
increase was primarily due to increased compensation-related costs primarily driven by increased average headcount as well as incremental costs associated with
the continued expansion four international thirdparty CustomerCare locations.

General andadmin/slrullve

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs lOt our administrative functions professional service fees. office rent for all
locations all employee travel expenses acquisition-related expenses sponsorbased costs and other general costs. We expect general and administrative expenses
to increase in absolute dollars in the future as a result four overall growth increased personnel costs and public company expenses.
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In 2015 general and administrative expenses include $29.7 million of additional expenses related to certain payments made allowing the completion of
the IPO including $26.7 million paid to the Sponsors in connection with the termination of the transaction and monitoring fee agreement and $3.0 million paid to
Bob Parsons in connection with the termination of the executive chairman services agreement. Following these payments. we were no longer obligated to make
future payments under either of these agreements.

s change

47.7

2016 to 20 lS

% change

l%

s change

1.5

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014

221.2 2197 172.0

2015 to 2014

% change

28%General and administrative s s s ss

20/6 compared ro 2015.General and administrative expenses increased $1.5 million or 0.7% from $219.7 million in 2015 to $221.2 million in 2016
Excluding the termination payments discussed above general and administrative expenses increased $31.2 million or 16.4% loom $190.0 million in 2015 to
$221.2 million in 2016 . This increase was primarily due lo increased compensation-related costs (including $8 4 million of equitybased compensation expense)
driven by increased average headcount associated with the continued growth four business as well as a $9.9 million increase in acquisition-related expenses.

20/5 compared lo2014 . General and administrative expenses increased $47.7 million . or 27.7% from $172.0 million in 2014 to $219.7 million in
2015 . Excluding the termination payments discussed above general and administrative expenses increased $1800 million . or 10.5% . from $172.0 million in
2014 to $190 0 million in 2015 primarily due to an $1 1.3 million increase in legal and professional fees resulting from the resolution of outstanding claims as
well as tncreascd compensation~related costs driven by Increased average headcount.

Depreciation and amorli:allon

Depreciation and amortization expenses consist of charges relating to the depreciation of the property and equipment used in our business and the
amortization of acquired intangible assets. Depreciation and amortization may increase or decrease in absolute dollars in future periods depending on our tincture
level of capital investments in hardware and other equipment as well as amortization expense associated with future acquisitions.

s change

2016 to2015

% change

10/0

2015 to 2014

% change

1°o6 0$

s change

1.3

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014

l(>0.l 158 8 152.8s s$ sDepreciation and amortization

I

There were no material changes in depreciation and amortization expense.

i
I

I

Interest expense

$

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014

57.2 69.2 85.0$ $ $lnlercsl expense

2016 to 2015

% change

(I7)%

s change

$ (12.0)

2015 to 2014

% change

( la)%

S change

(15.8)

Interest expense decreased $12.0 million or 17.3% from $69.2 million in 2015 to $57.2 million in 2016 and decreased $15.8 million . or 18.6% from
$85.0 million in 2014 to $69.2 million in 2015 primarily driven by interest savings resulting from our repayment of the $300.0 million senior note to YAM in
April 2015.

Losson deb! ex!/nguls/1//len!

In April 2015 we recognized a $21 4 million loss on debt extinguishment as a result of the repayment olthe senior note to YAM which consisted ola
prepayment premium ol$l 3.5 million and the writeoflol$7.1 million of unamortized original issue discount and $0.8 million of deferred debt issuance costs.
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Liquidity and (Tap ital Resources

Overview

Other than the receipt of proceeds from our IPO in April 2015 our principal sources of liquidity have been cash flow generated from operations long
term debt borrowings and stock option exercises. Our principal uses of cash have been to fund operations acquisitions and capital expenditures as well as make
distributions to holders of LLC Units interest payments and mandatory principal payments on our longterm debt.

In general. we seek to deploy our capital iii a systematically prioritized manner focusing first on requirements for operations then on growth investments
arid finally on equity holder returns. Our strategy is to deploy capital loom any potential source whether debt equity or internally generated call depending on the
adequacy and availability of the source of capital and which source may he used most efficiently arid at the lowest cost at such time. Theretbre while cash from
operations is our primary source ofopcrating liquidity and we believe our intemallvgenerated cash flows are sufficient to support our daytoday operations we
may use a variety of capital sources to fund our needs for less predictable investment decisions such as strategic acquisitions and share repurchases.

We have incurred long-temi debt. including under the Credit Facility described below to LUnd acquisitions and for our working capital needs As a result
olour debt we are limited as to how we conduct our business and we may he unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take
advantage of new business opportunities strategic acquisitions or share repurchases. However the restrictions under our Credit Facility are subject to a number al
qualifications and may be amended with lender consent.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents arid internallygenerated cash flows will be suflicicnt to infect our anticipated operating cash needs for
at least the next 12 months. However our future capital requirements will depend on litany factors including our growth rate the timing and extent of spending to
support domestic and international development eflbrts continued brand development and advertising spend. the expansion of Customer Care arid general and
administrative activities. the introduction of new and enhanced product offerings the costs to support new and replacement capital equipment the completion of
strategic acquisitions or share repurchases. Should we pursue strategic acquisitions or share repurchases we may need to raise additional capital which may be in
the lOrd of additional longtemi debt or equity linancings.

Agreemeul to Acquire HEG

On December 5. 2016 we entered into an agreement to purchase all shares in HEG and certain loan notes issued by Host Europe Finance Co. Limited.
Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement and subject to the conditions therein on the closing dale we will purchase all olie outstanding shares off lEG

and the related loan notes for approximately EUR 1.69 billion including approximately EUR 605 million paid to the selling shareholders and approximately EUR
1.08 billion in assumed net debt subject to certain specified adjustments.

l

l

i

i
l
\

We expect to complete the acquisition of HEG in the second quarter of20l 7. Consumination of the transaction is subicct to certain customary closing
conditions. including obtaining all required regulatory approvals The purchase agreement may he terminated at any time prior to the closing date by mutual
written consent of the parties and under certain other conditions including in the event the transaction is not consummated by December 5 2017 .

We intend to finance the acquisition using the Acquisition Term Loan discussed belove and an asset sale bridge facility of up to EUR 500 million We
have received a lender commitment letter lOt the bridge facility which is subject to customary conditions including the consummation of the transaction the
accuracy of certain specified representations the absence of a Company Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the purchase agreement) with respect to l 1EG and
other customary conditions. Terms of the bridge facility have not yet been finalized.

Credit Facility

As otDecember 3 l 2016 our Credit Facility consisted of the $l100.0 million Tenn Loan maturing on May 13. 202] and the available $ 150.0 million
Revolving Credit Loan maturing on May 13 2019 as described in Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements.

The Credit Facility is subject to customary fees for loan facilities of this type including a commitment tee on the Revolving Credit Loan. The Teml Loan
is acquired to be repaid in quarterly installments ol0.25% olie original principal. with
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the remaining balance due al maturity The Term Loan must be repaid with proceeds from certain asset sales and debt issuances and with a portion oI our excess
cash flow. up to 50.0% depending on our rel leverage ratio. The Credit Facility is guaranteed by all of our material domestic subsidiaries and is secured by
substantially all four and such subsidiaries' real and personal property

Thc Credit Facility contains covenants restricting. among other things. our ability. or the ability four subsidiaries Io incur indebtedness issue certain
types of equity incur liens enter into fundamental changes including mergers and consolidations sell assets make restricted payments including dividends
distributions and investments. prepay junior indebtedness make certain intercompany distributions and engage in operations other than iii connection with acting
as a holding company subject to customary exceptions. The Revolving Credit Loan also contains a financial covenant requiring us to maintain a maximum net
leverage ratio oI7.25: I .00 at all times our usage exceeds 300 % of the maximum capacity. The net leverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of First lien secured debt
less cash and cash equivalents to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facility). As otDecember 31. 2016 we were in compliance with all such
covenants and we had no amounts drawn on the Revolving Credit Loan.

Credit Facilirv Refinancing

On February 15. 2017 we refinanced the Credit Facility to provide for; i) a $l072.5 million seven year term loan. ii) a second contingent $l425.0
million tranche which is intended to provide a portion of the financing for our proposed acquisition ofHEG and iii) a $I50.0 million five -year revolving credit
facility which will increase to $2000 million upon the closing four acquisition off lEG. See note 18 to our consolidated Financial statements lOt additional
information

Tax Receivable Agreements

As described in Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-Payable to Related Parties Pursuant lo the TRAs" we are a party to five TRAs.

our liability under the TRAs was $l 51.6 million During 2016 ac increased this liability through I) a $385 millionAs otDecember Sl 2015 . . .
reduction of additional paid-in capital resulting from the completion of the April 20 la secondary offering in which certain Desert New co owners exchanged an
aggregate of 10.382 Ll:C Units (together with the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) for an equivalent number ofsharcs four Class A common
stock and 2) a $12 5 million charge to our consolidated statement of operations which was primarily due to: i) an increase in our ownership ofDescn Ncwco ii)
the finalization of Desert Nev co's 20 l5 taxable income allocated to us and iii) changes in estimated 2016 taxable income. As of December 3 l. 2016 the liability
under the TRAs was $202.6 million representing approximately 85% of the calculated tax savings based on the portion of the original basis adjustments (OBAs)
we anticipate being able to utilize in future years.

We have determined it is morelikelythannot we will be unable to utilize all four DTAs subject to the TRAs; therefore. we have not recorded a liability
under the TRAs related to the tax savings we may realize from the utilization olNOL earrylOmards and the amortization related to basis adjustments under Code
Section 754 created by exchanges of LLC Units. l utilization olthese DTAs becomes more-likely-than-not in the future at such time we will record liabilities
under the IRAs of up to an additional $169.8 million as a result of basis adjustments under Code Section 754 and up to an additional $l48.0 million related to
NOL and credit carry forwards which will be recorded through charges to our consolidated statement of operations However. if these tax attributes are not utilized
in future years it is reasonably possible no amounts would be paid under the TRAp. In this scenario the reduction of the liability under the TRAs would result in a
benefit to our consolidated statemcm of operations.

We may record additional liabilities under the TRAs when LLC Units are exchanged in the future and as our estimates of the future utilization of the lax
attributes NOLs and other tax benclits change. We expect to make payments under the TRAs to the extent they are required. within 150 days alter our federal
income tax return is filed tr each fiscal year. Interest on such payments will begin to accrue from the due date (without extensions) ofsueh tax return at a rate
equal to the one year LIBOR plus 100 basis points. Under the TRAs to avoid interest charges. we have the right but not the obligation, to make TRA payments in
advance of the date the payments are otherwise due. We currently do not expect to begin making payments related to the existing liability under the TRAs until
2018 . See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of this liability.

Because we are a holding company with no operations we rely on Desert New co to provide us with lands necessary to meet any financial obligations. If
we do not have sufficient ltinds to pay TRA. tax or other liabilities or to fund our operations (as a result ofDcserl Neweos inability to make distributions to us due
to various limitations and restrictions or as a result of the acceleration four obligations under the lRAs). we may have to borrow funds and thus our liquidity and
financial condition
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could be materially and adversely affected. To the extent we are unable to make payments under the TRAs for any reason such payments will be deferred and will
accrue interest at a rate equal tn one year LIBOR plus 500 basis points until paid.

Tax Disrribulions ro Desert lVeweo's Owners

i

l

l

l

l

Tax distributions are required under the terms of Desert Ncwcos limited liability company agreement. Any required payments are calculated each quarter
based on a number of variables including Desert Nev co's taxable income or loss allocations of taxable income among Desert Nev co's owners based on principles
detailed within the Treasury Regulations tax deductions for stock option exercises and vested RSUs and changing ownership percentages among Desert Nev co's
owners In addition under the tax rules Desert New co is required to allocate taxable income disproportionately to its unit holders Because tax distributions arc
determined based on the holder of LL(. Units who is allocated the largest amount of cumulative taxable income on a per unit basis but are made pro rata based on
ownership Desert New co is required to make tax distributions that in the aggregate will likely exceed the amount of trites Desert New co would have otherwise
paid.

During 2016 Desert New co paid total distributions to Desert Nev co's owners ofSl8.4 million based on ownership as of the various payment dates as
follows: $7.3 million to YAM $4.1 million to SLP $39 million to KKR $2.2 million to TVC and $09 million Io other Desert New co owners Distributions paid
in 2015 and 2014 were not material

As of December 3 l. 2016 we have accrued $l0.0 million for estimated tax distributions to Desert Nev cos owners excluding us which is included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Following the finalization of 20l6 taxable income allocated to each Descry New co owner. these distributions will be
paid by April 2017 to the Sponsors Bob Parsons arid other Desert New co owners based on their ownership as of the payment dates.

(Tosh Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows lOt the periods indicated

2014

sss 180.6

(l07.3)

12971

2016

386.5

(183.4)

15.1

(0.1)
21811

Year Ended December JI

2015

2592

(144.4)

94.4

(0.2)

209 0s s$ 43.6

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Operating Activities

Our primary source of cash from operating activities has been cash collections from our customers. We expect cash inflows from operating activities to be
primarily affected by increases in total bookings Our primary uses of cash from operating activities have been for domain registration costs paid to registries,
personnel costs discretionary marketing and advertising costs technology and development costs and interest payments. We expect cash outflows from operating
activities to be affected by the timing of pavments we make to registries and increases in personnel and other operating costs as we continue to grow our business
and increase our international presence.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $127.3 million from $259.2 million during 2015 to $386.5 million during 2016 driven by an $8l.1
million improvement in our operating income (loss) and a $12.6 million reduction in interest payments primarily resulting from the repayment of a senior note to
YAM in April 2015.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $78.6 million from $180.6 million during 2014 to $259.2 million during 2015 which includes $29.7
million of payments made iii connection with the termination of certain agreements with the Sponsors and Bob Parsons following the completion of the IPO. This
increase was primarily due to a $3099 million improvement in our operating loss a Sl6.3 million decrease in interest payments resulting from the repayment of
debt following the IPO and the payment in 2014 of$l 7.2 million br prior period sales taxes.
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In vesting A dl vifies

Our investing activities primarily consist of strategic business acquisitions and purchases of property and equipment related to growth in our data centers
and to support the overall growth four business and our increased international presence. We expect our investing cash flows to be afteeted by the timing of
payments we make tr capital expenditures and the strategic acquisition or other growth opportunities we deeidc to pursue.

Net cash used in investing activities increased $3900 million from $144.4 million during 2015 to $1834 million during 2016 This increase was primarily
due to a $53.8 million increase in cash paid for business acquisitions and a S 5.7 million increase in capital expenditures partially olTsct by S 23.5 million of
intangible assets purchases in 2015

Net cash used in investing activities increased $37.l million lorn $107.3 million during 2014 to $1444 million during 2015 . This increase was primarily
due to a $24.0 million increase in cash paid lOt business acquisitions and $28.5 million iii purchases of intangible assets in 2015 partially offset by a $l2.l
million decrease in capital expenditures.

Financing Aeriv iries

Excluding our IPO proceeds our financing activities primarily consist of the receipt of proceeds from the issuance oblong-term debt. the repayment of
principal on long-term debt stock option activity and the payment of tax distributions to holders olLLC Units

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $79.3 million from $9444 million during 2015 to $15.1 million during 2016 . This decrease was
primarily due lo the receipt ofnct IPO proceeds ofS482.4 million in 2015 and an $l8.0 million increase in tax distribution payments. partially offset by the
repayment oblong-term debt ofS375.0 million in 2015 the payment ofdcbt cxtinguishmem fees of SI 3.5 million in 2015 and a $35.8 million increase in
proceeds received from stock option and warrant exercises arid our employee stock purchase plan.

Net cash front financing activities increased $l24.l million from $29.7 million used in financing activities during 2014 to $94.4 million provided by
financing activities during 2015 . This increase was primarily due to the receipt of net IPO proceeds of$482.4 million in 2015 and distributions o1$349.0
million paid to Desert Ne\veos unit and option holders in 2014. partially offset by additional repayments oblong-term debt ol$378.4 million (primarily loom debt
repayments made with our IPO proceeds) arid long-term debt borrowings of $338.8 million iii 2014

Deferred Revenue
l

Deferred revenue consists of sales four products not yet recognized as revenue at the end of a period. Our deterred revenue as of Deccmber 3 l 2016
was $l1576.2 million and is expected to be recognized as revenue as follows:

2018 2021

s s s s s SsDomains

Hosting and presence

Business applications

153 6

104.5

36.2

294.3S S

2020

39.1
11.1
4.6

548s

2019

65.9

38.5

13 7

118.1 S $

2017

531.2
370.8
141.5

1043.5

22.1
4.6
2 0

28.7 s

Thereafter Total

30.4 842.3

4.7 534.2

I 7 199.7

36.8 s 1576.2
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our material contrac tual obligat ions and commitments as of December 3 I 2016

I year 5+ years

s $s s

12.2
149

11.0
46.2

3.2

28.6

6.8

9.7

127. I

(8)

Payments due by period

2-3 years 4-5 years

22 0 1039.5

90.6 60.9

6.4 7.0

32.0 9.4

4.2

6.6

37.5

(8)

1.4

38.0

(8)

Longterm debt inc luding current maturit ies t i)

Interest on longterm debt (2)

Lease linancmg obligation (3)

Operating leases W

Capital leases 15)

Service agreements (Gt

TRA pavmcnts *7)

Tax distributions to Desert Nev co's owners ts) 10.0

l l )

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

(8)

See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements tor intimation regarding (he lams four longterm debt agreements.
Interest on longtemi debt excludes (he amortization of deterred debt issuance costs and original issue discounts.
See Note I() to our consolidated financial statements for inforinauon regarding the terms four lease financing obligation
We leaseoflice space. data center space (including commitments for specified levels of power) and vehicles under operating leases expiring at various dates through September 2026 .
We lease certain computer equipment and sotlware under capital leases The lease payments above include the amounts representing interest
We have longterm agreements with certain vendors to provide tor sotlware and equipniem maintenance. specified levels of bandwtdth and other scrvtces.
Reflects the estimated timing ofTRA payments as of December 31 2016 . Such payments could be due later than estimated depending on the timing four use of the underlying tax
attributes As of December 31 2016 we have recorded a liability ofS"02 6 million payable to the related parties under the TRAs reflecting lUnitauons on the use of the favorable tax
attributes due to limitations of taxable income The estimated amounts payable under the TRAs do not consider any future exchanges of LLC Units Such future exchanges will have a
material impact on our liability under the TRAs. See "Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Company and Our Organizational Stricture and Note 13 to our audited consolidated financial
statements tor additional information regarding our liability under the TRAs.
Tax distributions are required under the terms of the New LLC Agreement As of December 31 2016 . we have accrued S 10.0 million for estimated tax distributions to Desert Nev cos
owners excluding us Following the finalization ol20l6 taxable income allocated to each Desert New co owner. these distributions will be paid by April 2017 ro the Sponsors. Bob Parsons
and other Desert New co owners based on their ownership as of the payment dates Tax distributions beyond 2016 have not been presented due to the uncertainty of whether or not such
distributions will be required and significant variability in the factors impacting the amounts we will be required to pay in those future periods. See Note 16 to our audited consolidated
financlal statements for additional information regarding tax distributions.

Of fBalanc e Sheet  Arrangement s
l
i

As oIDecember 3 I 2016 and 2015 we had no ott-balance sheet arrangements that had or which are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our

consolidated financ ial statements.

(T rit ic al Ac c ount ing Polic ies and list imates

We prepare our consolidated financ ial statements in accordance with GAAP and in doing so we have to make estimates assumptions and judgments

affecting the reported amounts of assets. liabilities revenues and expenses as well as the related disc losure of contingent assets arid liabilities. We base our

estimates assumptions and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors we believe to be reasonable under the c ircumstances. and we evaluate

these estimates assumptions and judgments on an ongoing basis. Different assumptions and judgments would change the estimates used in the preparation olour

consolidated financ ial statements which in turn. could change our results loom those reported We refer to estimates assumptions and judgments of this type as

our crit ical accounting polic ies and estimates. which we discuss further below. We review our crit ical accounting polic ies and estimates with the audit committee

olour board oldirec tors on as annual basis.

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for a summary four significant accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue over the period during which products or services are delivered to the customer. Customers are billed lOt products generally in
advance based on their selected contract term duration For all customers regardless of the method we use to bill them cash received in advance olie provision

of products is recorded as deferred revenue.

i
I

69



Table of Contents

We commence revenue recognition when all of the following conditions are sattsfiedi

there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

the service has been or is being provided lo the customer;

the collection of the fees is reasonably assured; and

the amount offices to he paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

Wc may sell multiple products Io customers at the same lime. For example. we may design a customer website and separately after other products such as
hosting and an online shopping can or a customer may combine a domain registration with other products such as private registration or email. Revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables arc divided into separate units of accounting if each deliverable has standalone value to the customer. The majority four
revenue arrangements consist of multiple-element arrangements. with revenue for each unit of accounting recognized as the product or service is delivered to the
customer.

Consideration is allocated to each deliverable at the inception of an arrangement based on relative selling prices We determine the relative selling price
for each deliverable based on our vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price (VSOE). itavailable. or our best estimate olselling price (BESP) if VSOE is
not available. We establish VSUF lOt certain four products when a consistent number of standalone sales ofthese products have been priced within a reasonably
narrow range. We are unable to establish VSOE when we lack pricing consistency primarily related to our marketing strategies and variability in pricing due to
promotional aetivitv.

Our process for determining BESP requires judgment and considers multiple factors that may vary over time depending upon the unique facts and
circumstances related to each deliverable. For products where VSOE is not available we determined BESP by considering our overall pricing objectives and
market conditions. Significant factors taken into consideration include historical and expected discounting practices. the size volume and term length of
transactions customer demographics. the geographic areas in which our products are sold and our overall gotomarket strategy.

We have determined thirdparty evidence otselling price (TPE) is not a practical alterative due primarily to the significant variability among available
third-party pricing information for similar products and differences in the features four product offerings compared to other parties

We sell our products directly to customers and also through a network olresellers. In certain cases we act as a reseller olproducts provided by others.
The determination of gross or net revenue recognition is reviewed on a product by product basis and is dependent on whether we act as principal or agent in the
transaction.I

i
I We maintain a reserve to provide for reliinds granted to customers. Our reserve is an estimate based on historical refund experience. RefUnds reduce

deterred revenue at the time they are granted and result in a reduced amount ofrevenue recognized over the contract term of the applicable product compared to
the amount originally expected. Our annual refund rate has ranged from 6.6% to 7.2% ottotal bookings from 2()l4 to 2016 .

See Notes 2 and 7 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding revenue recognition and deferred revenue.

EquityBasezl Compensation

Our equitybased awards arc comprised ofoptions and restricted stock units (RSUs) and are accounted for using the Pair value method. We grant options
at exercise prices equal to the fair market value four Class A common stock as reported on the NYSE on the date of grant We measure and recognize
compensation expense for equitybascd awards made to employees and directors based on the grant date lair values of the awards. RSUs are measured based on the
lair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. For options with service or perfOnnancebased vesting conditions the grant date fair value
is estimated using the Black-Seholes optionpricing model which requires management to make assumptions and apply judgment in determining the grant date fair
value.

The most significant assumptions and judgments include estimating the expected option term the expected volatility four ClassA common stock and
the riskfree interest rates. The assumptions used in our option pricing model represent managements best estimates. If factors change and different assumptions
are used. our equitybased compensation expense could be materially different in the future.
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In addition to the above assumptions we also estimate a forfeiture rate for our awards which is based on an analysis ofhistorieal forfeitures. We will
continue to evaluate the appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based on our actual forfeiture experience. analysis of employee turnover and other factors Changes in
our estimated forfeiture rate can have a significant impact on our equitybased compensation expense since the cumulative effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate is
recognized in the period in which the estimate is changed. If a revised forfeiture rate is higher than the previously estimated forfeiture rate an adjustment is made
resulting in a decrease to the equitybased compensation expense previously recognized. If a revised forfeiture rate is lower than the previously estimated forfeiture
rate. an adjustment is made resulting in an increase to the equitybased compensation expense previously recognized.

On a quarterly basis. we estimate when and if performance-based awards will be earned Equitybased compensation expense is recognized only lOt
awards considered probable offing earned. The grant date fair value of each award ultimately expected to vest is recognized as equitybased compensation
expense net ofestimatcd forfeitures over the requisite service period.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the assumptions related to our equity-based awards on a prospective basis. As we continue to accumulate
additional data related to our awards. we may refine our estimates which could materially impact our future equitybased compensation expense.

See Notes 2 and 6 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding equitybased compensation.

Business Combinations

We include the results of opcrations of acquired businesses in our consolidated financial statements as of the respective dates of acquisition. Accounting
for business combinations requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions. especially at the acquisition dale with respect to tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and preacquisition contingencies. The purchase price of acquisitions including estimates of the lair value of contingent
consideration when applicable is allocated to the tangible arid intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the
respective acquisition dates. with the excess recorded as goodwill. We use our best estimates and assumptions to accurately assign fair value to the tangible and
intangible assets acquired arid liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The estimates are inherently uncertain and subject Io refinement. We continue to collect
information and reevaluate these estimates and assumptions quarterly and record any adjustments to the preliminary estimates to goodwill provided we are within
the measurement period Contingent consideration is adjusted to fair value in subsequent periods as an increase or decrease in general and administrative expenses.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

See Notes 2 and 3 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding business combinations.

Goodwill and indefinite-Livev IntangibleAssets

We make estimates assumptions and judgments when valuing goodwill and other intangible assets in connection with the initial purchase price
allocations olacquired businesses. as well as when evaluating the recoverability olour goodwill and other intangible assets on an ongoing basis. We assess our
goodwill and indefinitelived intangible assets lOt impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter. We will also perform an assessment at other times isand
whenevents or changes iii circumstances indicate the carrying value olthese assets may not be recoverable.

I

We first make a qualitative assessment of whcther it is morelikelythan-not our single reporting units fair value is less than its carrying value to
determine whether it is necessary to perform the twostep impairment test. The qualitative assessment includes considering various factors including
macroeconomic conditions industry and market conditions and our historical and projected operating results. We are only required to pertbrm the two-step
impairment test if our qualitative assessment determines our single reporting units lair value is not greater than its carrying value. We may elect to perform the
twoslcp impairment test without considering such qualitative factors.

Our qualitative analyses during 2016 2015 and 2014 did riot indicate any impainnent of our goodwill arid indefinitelived intangible assets and
accordingly no impairment was recorded. As of December 3l 2016 we believe such assets are recoverable; however there can be no assurances these assets will
not be impaired in luture periods. Any future impairment charges could adversely impact our consolidated results of operations.
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See Notes 2 and 4 to our consolidated financial statements for additional intimation regarding goodwill and indctinitc-lived intangible assets.

[IICOM8 Taxes

I

Wc are subject to federal and state income taxes. In addition we may be subject to taxes in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. We arc a
controlling member in Desert New co, which has been, and will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. income tax purposes. Under these provisions
Desert New co is considered a pass-through entity and generally does not pay income taxes on its taxable income in most jurisdictions. Instead. Desert Ncwco's
members otwhich we are one, are liable for income taxes based on their taxable income. Desert New co is liable for income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions
in those states not recognizing its passthrough status and for certain subsidiaries not taxed as passthrough entities. We have acquired the outstanding stock of
various entities taxed as corporations which are now wholly-owned by us or our subsidiaries and arc treated as a consolidated group for federal income tax
purposes Where required or allowed. these subsidiaries also tile as a consolidated group lOt stale income tax purposes.

l
i
I

We account for income taxes under the asset arid liahilit) method. which requires the recognition of DlAs and DTLs for the expected future tax
consequences of events included m the financial statements. Under this method. we determine DTAs and l)TLs on the basis of the differences between the
financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs and DTLs is recognized in income in the period in which the enactment date occurs.

We recognize DTAs to the extent we believe these assets are more-likelythan-not to be realized. In making such a determination we consider all
available positive and negative evidence including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences projected future taxable income tax planning
strategies and recent results of opcrations

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only init is morelikelythannot the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities based on the technical merits of the position The tax benefits recognized from such positions are measured based on the largest benefit having a greater
than 50 % likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement

See Notes 2 and 12 lo our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding income taxes.

Pmable to Related Parties Pursuant to the TR.4.v

We are a party to five TRAs. Under four of these agreements we are generally required to pay to certain pre-IPO owners approximately 85% of the
amount of calculated tax savings if any we arc deemed to realize (using the actual applicable federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local
income lax rate) as a result of(l) any existing tax attributes associated with LLC Units acquired in the pre-IPO organizational transactions. the benefit ofvvhich is
allocable to us as a result of such transactions (including the allocable share of Desert Nev cos existing tax basis in its assets), (2) NOLs available as a result of the
such transactions and (3) tax bcnctits related to imputed interest.

Under the fifth of these agreements we are generally required to pay our other preIPO owners approximately 85% ofthe amount of the calculated tax
savings if any, we arc deemed to realize (using the actual applicable federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate) as a result
of( I) any step~up in tax basis created as a result of exchanges of their LLC Units (together with the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) for shares of
our Class A common stock (2) any existing tax attributes associated with their LLC Units the benefit of which is allocable to us as a result of such exchanges
(including the allocable share off)cscn Ncwcos existing tax basis in its assets) (3) tax benefits related to imputed interest and (4) payments under the TRA

When LLC Units are exchanged we receive certain tax attributes. including the OBAs created from the original acquisition of the LLC Units plus any
anticipated basis adjustments. Thc OBAs entitle us to the depreciation and amortization previously allocable to the original owner of such units. The anticipated
basis adjustments will increase for lax purposes our depreciation and amortization deductions. To the extent these deductions are used to reduce our taxable
income thereby resulting in actual tax savings. we will be required to pay the original owners approximately 85% of such savings which is recorded as an
additional liability under the lRAs. This increase in tax basis also creates additional DTAs arid may also decrease gains or increase losses on future dispositions
of certain assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those assets.

72



Table olContents

For purposes of calculating the income tax savings we are deemed to realize under the TRAs we will calculate the federal income lax savings using the
actual applicable federal income tax rate and will calculate the state and local income tax savings using 5% for the assumed combined state and local tax rate
which represents an approximation of our combined state and local income tax rate net oflederal income lax benefits

The term of the TRAs commenced upon the completion of our IPO and will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expire. unless we
exercise our rights to terminate the agreements or payments under the agreements are accelerated in the event we materially breach any four material obligations
l.ll\dcl the agreements.

In the Investor Corp Mergers we received certain tax attributes including the OBAs and NOL carrylOrwards. from the Reorganization Parties which
entitle us to the depreciation and amortization previously allocable to the Reorganization Parties. These deductions are allowed price to the utilization of any NOL
or tax credit carrylOrwards against income taxes

Based on current projections of taxable income and before deduction olany specially allocated depreciation and amortization we anticipate having
enough taxable income to utilize a portion of these specially allocated deductions related to the OBAS Accordingly. as of December 3 l 2016 and 2015 our
liability under the TRAs was $202.6 million arid $l5 l .6 million respectively.

The projection of fUture taxable income involves significant judgment Actual taxable income may differ from our estimates which could significantly
impact the liability under the TRAs If these additional depreciation arid amortization deductions are greater than our taxable income the excess deductions
allocated to us will increase the amount four NOL carry fOrwards We have detennined it is morelikely-than- not we will be unahlc to utilize all four DTAs
subject to the TRAs; therefore we have not recorded a liability under the TRAs related to the tax savings we may realize from the utilization of fOL
carrylbrwards and the amortization related to basis adjustments under Code Section 754 created by exchanges of LLC Units. l utilization of these DIAs becomes
more-likelythan-not in the lliture. at such time we will record liabilities under the TRAp of up to an additional $169.8 million as a result of basis adjustments
under Code Section 754 arid up to an additional $1480 million related to the utilization of fOL and credit carry forwards which will be recorded through charges
to our consolidated statement of operations. Hovvever. if these tax attributes arc not utilized in future years. it is reasonably possible no amounts would be paid
under the lRAs. In this scenario. the reduction of the liability under the TRAs would result m a bcnetit to our consolidated statement of operations.

Sec Notes 2 and 13 to our consolidated financial statements tr additional intOnation regarding the payable to related parties pursuant to the TRAp.

The TRAs are subject to a number frisks and uncertainties. For a description of these risks see Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Company and Our
Organizational Structure."

I
l
: Indirect Taxes

We are subject to indirect taxation in some. but not all of the various states and foreign jurisdictions in which we and our subsidiaries conduct business.
Laws arid regulations attempting to subject communications and commerce conducted over the lntcmet to various indirect taxes are becoming more prevalent both
in the U.S. and internationally and may impose additional burdens on us in the tincture. Increased regulation could negatively allect our business directly as well as
the businesses of our customers. Taxing authorities may impose indirect taxes on the lmemct-related revenue we generate based on regulations currently being
applied to similar but not directly comparable industries. There are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate indirect tax determination is uncertain.
in addition domestic and international indirect taxation laws. or interpretations thereof are subject to change. We may be audited in the future which could result
in changes to our indirect tax estimates. We continually evaluate those jurisdictions in which nexus exists and believe we maintain adequate indirect tax accruals.

As otDecember 3 l 2016 our accrual tor estimated indirect tax liabilities was $6.1 million reflecting our best estimate ofthc probable liability based
on an analysis four business activities. revenues subject to indirect taxes and applicable regulations. Although we believe our indirect tax estimates arid
associated reserves are reasonable the final detennination al indirect tax audits arid any related litigation could be materially different than the amounts established
for indirect tax contingencies.

See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding indirect taxes.
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Loss Contingencies

We are subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising from uncertain and unresolved matters in the ordinary course of business and from
events or actions by others having the potential to result in a future loss Such contingencies may include. but arc not limited to intellectual property claims labor
and employment claims. breach olcontract claims regulatory proceedings. product service level commitments and losses resulting from other events and
developments. We consider the likelihood floss. the impairment of an asset or the incurrence ola liability. as well as our ability to reasonably estimate the
amount of loss in determining loss contingencies.

When a loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable we record a liability in the amount four best estimate for the ultimate loss. When there
appears to be a range of possible costs with equal likelihood liabilities are based on the lowend of such range. However the likelihood ola loss with respect to a
particular contingency is otter difficult to predict and determining a meaningful estimate olie loss or a range floss may not be practicable based on the
information available and the potential effect of fUture events and decisions by third parties impacting the ultimate resolution of the contingency. It is also not
uncommon for such matters to be resolved over many years during which time relevant developments and new information must be continuously evaluated to
determine both the likelihood of potential loss and whether it is possible to reasonably estimate a range olpossible loss. When a loss is probable but a reasonable
estimate cannot be made disclosure is provided.

I)isclosure is also provided when it is reasonably possible a loss will be incurred. or when it is reasonably possible the amount of a loss will exceed the
recorded amounts. We regularly review all contingencies to detcmiine whether the likelihood floss has changed and to assess whether a reasonable estimate of
the loss or range of loss can be made. As discussed above development of a meaningful estimate floss or a range of potential loss is complex when the outcome
is directly dependent on negotiations with or decisions by third parties such as regulatory agencies. court systems iii various jurisdictions and other interested
parties. Such factors hear directly on whether it is possible to reasonably estimate a range of potential loss and boundaries ofhigh and low estimates.

See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding loss contingencies

Recent Accounting Pronounccntcnts

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding recent accounting pronouncements.
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Item 7\. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We arc exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of business. Market risk represents the risk ofloss that may impact our financial position due to
adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of tluetuations in foreign currency exchange rates and variable
interest rates.

Foreign Curreuqr Risk

A portion four bookings revenue and operating expenses is denominated in foreign currencies. which are subject to exchange rate fluctuations. Our
most significant foreign currency exposures are the F.uro. the British pound. the Indian rupee and the Canadian dollar. Our reported bookings revenues and
operating results may be impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations iii foreign currency exchange rates may also cause us to
recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statement of operations; however to date such amounts have not been material. As our international
operations grow our exposure to fluctuations in currency rates may increase which may increase the costs associated with this growth. During 2016 our total
bookings growth in constant currency would have been approximately 120 basis points higher and our total revenue growth would have been approximately 170
basis points higher. Constant currency is calculated by translating bookings and revenue for each month in the current period using the foreign currency exchange
rate for the corresponding month in the prior period excluding any hedging gains or losses realized during the period.

l We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the volatility of our bookings and revenue related to foreign currency transactions. These
lbrward contracts reduce but do not eliminate the impact ofadverse currency exchange rate fluctuations. We designate these forward contracts as cash flow
hedges for accounting purposes. Changes in the intrinsic saline of these hedges are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains
and losses once realized. are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are amortized to revenue over the same period in which
the underlying hedged amounts are recognized. At December 3 l 2016 we had no outstanding hedging contracts and the realized gain included in accumulated
other comprehensive income totaled $3 0 million . In January 2017. we entered into lbreign exchange forward contracts having a total notional amount of$108.8
million

Interest RateSensiriviri

Interest rate risk reflects our exposure to movements in interest rates associated with our borrowings. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at
a rate equal to at our option either (a) LIBOR (riot less than l.0% for the Term Loan only) plus 3.25% per annum or (b) 2.25% per annum plus the highest of(i)
the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% (ii) the Prime Rate or (iii) one-month LIBOR plus l0% . Borrowings under the Term Loan were $l072.5 million as of
December 3 l 2016 . The effect of a hypothetical l 0% change in interest rates would not have had a material impact on our interest expense.

On February IS 2017 we refinanced the Credit Facility. Sec note 18 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Report of lndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of(}oDaddy Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets olGoDaddy one. as of December 3 l 2016 and 2015 and the related consolidated statements of
operations. stockholders/members equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Dccembcr 3 l 2016. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are tree of material misstatement. An audit includes examining
on a test basis. evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects. the consolidated financial position ofGoDaddv inc. at December
tri31 2016 and 2015 arid the consolidated results omits operations and its cash flows lOt each olthc three years in the period ended I)ecember 31 2016.

conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). GoDaddy Inc.'s internal control over
tinaneial reporting as off)ecember 31 2016. based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework tssucd by the Committee olSponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) arid our report dated February 28 20 l 7 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Phoenix. Arizona
February 28 2017
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(.0I)addv Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

( In millions,except share amounts which arc reflected in thousands and per share amounts) l

l

l
Decembcrll,

2016 2015

$s

s $

348.0
4.5
4.8

18.7
292.6
25.3

693.9
22500
1637

1663.4
735 3
12.1
5.4

3498.8

566. I

6.6

8.0

20.6

307.0

24.5

932.8

231.0

17/. l

1718.4

7l6 5

l l . l

5.0

3786.9

$ $

I

i

39.4
127.0

5.3
937.7

4.2
l l 13 .6

4785

1039.8
15 l 6
348

61 .7
143.0
10.0

1,043.5
4.0

1262.2
532.7

1035.7
2026
395

0. I 0. I

ss

01

454.6

(32.2)

3.2

425.8

255.2

681.0

3498.8

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-tenn investments

Accounts and other receivables

Registry deposits

Prepaid domain name registry fees

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment rel

Prepaid domain name registry lees net of current portion

Goodwill

Intangible assets net

Other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Payable to related parties hr lax distributions

Deferred revenue

Long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue net of current portion

Long-term debt net of current portion

Payable to related parties pursuant to tax receivable agreements

Other long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stocldiolders equity:

Preferred stock $0.00l par value - 50000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding

Class A common stock, $0.001 par value - 1,000000 shares authorized 88,558 and 67,083 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31 2016 and 2015, respectively

Class B common stock $0.001 par value 500000 shares authorized; 78554 arid 90898 shares issued and outstanding
as of Decemhcr 3 l 2016 and 2015 respectively

Additional paidin capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total stockholders equity attributable to GoDaddy Inc

Non-controlling interests
Total stockholders cquily

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

0.1

608.3

(48.7)

2.7

562.5
151.7

714.2

3786.9

See accompanying mares lo consolidaledfnancial stale/nenls.
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(.al)addy Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions, except share amounts which arc reflected in thousands and per share amounts)

20142016

Year Ended December 31,

2015

S s $927.8

678.7

241.4

1847.9

840.8
592.0
174.5

1607.3

763.3
507.9
l 16. l

1387.3

518.4
250.8
164.7
190.5
172.0
15z8

1449.2
(61.9)

(85.0)

657.8
2878
228.8
242. I
221.2
160. l

1797.8
50 l

(57.2)

565.9
270.2
202.2
221.5
219.7
158.8

1638.3
(3l.0)
(69.2)

(21.4)

s

(l255)

(19)
(21.5)

(0.4)

(2 l.9)

(5 4)

(16.5)

1.0 0.8
(l20.6) (l46.l)

0.2 28
(l20.4) (1433)

(44.8)
(75.6) (l43.3)

(0.81) s (l ll)
s s

S (021) S

Revenue:

Domains

Hosting and presence

Business applications

Total revenue

Costs and operating expenses (I) i

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)

Technology and development

Marketing and advertising

Customer care

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense

Loss on debt extinguishment

Tax receivable agreements liability adjustment

Other income (expense) net

Loss before income taxes

(Provision) benefit for income taxes

Net loss

Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net loss attributable to GoDaddy Inc.

Net loss per share of Class A common stock-basic and diluted tel

Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding-basic and
diluted (2) 79835 3882658676

l

l

ss s 182

6 I

29

13 2

10.4

6 l

03

128

232

8.1
39

zip

"'Cosls and operating expenses include equitybased compensation expense as follows:

Technology and development

Marketing and advertising

Customer care

General and administrative

"'Amounls lr periods prior lo our April l 2015 initial public offering have been retrospectively adjusted to give etTect to the orgaiiiuttiolial transactions described in Note l The prior period

amounts do not consider the 26.000 shares of Class A common stock sold in our initial public offering. See Note 14

See accomparivmg mares to eonsolIdaledfmancial slulemenls.
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Gol)addy Inc.

(onsolidated Statements of Stockholders'/Members' Equity
(In millions, except share amounts which are reflected in thousands)

(lass B (ommon
Stock

Class A (ommon
Stock

AmountShares AmountShares

Non-
Controlling

Interest
Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Members'
Equity

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ s S$ s s$$

Balance al

December 3 l
20 la

Net loss

812.5

(l43.3)

30.1

Equity-based

compensation

expense

Distributions to
unit and option

holders (349.6)

Change in value
of redecmztblc

units (l6.9)

75.2

2.4

Reclassification

of rcdeemable
units to members'

interest

Other

Balance at

December 31

2014

Nil loss

410.4

(43.4) (77.0)(32.2) (44.8)

8.7 31.7 31.7

Equity-based

compensation

expense

Effect of the

Reorganization
Transactions 0.1 61.6().1 375.9314.1(3759) 38826 90425

480.64806626,000

Issuance of Class

A common stock
in initial public

offer ing net of

offering costs

Liability pursuant

Io the lax
receivable
agreements

resulting tram the
Reorganization
Transactions (l5l.6)(Isis)

I
Stock option
exercises and
other 0.2 12.320.8L582 (27) (8.5)

I 1.5675 1 1.5

Issuance of Class

A common stock
under employee
stock purchase

plan

Distributions to

holders of LLC
Unils (5.6) (5.6)

823.2

681.0255.20 1 3.2454.60. l

Other

Balance at

December 3 I
2015 90398 (32.2)67083



(loDaddy Inc.
(onsolidated Statements of Stockholders'/Members' Fquity (continued)

(In millions except share amounts which are reflected in thousands)

(lass A (onlnion
Stock

(lass B (omn\on
Stock

Shares AmountAmount Shares
Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Members'
Equity

Additional
l'aid-in
(Tapital

Net loss (16.5)

Non
(ontro| | ing

Interest

(5.4)

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

(2 l .9)

l
l
l56.8 56.8

l

l 14.8 55.09187 (598)

Equity-based
compensation
expense

Stock option
exercises

Effect of
exchanges Of
LLC Units 15.311844 (ll844) (15.3)

Liability pursuant
IO the tax
receivable
agreements
resulting from
exchanges of
LLC Units (38.5) (38.5)

Distributions to
holders of LLC
Units (23.0)(23.0)

Issuance of Class
A common stock
under employee
stock purchase
plan

Other

202

242

5.0

0.3 (0.5)

5.0

(0.2)
.
I
I
I

i
I

.
I

Balance at
December 3 l
20 la s 88.558 s 0.1 608.3 s 2.7 S 151.7 s 714.278554 s 0.1 s (48.7)

s .

See accompan.vir1g moles 10 consolidaledflnunciul smlemenls.
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(1oI)addv Inc.

(onsolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

i

l

20142016

Year Ended December 31,

2015

ss (1483)(21.9) ( l 2 0 . 4 )  s

152.8

30.1

9.1

160.1

56.8

7.4

158.8
40.4

7.9
21.4

(3.0) (6.8)

3.7
0.1 1.3

(3.8)
12.5
10.7
2.4

(2.7)

(21.6)
8 5

(22.3)
166.4

9. I

180.6

(0.9)
(30.7)
13.5
9.5

165.6
(6.7)

259.2

(19)
(22.8)
196
10.0

160.8

(3.4)
386.5

(9.0)

9.2

(40.7)

( 7 8 )

5.8
(64.7)

(23.5)
(453)

(l0.5)
8.4

(ll8.5)
( L 3 )

(54.3)

(7.2)
(5 l.9)
(16.0)

l . l

( l07 .3 )

( l0 .5 )
I I

( l44 .4 )(l 83.4)

(1.8)
2.455.0

5 0

4824

12.7

l I 5

263.8

75.0

(3490)(18.8)

(11.0) (7.6)

(8.4)

<4.1)
(29.7)

48.6

95.4

139.0

(0.8)
(300.0)

(75.0)
(l 1.0)
(13.5)
( l l .9 )

94.4

(0.2)

2090

139.0

348.0 $

(15.1)

15.1

(0 1 )
218.1

348.0
566.1 ss

Operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Equity-based compensation

Amortization of original issue discount and debt issuance costs

Loss on debt extinguishinent

Deferred taxes

Tax receivable agreements liability adjustment

Domain portfolio cost of revenue

Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of amounts acquired:

Registry deposits

Prepaid domain name registry fees

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Deferred revenue

Other operating assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Purchases ofshon-term investments

Maturities of shortterm investments

Business acquisitions net olcash acquired

Purchases of intangible assets

Purchases olpropeny and equipment excluding improvements

Purchases of leasehold and building improvements

Other investing activities rel

Net cash used in investing activities

Financ ing activities

Proceeds received from:

Class A common stock sold in initial public offering net ofotlering costs

Option and warrant exercises

Class A common stock issued under employee stock purchase plan

Tenn loan

Revolving credit loan

Payments made for:

Distributions to holders olLLC Units
Repayment of senior note
Repayment ofrcvolving credit loan
Repayment of term loan
Financingrelated costs

Capital leases and other financing obligations

Net cash provided by (used iii) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents. end of period
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(»al)addv, Inc.

(Tonsolidated Statements of(ash Flows (continued)
(In millions)

20142016

Year Ended December 31,

2015

46.5

4.0

75.4

2.3

59.1

2.3

s

s

s

s

s

$

0.9
4.9
0.1

I l.l

5.6

l 1.8

13

7.1

2.3

5.8

0.4

166

18.1

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

$

s

S

s

s

$

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid during the period for;

Interest on long-term debt

Income taxes net of refunds received

Supplemental information for noncash investing and financing activities

Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with business acquisitions

Accrued capital expenditures excluding improvements al period end

Accrued capital expenditures leasehold and building improvements at period end

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases

Building acquired under lease financing obligation

.Yee(lCC()lll/7(l/7llI1g notes Io consolidaledfmancuIl statements.
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Co[)addy Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In millions, except share amounts which are reflected in thousands and per share amounts)
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i . Organization and Background

Description of Business

We are a leading technology provider to small businesses web design professionals and individuals delivering simple easytouse cloud-based products
and outcomedriven personalized customer care. We operate the world's largest domain marketplace and provide website building hosting and security tools to
help customers easily construct and protect their online presence and tackle the rapidlychanging technology landscape. As our customers grow we provide
applications helping them connect to their customers manage and grow their businesses and get bund online.

Organization

We were incorporated on May 28 2014 for the purpose of facilitating an initial public offering (IPO) and other related organizational transactions
completed on April 7 2015 as discussed in Note 5 in order to operate and control all of the business and affairs olDesert New co LLC (Desert New co). As sole
managing member. we have all voting power in. and control the management of Desert New co. As a result. ac consolidate Desert Nev cos financial results and
report a non-controlling interest representing the economic interest held by the other members of Desert New co. We owned approximately 53% of Desert
Nev cos outstanding limited liability company units (LLC Units) as of December 3 l 2016 .

The prelPO organizational transactions were considered transactions between entities under common control. As a result the linaneial statements for
periods prior to the IPO have been adjusted to combine the previously separate entities tor presentation purposes

On December 16 201 l investment funds managed by Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. (KKR) Silver Lake Partners (Silver Lake) and Technology
Crossover Ventures (TCV and collectively with KER arid Silver Lake. the Sponsors) along with other investors purchased a controlling interest in Desert New co
loom YAM Special Holdings Inc. (YAM) an entity owned by Robert R. Parsons (Bob Parsons) Desert Nev cos thunder and a member four board of directors.
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Basisof Presentation

l

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP). and
include our accounts and the accounts olour subsidiaries All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) is not presented because we had no material components of other comprehensive income (loss)
during any of the periods presented.

Prior Period Reclassifications

Rcclassifications of certain immaterial prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period presentation

laseof Estimates

GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting amounts reported in our financial statements. Our more significant estimates include:

the determination of the best estimate of selling price of the deliverables included in multiple-dclivcrable revenue arrangements;

the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business acquisitions;

the assessment of recoverability oblong-lived assets including property and equipment goodwill and intangible assets;

the estimated reserve for refunds;

the estimated useful lives of intangible and depreciable assets;

the grant date fair value of equity-based awards

the recognition. measurement and valuation of current and deferred income taxes;

the recognition and measurement of amounts payable under tax receivable agreements (TRAs);

the recognition and measurement of amounts payable as tax distributions to Desert Nev co's owners; and

the recognition and measurement floss contingencies indirect tax liabilities arid certain accrued liabilities.

We periodically evaluate these estimates and adjust prospectively. if necessary. We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however actual
results may differ from our estimates.

Segment and Reporting l"ni t

Our chiefoperating decision maker function is comprised four Chief Executivc Officer and ChicfOpcrating Officer who collectively review financial
information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance tor the entire company. Accordingly we
have a single operating segment and reporting unit.

i.II
I
I

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(ash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand other highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity ol90 days or less at the date of
acquisition and receivables related to thirdparty payment processor transactions normally received within 72 hours. Amounts receivable for payment processor
transactions totaled S15.5 million and $ 12.2 million at December 31 2016 and 2015 respectively.
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Short lerm Investments

Our shortterm investments consist of certificates ofdeposit and time deposits with an original maturity in excess of 90 days. which are carried at fair
value. The estimated fair value olour shortterm investments is determined based on quoted market prices and approximated historical cost We did not have any
material realized or unrealized gains or losses on sales of shortterm investments during any of the periods presented.

We classify our shortterm investments as availableforsale at the time of purchase and reevaluate such classification at each balance sheet date. We may
sell our short-temi investments at any time for use in current operations or for other purposes such as consideration tr acquisitions even if thcv have not yet
reached maturity. As a result we classify our shortterm investments including investments with maturities beyond 12 months as current assets

Registry Deposits

Registry deposits represent amounts on deposit with or receivable from. various domain name registries to be used by us to make payments for fUture
domain registrations or renewals.

Prepaid Domain Name Registry Fees

Prepaid domain name registry tees represent amounts charged by a registry at the time a domain is registered or renewed. These amounts are amortized to
cost of revenue over the same period revenue is recognized lOt the related domain registration contracts.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation including for assets acquired under capital leases is recorded over the shorter of the estimated
useful life or the lease term of the applicable assets using the straight-line method beginning on the date an asset is placed in service. We regularly evaluate the
estimated remaining useful lives four property and equipment to detemiine whether events or changes iii circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining
period of dcprcciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

s $

December ll,

2016 2015

283.3 248.7

27.3 28.5

9 0 9.0

123.1 112.8

18.1 18.1

Computer equipment

Software

Land

Buildings including improvements

Building acquired under lease financing obligation

Leasehold improvements

Estimated
UsefulLives

3 scars

3 years

Indefinite

2-25 years

40 years

Lesser of useful lite or remaining

lease term

17 years

34. 1

9.8

461.0

(236.0l

22500

36.1
12 l

509.0
(278.0)
231.0 $s

Other

Total property and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment net

The gross carrying amount of property and equipment includes $34.8 million and $3 l .7 million of computer equipment and software under capital leases as
of December 3 l. 2016 and 2015 respectively. The accumulated depreciation of the leased computer equipment was $23.8 million and $l6 l million as of
December 3 l 2016 and 2015 respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment including amounts related to assets under capital leases was $69.9 million
$613 million and $55.6 million during 2016 . 2015 and 2014 respectively
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(Tapitalized Internal-Use Software Costs

Costs incurred to develop software for internaluse during the application development phase and for our websites arc capitalized and amortized over such
software's estimated useful life. Costs related to the design or maintenance of internaluse sotiware are included in technology and development expenses as
incurred. Costs capitalized during all periods presented have not been material.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Good\vill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated lair value olnet tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in business
combinations. Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the GoDaddy trade names and branding acquired loom YAM and our acquired domain portfolio.
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets arc not amortized to earnings but are assessed for impairment at least annually. As individual domains are sold our
indefinitelived domain porttblio intangible asset is reduced by the allocated carrying cost ofeacli domain. which is included in cost of revenue.

We assess impainnent annually for our single reporting unit and our indefinite-lived trade names and branding during the fourth quarter of each year We
also perlbrm an assessment at other times if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value four goodwill or indefinite-lived trade names and
branding may riot be recoverable. If based on qualitative analysis we determine it is morelikclythannot the fair value four reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount a two-step impairment test is perfonned. Our qualitative analysis did not indicate impairment during any of the periods presented.

Our indefinitelived domain portfolio is reviewed for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year. We also perform an assessment at other
times ifevcnts or changes iii circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable Any identified impainnent loss is treated as a
permanent reduction in the carrying amount of the asset. We did not record an impairment loss during any olthc periods presented.

LongLived and FiniteLived Intangible Assets

Finitelived intangible assets are amortized over the following estimated useful lives:

Customer relationships

Developed technology

Trade names

3 9 years

57 years

3-5 years

Customer relationships are primarily amortized based on expected customer attrition. Developed technology and finite-lived trade names are amortized on
a straightlinc basis. We regularly evaluate the estimated remaining useful lives otour intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances
warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.

Longlived and lille-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount ola

asset may not be fully recoverable An impairment loss is recognized il the sum of the expected longtcrm undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to
generate is less than its carrying amount. Any writedowns are treated as permanent reductions in the carrying amount of the respective asset. We did not record an
impairment loss during any of the periods presented.

Debt Issuance (Tests

We defer and amortize issuance costs underwriting fees and related expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of debt instruments using the
effective interest method over the terms of the respective instruments. Debt issuance costs other than those associated with our revolving credit loan are reflected
as a direct reduction olie carrying amount of the related debt liability Debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit loan are reflected as an asset.

Derivative Financ ial Ins truments

We enter into foreign exchange lbrward contracts with financial institutions to hedge certain forecasted sales transactions denominated in currencies other
than the United States IU S.) dollar We designate these fOrward contracts as cash flow hedges which are recognized as either assets or liabilities at fair value. We
do not hold or issue derivative instruments liar
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speculative or trading purposes. Al December 3 l 2016 and 2015 , the total notional amount of such contracts was $0 and $104.6 million , respectively. In January
2017 we entered into foreign exchange forward contracts having a total notional amount of$l()8.8 million

We reflect unrealized gains or losses on the effective portion ola cash flow hedge as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains
and losses once realized are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and arc amortized to revenue over the same period in which
the underlying hedged amounts are recognized. Any ineffective portion of gains or losses are recorded as other income (expense) net and were immaterial during
all periods presented. Each period. we evaluate the effectiveness oleach four hedges and all hedges were determined to be effective.

Leases

Wc lease office and data center space in various locations. Rent expense under operating leases is recognized on a straight-linc basis over the lease term
taking into consideration rent abatements scheduled rent increases and any lease incentives.

We record assets and liabilities for estimated construction costs incurred under buildto-suit lease arrangements to the extent we are involved in the
construction of structural improvements or take construction risk prior to commencement of a lease Upon completion of the construction project we evaluate our
level of continuing involvement in the facility. lfwe maintain significant continuing involvement we continue to account lOt the facility as a financing obligation.
Otherwise we record a sale of the facility back to the landlord and accordingly the related construction assets and liabilities are removed from our consolidated
financial statements.

Foreign Currency

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets denominated in foreign currencies are remeasure into U.S. dollars at periodend exchange rates.
Foreign currency based revenue and expense transactions arc measured at transaction date exchange rates. Foreign currency remeasurement gains and losses arc
recorded in other income (expense). net and were $(4.6) million $(3.5) million and $(30) million during 2016 2015 and 2014 respectively.

l

The functional currency olccrtain four fOreign subsidiaries is their respective local currency For these subsidiaries we translate revenue arid expense
transactions at average exchange rates We translate assets and liabilities at periodend exchange rates and include foreign currency translation gains and losses as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Such gains and losses were not material during any of the periods presented. l

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recorded when persuasive evidence Alan arrangement exists. delivery of the product has occurred. the selling price is fixed or determinable
and collectability is reasonably assured. Payments received in advance ofrevcnue recognition are recorded as deterred revenue.

We maintain a reserve to provide for refunds granted to customers. Our reserve is an estimate based on historical refund experience. Refunds reduce
deterred revenue at the time they are granted and result in a reduced amount ofrevcnue recognized over the contract term of the applicable product compared to
the amount originally expected.

Consideration provided to customers tr sales incentives or service disruption credits is recorded as a reduction of revenue at the later of the time the
related revenue is recognized or when such consideration is offered. Such incentives and credits were not material in any of the periods presented.

Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are divided into separate units of accounting if each deliverable has standalone value to the customer.
Thc ma1 ority of our revenue arrangements consist of multiple-element arrangements with revenue tr each unit of accounting recognized as the product or service
is delivered to the customer. Our multipleelement arrangements may include a combination of some or all of the following: domain registrations website hosting
products. website building products and services Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) certificates and other cloudbased products. Each of these products has standalone
value and are sold separately.
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Consideration is allocated to each deliverable at the inception of an arrangement based on relative selling prices. We determine the relative selling price
for each deliverable based on our vendor~specific objective evidence of selling price (VSOE) or our best estimate of selling price (BFSP) if VSOE is not available.
We have determined third-party evidence of selling price (TPE) is not a practical alterative due primarily to the significant variability among available thirdpany
pricing information for similar products and differences in the features four product and service offerings compared to other parties.

We establish VSOE for certain of our products when a consistent number of stand-alone sales of these products have been priced within a reasonably
narrow range. We are unable to establish VSOE when we lack pricing consistency primarily related to our marketing strategies arid variability in pricing due to
promotional activity.

For products where VSOF. is not available we determine BESP by considering our overall pricing objectives and market conditions. Significant factors
taken into consideration include historical and expected discounting practices. the size volume and tern length of transactions customer demographics. the
geographic areas in which our products and services are sold and our overall gotomarket strategy

We sell our products and services directly to customers and also through a network of resellers. In certain cases we act as a reseller of products provided
by others The determination of gross or net revenue recognition is reviewed on a product by product basis and is dependent on whether we act as principal or
agent in the transaction. Revenue associated with sales through our network of resellers and for certain aftermarket domain sales is recorded on a gross basis as we
have determined we are the primary obligor in the contractual arrangements with end customers. Commissions paid are expensed as a cost of rcvenue over the
same period in which the associated revenue is recognized.

Domains. Domains revenue primarily consists of domain registrations and renewals domain privacy domain application fees. domain backorders
atiermarket domain sales and lee surcharges paid Io ICANN. Domain registrations provide a customer with the exclusive use of a domain during the applicable
contract term. After the contract term expires unless renewed the customer can Rio longer access the domain. Consideration is recorded as deterred revenue at the
time of sale and revenue, other than for aftermarket domain sales is recognized as the product or service is delivered to the customer. Aftermarket domain revenue
is recognized when control of the domain is transferred to the buyer.

Hosting and presence Hosting and presence revenue primarily consists ofwcbsite hosting products website building products and services an online
shopping cart search engine optimization and Ssl certificates for encrypting data between the online browser and the certificate owners server. Consideration is
recorded as deferred revenue at the time of sale and revenue is recognized as the product or service is delivered to the customer.

8usme.vs applications.Business applications revenue primarily consists of email accounts online calendar online data storage third-party productivity
applications email marketing and enrollment fees paid by our resellers. Consideration is recorded as deferred revenue at the time at°sale and revenue is recognized
as the product or service is delivered to the customer.

Operating Expenses

Cos! of Revenue (excluding depreciation a/id amortization)

Substantially all cost of revenue relates to domain registration costs. Cost of revenue also includes payment processing fees reseller commissions
iroNware licensing fees directly related to products sold professional website development personnel costs and costs associated with sales from our domain
portfolio.

Technology arid Development

Technology and development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs associated with the design development deployment testing operation and
enhancement four products as well as costs associated with the data centers systems storage and telecommunications infrastructure supporting those products
(excluding depreciation expense). Technology and development expenses also include 1hirdparty development costs localization costs incurred to translate
products for international markets and technology licensing and support and maintenance costs
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Marketing arid Advertising

Marketing and advertising expenses primarily consist offline traffic generation costs television and radio advertising spokesperson and event
sponsorships personnel costs associated with our marketing and public relations tirnctions arid affiliate program commissions.

Advertising costs are expensed either as incurred at the time a commercial initially airs or when a promotion first appears in the media. Advertising
expenses were $194.0 million $177.6 million and $l39.4 million during 2016 2015 and 2014 respectively

Customer Cure

Customer care expenses primarily consist of personnel costs associated with our customer consultation and care team. Customer care expenses also
include third-party customer care center operating costs.

GeneralandAdministrative

General arid administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel and related overhead costs lOt our executive leadership accounting linage legal and
human resource functions General and administrative expenses also include professional service tees for audit legal tax accounting and acquisitions rent for all
office space insurance and other general costs.

Equity-Based Compensation

Equity-based awards are accounted br using the fair value method Restricted stock units (RSUs) are measured based on the fair market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant Grant date fair values tor stock options are determined using the BlackScholes option pricing model and a single
option award approach. The measurement dale for perfonnance vesting awards is the date on which the applicable perfonnance criteria are approved by our board
of directors. Key assumptions used in the determination of fair value for stock options arc as follows;

l

Expected term. Theexpected term represents the period the options are expected to be outstanding. Because of the lack ofsufticicnt historical data
necessary to calculate the expected term. we use the simple average of the vesting period and the contractual temp to estimate the expected term.

Expected volar/itv.We determine the expected stock price volatility based on the historical volatilities otour peer group since there is not a sufficient
trading history lbr our Class A common stock. Industry peers consist of several public companies in the technology industry similar to us in size. stage
oflifc cycle and financial leverage. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a
sufficient trading history four Class A common stock becomes available If circumstances change such that the identified companies arc no longer
similar to tis. we will revise our peergroup to substitutemoresuitable companies in this calculation

Expected dividend.v1eld. We do not use a dividend rate due to our expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

R1sk%ee interest role. We base the risktree interest rate on the yield curve ola zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond with a maturity equal to the expected
temp of the option on the grant date

The lair value otoptions granted was estimated using the allowing weightedaverage assumptions:

2014

6.5

42.2%

2016

6.1

37.7%

Year F.nded December J I,

2015

6.3

39.1%

l.9%l.4%

Expected term (in years)

Expected volatility

Expected dividend yield

Riskfree interest rate 1.7%
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historical data is used to estimate future award forfeitures

Income Taxes

Wc account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. which requires the recognition of deterred tax assets (DTAs) and liabilities (D.lLs) for
the expected future lax consequences ofevcnts included in the financial statements. Under this method we determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the
diITerences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs and DiaLs is recognized iii the period in which the enactment date occurs.

We recognize DTAs to the extent we believe these assets are morelikely-than-not to be realized. In making such a determination. we consider all
available positive and negative evidence. including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. projected future taxable income tax planning
strategies and recent results of operations

We record uncertain tax positions on the basis of a twostep process in which (l ) we determine whether it is more-Iikcly-than-not the tax positions will be
sustained on the basis of the teclmical merits of the position and (2) lOt those tax positions meeting the morelikely-than-not recognition threshold. we recognize
the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.

Interest and penalties related to income taxes are included in benefit (provision) for income taxes and were not material during any olie periods
presented.

Payable to Related Parties Pursuant to the lRA s

I

Concurrent with the completion of the IPO ac became a party to five lRAs with our pre-IPO owners. Under four of the TRAs we are generally required
to pay to certain prelPO owners approximately 85% of the amount of calculated tax savings if any we are deemed to realize (using the actual applicable federal
income lax rate and an assumed combined state arid local income tax rate) as a result of( I) any existing tax attributes associated with LLC Units acquired in the
pro[PO organizational transactions the benefit of which is allocable to us as a result of such transactions (including the allocable share otDesert Nev cos existing
tax basis in its assets) (2) NOLs available as a result olsuch transactions and (3) tax henctits related to imputed interest.

i Under the fifth of these agreements. we are generally required to pay our other preIPO owners of approximately 85% of the amount of the calculated tax
savings if any. Ive are deemed to realize (using the actual applicable federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local income tax rate) as a result
of( l) any stepup iii tax basis created as a result olexchanges of their LLC Units (together with the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) tor shares of
our Class A common stock (2) any existing lax attributes associated with their LLC Units the benefit of which is allocable to us as a result of such exchanges
(including the allocable share of Desert Neweos existing tax basis in its assets) (3) tax benclits related to imputed interest and (4) payments under the TRA.

When LLC Units are exchanged we receive certain tax attributes. including the original basis adjustments (the OBAs) created from the original
acquisition of the LLC Units plus any anticipated basis adjustments. The OBAs entitle its to the depreciation and amortization previously allocable to the original
oivner otsuch units. The anticipated basis adjustments will increase, lOt tax purposes our depreciation and amortization deductions. To the extent these deductions
are used to reduce our taxable income thereby resulting in actual tax savings we will be required to pay the original owners approximately 85% of such savings.
which is recorded as an additional liability under the TRAs when deemed probable. Adjustments to the liability under the TRAs based on changes in anticipated
future taxable income are recorded in our consolidated statement of operations.

Unutilized depreciation and amortization deductions related to the OBAs and the anticipated basis adjustments are convened to net operating loss (NOL)
carry lbrwards. If the utilization of NOL carry forwards is considered to be more-likely-than-not a liability under the TRAp relating to NOL carry forwards is
recorded.
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Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as an exit price representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability. in an orderly
transaction between market participants. The tramcwork tor measuring fair value provides a three-tier hierarchy prioritizing inputs to valuation techniques used in
measuring fair value as follows:

i

l

lLevel I -Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2 --Inputs other than quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets. which are observable either directly or indirectly and

Level 3 -Unobscrvable inputs in which there is little or no market data requiring the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

We hold certain assets required to he measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These may include reverse repurchase agreements commercial paper or
other securities which are classified as either cash arid cash equivalents or short-temi investments. We classify these assets within Level l or Level 2 because we
use either quoted market prices or alterative pricing sources utilizing market observable inputs to determine their fair value as follows:

December 31, 2016

Level 2 Level 3Level l Total

s s$s 130.0

55.9

130.0

55.9

185.9 $

Cash and cash equivalents:

Reverse repurchase agreements al

Commercial paper

Short-term investments:

Certificates ofdcposit and lime deposits

Total assets measured and recorded at fair value

6.6

192.5ss

66

6.6 s

ti) Reverse repurchase agreements lncI\ldc all S80 0 million repurchase agreement with Morgan Stanley. callable with 31 days notice and a S50 0 million onewcck repurchase agreement
with Wells Fargo.

Level l lotaI

December 31, 2015

Level2 Level J

I

40.0 40.0s $s $

4 0 0

4.5

4.5

4.5

44.5

Cash and cash equivalents:

Reverse repurchase agreements (H

Short-term investments.

Certificates of deposit

Total assets measured and recorded al fair value s $ s $

(I ) Reverse repurchase agreements include: a S40 0 million repurchase agreement with Wells Fargo nn overnight sweeps

We have no other material assets or liabilities measured at lair value on a recurring basis.

Business Combinations

We include the results of operations of acquired businesses as of the respective acquisition dates. Purchase price is allocated to the tangible and intangible
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values with the excess recorded as goodwill. If applicable. we estimate the fair value of
contingent consideration payments in determining the purchase price. Measurement period adjustments to provisional purchase price allocations are recognized in
the period in which they are determined with the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation amortization or other income resulting from such changes
calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date Contingent consideration is ad1 usted to fair value in subsequent periods as an increase or
decrease in general and administrative expenses. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Concentrations o f R i l l s

Our financial instruments exposed lo concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and shortterm investments. Although we
deposit cash with multiple banks these deposits including those held in foreign branches of global banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such
deposits. These deposits may generally be redeemed upon demand and bear minimal risk.

No single customer represented over 10% four total revenue for any period presented.

In order to reduce the risk of downtime of the products we provide ac have established data centers in various geographic regions. We have internal
procedures to restore products in the event of disaster at any four data center facilities. We serve our customers and users from data center facilities operated
either by us or third parties which are located in Arizona Calitbrnia Virginia New York Singapore and The Netherlands. Even with these procedures for disaster
recovery in place the availability four products could be significantly interrupted during the implementation of restoration procedures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a new standard on revenue recognition from contracts with customers. The new
standard requires an entity to recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount reflecting the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The FASB has recently issued several amendments to the new standard including
clarification on identifying performance obligations principalversus-agent implementation guidance. eolleetabilily assessment sales taxes and other similar taxes
collected from customers noncash consideration contract modilieation and completed contracts at transition. These amendments are intended to address
implementation issues raised by stakeholders and provide additional practical expedients to reduce the cost and complexity of applying the new standard.

The new standard permits two methods oladoption: retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented (full retrospective method) or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application (modified retrospective method). The new standard is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2017 \with early adoption permitted lOt annual reporting periods beginning after December 15
2016. We do not plan to early adopt. and accordingly. will adopt the new standard effective January l 2018.

We have completed our initial assessment of the new standard and are in the process of further evaluating certain customer arrangements within each of
our revenue streams to quantify potential impacts on the amount and timing of recognilion for each performance obligation. Although we are still evaluating the
potential impacts we do not currently anticipate any changes lo have a material impact. Wc currently plan to adopt the standard under the modified retrospective
method. llowevcr our final determination will depend on the results four final assessment which is expected to he completed by the third quarter of20l 7.

Oilier Accounting StandardsI
I
I In August 2014 the FASB issued new guidance regarding disclosure of uncertainties about an entitys ability to continue as a going concern. This

guidance defines managements responsibility to assess an entitys ability to continue as a going eoncem and to provide related footnote disclosures iii certain
circumstances. Our adoption of this guidance in 2016 did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016. the FASB issued new guidance related to accounting lOt leases. The new standard requires the recognition of assets and liabilities
arising lim lease transactions on the balance sheet arid the disclosure of key infOrmation about leasing arrangements. Accordingly a lessee will recognize a lease
asset for its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability for the corresponding lease obligation. Both the asset and liability will initially be measured at the
present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term. Subsequent measurement, including the presentation ofexpcnses and cash flows will
depend on the classification olie lease as either a finance or an operating lease. Initial costs directly attributable to negotiating and arranging the lease will be
included in the asset. For leases with a term of 12 months or less a lessee can make art accounting policy election Hy class of underlying asset to not recognize an
asset and corresponding liability. Lessees will also be required to provide additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding the amount timing and
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. These disclosures are intended to supplement the amounts recorded in the financial statements
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and provide additional information about the nature ola organization's leasing activities. The new standard is elective lOt us on January I 2019. In transition
lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach. The transition
guidance also provides specific guidance for sale and leaseback transactions build-tosuit leases and amounts previously recognized in accordance with the
business combinations guidance for leases We are currently evaluating the expected impact of this new standard.

i

l

l

l
l
l

in March 2016 the FASB issued nev guidance changing the accounting for certain aspects olshare-based payments to employees. The guidance allows
tor a policy election to account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis and allows for an employer to repurchase more of an employees
shares br tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting. in addition. the guidance requires recognition of the income tax effects of awards in the
income statement when the awards vest or are settled thus eliminating additional paidin capital pools. We will continue to account for fOrfeitures on an estimated
basis. and accordingly our adoption of this guidance on January l 2017 is not expected to have a material impact.

l

i
In June 2016. the FASB issued new guidance br the accounting for credit losses on instruments that will require us to measure all expected credit losses

lOt financial instruments held at the reporting date based on historical experience current conditions and reasonable supportable tbreeasts. This replaces the
existing incurred loss model and is applicable to the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments measured at amortized cost and also applies to some off
balance sheet credit exposures. The guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning alter December 15 2019 with early adoption
pennitted. We are currently evaluating the timing four adoption and the expected impact of this new guidance.

In August 2016 the FASB issued new guidance clarifying the treatment ofscveral cash flow categories. In addition the new guidance clarifies that when
cash receipts and cash payments have aspects of more than one class olcash flows and cannot be separated classification will depend on the predominant source
or use. Our adoption of this guidance in the tburth quarter of20l 6 did not have a material impact.

In October 2016 the FASB issued new guidance requiring an entity to recognize the income tax consequences of intra-entity asset transfers. other than
inventory. when the transfer occurs. Our adoption of this guidance on January l 2017 is not expected to have a material impact.

in November 2016 the FASB issued new guidance requiring amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents to be included
with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the amounts shown on the statement olcash flows. This new guidance is effective lOt annual and interim
reporting periods beginning after December 15 2017 with early adoption permitted. Our adoption of this guidance m 2018 is not expected to have a material
impact.

In January 2017 the FASB issued new guidance clarifying the definition of a business lOt determining whether transactions should be accounted tor as
acquisitions or disposals of assets or businesses. The guidance provides a screen lOt an entity to use to determine when a set of assets and activities is not a
business. The screen requires that when substantially all of the lair value of the gross assets acquired (or disposed at) is concentrated in a single idcntitiable asset
or a group of similar identifiable assets the set is not a business. If the screen is not net the guidance requires that to be considered a business a set must include.
at a minimum an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. The guidance also removes the evaluation of
whether a market participant could replace missing elements. This new guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December l 5
2017. with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the timing four adoption and the expected impact of this new guidance.

In January 2017 the FASB issued new guidance simplifying the goodwill impairment test eliminating the requirement for an entity to determine the fair
value omits assets and liabilities (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) at the impairment testing date following the procedure that would be required in
determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Instead an entity will be required to perform its annual. or interim
goodwill impainnent test by comparing the fair value oa reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity will be required to recognize an impairment charge lOt
the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's lair value however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit. The guidance is effective tor annual and interim reporting periods beginning aRea December l 5 2019 with early adoption
pemiiued. We are currently evaluating the timing four adoption and the expected impact of this nev guidance.
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3. BusinessAcquisitions

2016 Acquisitions

During 2016 we completed six acquisitions tr cash ol$l25.5 million including $7.0 million payable in future periods following the expiration of
contractual holdback periods and additional contingent earnout payments Rolup to $6.0 million subject to the achievement of certain revenue targets. We
recognized a liability o1356 million representing the estimated lair value of the contingent consideration at the acquisition date. Proforma financial information is
not presented because these acquisitions arc not material to our results of operations either individually or in the aggregate.

The aggregate purchase price was allocated based upon our assessment of acquisitiondate fair values with $598 million attributed to indefinitelived
domain portfolio intangible assets. $55.0 million to goodwill.of which $37.5 million is not taxdeductible. $21.4 million to other identified finitelived intangible
assets and $l 1.3 million of net liabilities assumed We also recorded a $l.l million reduction four existing deferred revenue from prior transactions with one of
the acquired businesses. Identified finitelived intangible assets. which were valued using either income- or cost~based approaches primarily include customer
related intangible assets and developed technology. The acquired finitelived intangible assets have a total weightedaverage amortization period of 5.5 years .

2015 Acquisitions

During the year ended 2015 we completed tour acquisitions for cash of$64.7 million arid additional immaterial contingent earnout payments subject to
the achievement of certain revenue targets. The aggregate purchase price was allocated based upon our assessment of acquisition-date fair values with $60.2
million attributed to an indcfinitelived domain ponlblio intangible asset $3.2 million to other identified finite-lived intangible assets $2.2 million to tax
deductible goodwill and $0.9 million of net liabilities assumed. ProfOrma Financial infOrmation is not presented because these acquisitions are not material to our
results of operations. either individually or in the aggregate

2014Acquisition

During 2014 we completed an acquisition br cash ol$42.0 million and additional immaterial contingent earn-out payments subject to the achievement of
spccilied milestones The purchase price was allocated based upon our assessment of acquisitiondate fair values with $33.6 million attributed lo taxdeductible
goodwill Sl0.8 million to identified finitelived intangible assets and $2.4 million otnet liabilities assumed. Prolbrma linancial inlbnnation is not presented
because this acquisition is not material to our results of operations.

4. (goodwill and IntangibleAssets

The tbllowing table summarizes changes iii our goodwill balance:

s

s

1,6612
2.2

11663.4
55.0

1.7184

Balance at December 3 l, 2014

2015 acquisitions

Balance at December 31 2015

2016 acquisitions

Balance at December 3 l 20 la
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Intangible assets not arc summarized as follows:

Domains Sold

Gross (Tarrying
Amount

Net (arrying
Amount

December 31, 2016

Accumulated
Amortization

s s 445.0

106.1

445.0

120.5

n/a

n/a $

n/a

(14.4) l
l

$

lndclinite-lived intangible assets:

Trade names and branding

Domain portfolio

Finite-lived intangible assets:

Customer-related

Developed technology

Trade names

122.0

390

4.4

716.5s sSs

367.4

2260

11.9

1170.8

n/a

n/a

n/a

(14.4)

(245.4)
(l87.0)

(15)
(4399)

Gross Carrying
Amount

December JI, 2015

Accumulated
Amortization Domains Sold

Net Carrying
Amount

$ $445.0

61.2

n/a

n/a

445 0

57.5s

n/a

(3.7)

s

lndcfinitelived intangible assets:

Trade names and branding

Domain portfolio

Finitelived intangible assets:

Customerrelated

Developed technology

Trade names

Other

n/a

:Va

n/a

n/a

s

164.4

62. l

6.0

08

735.3

361.2
210.1

11.2
l.l

1,089.8 s

(l96.8)

(l48.0)

(5.2)

(0.8)

(350.8)s s (3.7)

During 2015 ac purchased a customer-related intangible asset br $22.5 million in cash The purchased intangible asset was valued at cost and is being
amortized over 48 months based on expected customer attrition. Transaction costs were immaterial and were expensed as incurred

Customer-related intangible assets developed technology and trade names have weighted-average useful lives from the date of purchase of 98 months
65 months and 56 months respectively Amortization expense was $90.2 million $97.5 million and $9722 million during 2016 2015 and 2014 . respectively.
The weighted-average remaining amortization period lOt amortizable intangible assets was 44 months as olDecember 3 I 2016

Based on the balance of finitelived intangible assets at December 3 l 2016 expected future amortization expense is as follows:

s 58.3

50.1

30.9

23.5

2.6

Year Ending December 31:

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Thereatler

165.4s

1I
1
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5. Stockholders' Equity

Initial Public Offering

On April 7 2015 . we completed our IPO and sold 26000 shares ofCl8s A common stock at a public offering price of$20.00 per share including 2500
shares purchased by affiliates of certain members four board of directors (the Board). We received $491.8 million in proceeds rel of underwriting discounts and
commissions which we used to purchase newlyissued LLC Units from Desert New co at a price per unit equal Io the IPO price.

In connection with the IPO we completed a series of organizational transactions (the Reorganization Transactions) including:

the amendment and restatement of Desert Nev co's limited liability company agreement (the New LLC Agreement) to among other things appoint us
as sole managing member and reclassify all LLC Units as non-voting units;

l

l

l
i
lI

the issuance of a total of 90425 shares oIClass B common stock to Desert Nev co's pre-IPO owners (the Continuing LLC Owners) on a one-to-one
basis with the number of LLC Units owned; and

the acquisition by merger of lOur members of Desert New co (the Reorganization Parties) lOt which we issued 38826 shares olClass A common
stock as consideration (the Investor Corp Mergers).

We incurred SI 12 million of legal. accounting printing and other professional tees related to the IPO including Sl .3 million and $0.l million paid on
behaIIof the Sponsors and Bob Parsons respectively. These amounts were charged against additional paid-in capital upon completion otthe IPO.

We primarily used the net IPO proceeds to make certain payments to the Sponsors and Bob Parsons as described inNote16 and to repay the senior note
payable to YAM and all amounts drawn on our revolving credit loan as described in Note 9

Restatement of Certificate oflncorporation

Our Board approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the Restated Certificate of Incorporation). which became effective on
March 31. 2015 immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Registration Statement on Fomi S-I (the Registration Statement) tiled in connection with our IPO.
The Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorized the issuance of up to 1000000 shares of Class A common stock up to 500000 shares of Class B common
stock and up to 50000 shares of undesignatcd preferred stock each having a par value ol$0.00 l per share. Shares otClass A common stock have both economic
and voting rights. Shares otCIass B common stock have no economic rights but do have voting rights llolders of Class A and Class B common stock are entitled
to one vote per share and except as otherwise required. will vote together as a single class on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled lo vote.

We arc required to at all limes maintain (i) a one-to-one ratio between the number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding and the number of
LLC Units owned by us and (ii) a one-to-one ratio between the number of shares of Class B common stock owned by the Continuing LLC Owners and the number
of LLC Units owned by the Continuing LLC Owners. We may issue shares of Class B common stock only to the extent necessary to maintain these ratios. Shares
olClass B common stock are transferable only together with an equal number offLC Units if we. at the election of a Continuing LLC Owner exchange LLC
Units lOt shares of Class A common stock

Desert New co Recapitalization

Desert Nev co's board of directors adopted the New LLC Agreement which became efteetive on March 31 2015 immediately allowing the effectiveness
olie Registration Statement. The New LLC Agreement among other things appointed us Ls Desert Nev co's sole managing member and reelassilied all

outstanding LLC Units as nonvoting units The New LLC Agreement also revised the tax rate applicable to the tax distributions Desert New co is required to make
to the holders of LLC Units including us. as described in Note 16.

Investor Corp Mergers

We acquired the Reorganization Parties to which we issued an aggregate of38.826 shares of Class A common stock as consideration tr the 38826
aggregate LLC Units held by such entities. Upon consummation of the Investor Corp Mergers we
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recognized the acquired LLC Units at carrying value as these transactions arc considered to be between entities under common control.

We also acquired the lax attributes of the Reorganization Parties which were recorded generally as DTAs at the time of the Investor Corp Mergers. These
attributes include NOLs tax credit carry forwards and OBAs arising from the original acquisition of LLC Units by the Reorganization Parties as described in Note
12 .

Secondary ()leering

In April 2016 we completed a secondary offering in which certain stockholders including the Sponsors. YAM and certain four executive officers. sold
an aggregate of 18975 shares of our Class A common stock at a public offering price of$30.25 per share. We received $6.8 million in proceeds loom the exercise
of stock options in connection \with the offering but did not receive any proceeds from the shares sold in the offering. The offering also incl tided the exchange of
10882 LLC Units (together with the corresponding shares of Class B common stock) tor Class A common stock by eenain selling stockholders which resulted in
an $8.8 million increase in additional paid-in capital with an olTsetting reduction in non-controlling interests and a material increase to the liability under the
TRAs. See Note 13

Distribution to Holders of l.L(T lnits

I

in May 2014 Dcsen Ncwcos board of directors authorized a $3500 million distribution to holders of LLC Units and to holders of certain assumed
options including immaterial amounts paid in 2015 and 2016 upon the vesting of certain restricted units Ilolders of other equitybased awards received an
approximate $2.60 per unit adjustment to the exercise price of their awards. in accordance with the anti dilution provisions of the Dcscn Ncwco. LLC 201 l Unit
Incentive Plan (the 201 I Plan) which is equivalent to the per unit amount of the cash distribution. These equitable adjustments preserved the intrinsic value among
all equitybased awards. The distribution was considered an equity restructuring and accordingly. modification acccuntmg was applied. We evaluated whether any
additional equitybased compensation expense would need to be recognized to the extent the lair value of any modified awards plus the cash to be received (if
applicable) exceeded the fair value of the original awards bette the modification. No material additional equitybased compensation expense was required as a
result of the modification.

The equity restructuring was in accordance with a preexisting contractual anti dilution provision; therefore the cash paid did not impact our earnings per
share computation and the changes to the options not receiving a cash award were accounted for by increasing the denominator in our earnings per share
computation using the treasury stock method

6. Equity-Based Compensation Plans

On March 31 2015 we adopted the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2015 Plan) and reserved a total of 10285 shares of Class A common stock for
issuance thereunder. The shares reserved for issuance under the 2015 I'lan also included up to 28133 shares rolled over from the 201 l Plan and loom certain other
option plans assumed in connection with acquisitions The number of shares reserved for issuance are increased automatically on January let of each year by a
number equal to the least ol(i) 20571 shares (ii) 4% of the total shares of all classes of conion stock outstanding as of the last day of the preceding year or (iii)
such other amount as may be determined by our Board On January l 2016 an additional 6299 shares were reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan. As of
December 31 2016 12579 shares were available tor issuance as future awards under the 2015 Plan.

On March Sl 2015 we adopted the 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP) and reserved a total of 2,000 shares ofC1ass A common stock for
issuance thereunder. The number otshares reserved lOt issuance are increased automatically on January let of each year by a number equal to the least of(i)
1000 shares (ii) 1% of the total shares of all classes olcommon stock outstanding as of the last day of the preceding year or (iii) such other amount as may be
determined by our Board. On January l 2016 an additional 1000 shares were reserved tor issuance pursuant to the ESPP. As of1)ecember 31 2016 2. 123 shares
were available for issuance under the ESPP.

We grant options at exercise prices equal to the fair market value four Class A common stock on the grant date. We grant both options and RSUs
vesting solely upon the continued employment of the recipient as well as awards vesting upon the achievement of annual or cumulative financial-based targets
coinciding with our fiscal year. We recognize the grant date fair value of equitybased awards as compensation expense over the required service period of each
award. taking into account the probability four achievement olassociatcd pcrtOrmance targets.
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i

li
l

l

We apply the straightline attribution method to recognize equitybased compensation expense associated with awards not subject to graded vesting. For
awards subject to graded vesting and performance based awards we recognize compensation expense separately for each vesting tranche. We also estimate when
and if pcrformance based awards will be earned If an award is not considered probable offing earned no amount of compensation expense is recognized. If the
award is deemed probable of being earned compensation expense is recorded over the estimated service period.

l
l

The fOllowing table summarizes our option activity:

Number of
Shares olClass A
Common Stock

(#)

Weighted-
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value (5)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (5)

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(inyears)

7.83

20.3

9.77

35.5

11.97
2424

25805

4787

(1760)

(2180)

26.652

3926

(L749)

( l4 l0 )

27419

2136

(9.l87)

(1740)

Outstanding al December 3 I 2013

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 3 I 2014

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 3 l 20 I5

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding al December 3 l 2016

Vcsted at December 3 l, 2016

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price (5)

6.42

16.70

4.26

8.14

8.27

23.66

7.65

13.47

10.25

30.93

5.99

17.25

14.06

925

389.2

232.2

6.8

5.8

18628

9034

The tbllowing table sunlmurizcs our RSU acllvltyz

Number of
Shares of Class A
Common Stock

(#)

Weighted-
Average
Grant-

Date Fair
Value (8)

16.1187

31.50

87

52

(46)

30.98

93
3,129
(241 )
(224)

2.757

Outstanding at l)ccembcr 31 2013

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 3 l 2014

Granted

Vcsted

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 31 20 I5

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 3 I 2016

During 2016 2015 and 2014 we recognized $56.8 million $40.4 million and $30.1 million of equity-based compensation expense respectively
including $3.1 million $3.6 million and $3.7 million respectively. of additional expense
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result ing from the modification of certain awards. Inc luded in these amounts are $4.1 million , $4.7 million and $0 of equitybased compensation expense related to

the ESPP for 2016 2015 and 2014 respec t ively.

Al Dec ember 3 I 2016 total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock options and RSUs was $39.1 million and $500 million

respectively with expected remaining weighted-average recognition periods of approximately 1.9 years and 2.8 years respectively. We currently believe the

performance targets related to the vesting ofperlOmiance awards will be achieved. Il such targets are not achieved or are subsequently determined to not be

probable of being achieved we will not recognize any compensation expense relating to perfonnanee awards and will reverse any previously recognized expense.

in May 2016 we determined our "UpC" struc ture was not eligible to offer a taxqualified" plan and terminated the thencurrent ESPP offering period. In

connection with the oflCring period termination we granted fullyvested RSUs to employees who were partic ipating in the FSPP prior to the termination date

result ing in $4.4 intl lion of addit ional equitybased compensation expense during 2016. Other expenses related to this termination were not material. We stared a

"non-qualif ied" ESPP offering period in July 2016 .

The fair value of each ESPP share is estimated on the first day of each offering period using the BlackScholes option pric ing model. and is recognized as

compensation expense on a straight- line basis over the term during which it is outstanding. As of December 31 2016 $1 .9 million has been withheld on behalf

of employees for future purchases under the ESPP which is inc luded in accrued expenses and other current liabilit ies. At December 31 2016 total unrecognized

compensation expense related to ESPP shares was $2.0 million whic h will be rec ognized during the list  halfof20l7 .

Deferred Revenue7.

Dcfcrrcd revenue consisted of the IOllowingi

December JI,

2016 2015

ss

Current:

Domains

Hosting and presence

Business applicat ions

497.2

330.8

109.7

937.7ss

531.2

3708

141.5

1043.5

s$

Nonc unenlt

Domains

HosllI1g and presence

Business applicat ions

288.5

1497

40.3

478.5s

311.1

163.4

58.2

532.7 s

s . Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilit ies consisted of the fOllowing:

s s

I

I
I
I

Accrued payroll and employee benefits

Accrued acquisit ion-related expenses and acquisit ion consideration payable

Accrued marketing and advertising expenses

Current portion of capital lease obligation

Transaclion-ba§ed taxes payable
Accrued indirect tax liabilities

Accrued other

December 31,

2016 z015

74 0 64.7

13.4 2.1

9 8 10.7

6.9 12.0

6.8 4.3

6.1 7.1

26.0 26. l

143.0 127.0ss

100



Tzible of contciits

9. Long-Term Debt

Long-temt debt consists of the following:

December 3l,

2016 2015

Ss 1.083.5l 072.5Term Loan due May 13. 2021 (effective interest rate of4.9% at December 3 I 2016 and 5. 1% at December 3 I 2015)

Revolving Credit Loan due May 13 2019

Total

Lcss unamortized original issue discounts on longterm debt <11

Less unzimortizcd debt issuance costs I"

Less current portion of long-temi debt

1083.5
(36.8)
(2.7)
(4.2)

1.039.8s s

l0/2.5

(30.5)

(2.3)

(4.0>
l035.7

(I) Original issue discounts and debt issuance costs are amortized ro interest expense over the lite of the related debt instruments using the ctTectlve interest method

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Loan

i

i

Our amended and restated secured credit agreement (the Credit Facility) consists of a $ll00.0 million original balance term loan maturing on May 13
2021 (the Temp Loan) and an available $150.0 million revolving credit loan maturing on May l 3 2019 (the Revolving Credit Loan) Borrowings under the Credit
Facility bear interest at a rate equal to at our option either (a) LIBOR (not less than 1.0% for the Tenn Loan only) plus 3.25% per annum or (b) 2 25% per annum
plus the highest of(i) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% (ii) the Prime Rate or (iii) onemonth LIBOR plus l 0% .

In addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal under the Tcrm Loan we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.375% per annum for any
unutilized commitments under the Revolving Credit Loan.

The Credit Facility requires us Io prepay outstanding term loans subject to certain exceptions with percentages of excess cash flow proceeds ofnon-
ordinary course asset sales or dispositions of propcny insurance or condemnation proceeds and proceeds from the incurrence of certain debt

The Credit Facility contains certain covenants including among other things covenants limiting our ability to incur additional indebtedness sell assets.
incur additional liens make certain fundamental changes pay distributions and make certain investments. Additionally the Credit Facility also requires us to
maintain certain financial ratios. All obligations under the Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by the assets of substantially all four subsidiaries. At
December 31 2016 Ive were not in violation of any covenants of the Credit Facility.

In April 2015 we made a payment of$750 million to repay all amounts drawn on the Revolving Credit Loan. At December 31, 2016 we have $l50.0
million available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit Loan.

The estimated lair value of the Term Loan was $l079.2 million at December 31 2016 based on observable market prices lOt this loan which is traded in
a less active market and is therelbre classified as a Level 2 fair value measurement.

On February 15 2017 we refinanced the Credit Facility. See Note 18

Senior Note

On December 16 201 l . we issued a 9% senior note to YAM. In April 2015 we made a payment to YAM totaling $316.0 million to repay the senior
note consisting of principal of$300.0 million prepayment premium of $l 3.5 million which was recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment and accrued interest
of$2.5 million . Additionally in connection \with the repayment $7.l million of unamortized original issue discount and $0.8 million oldeferred financing costs
were recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment. Folloiving this payment. the senior note teas canceled.
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Fut ure Debt .\laturitics

Aggregate princ ipal payments exc lusive of any unamortized original issue discounts and debt issuance costs due on longterm debt as otI)cccmber 3 l

2016 arc  as follows:

$ 11.0
11.0
11.0
11.0

1028.5

Year Ending December 31:

2017

2018

2019

2020

202 I

Thereafter

s 1.0725

10. Commitments and (Tontingencies

Lease Financing Obligation

In April 2013 we entered into an I I -year lease agreement for new office space in Tempe Arizona under which we occupied the total available space

commenc ing in September 2014 The lease agreement allowed lOt rent abatement during the first full year. with rent payments of$0.3 million per month

thereafter consisting of both base rent and a tenant improvement allowance. The lease provides us with two consecutive options to extend the term tor live years

each. In the event we choose to extend the term of the lease the monthly rent br each additional tern will be based on 95% of the thenprevailing market rate.

As a result four involvement during the construction period vie were considered to be the owner of the construction project for accounting purposes.

Upon complet ion oleonstruc t ion in September 2014 we did not meet the sale- leaseback criteria for precognition of the building assets and liabilit ies; therefore

we were required to record an asset representing the total cost of the building paid by the lessor and the lease is accounted lOt as a financing obligation. We

capitalized $l 8.1 million of construction costs incurred by the lessor. which are being deprec iated over an estimated useful lite of40 years. Rent payments are

treated as princ ipal and interest payments on the lease financing obligation. with an amount recorded as estimated land lease expense each period The lease

financ ing obligation at the end of the lease term will approximate the net book value of the building to be relinquished to the lessor. As off)ecember 31 ZOI6 the

lease financ ing obligat ion totaled $19 8 million . of which $196 million is inc luded iii other longterm liabilit ies.

Future minimum payments under this lease as otI)ecember 3 l. 2016 are as lOllovvsi

s

i

Year Ending December al:

20 l7

20 lb

20 la

2020

202 I

Therealic r

3.2

3.2

3.2

3.4

3.6

12.2

2 8 3s

Leases

We lease office space data center space (inc luding commitments lOt spec iticd levels of power) vehic les and certain computer equipment under operating

and capital leases expiring at various dates through September 2026 . Total operating lease rent expense was $43.3 million . $42.2 million and $39.3 million during

2016 2015 and 2014 respectively.
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Future minimum lease obligations under capital leases and noneancelable operating leases with initial terms in excess ozone year at December 31 2016
are as follows:

Operating
Leases

Capital
Leases

s s6.8

29

1.3

28.6

21.0

110
5.1
4.3

14.9

84.911.0 s
(0.4)

10.6s

Year Ending December 31:

20 I7

2018

2019

2020

2021

Thereafter

Total minimum payments

Less: amount representing interest

Capital lease obligation

Service Agreements

We have entered into long-term agreements with certain vendors to provide for software and equipment maintenance specified levels of bandwidth and
other services Under these arrangements. we are required to make periodic payments. Future minimum obligations under these noncancclablc agreements with
initial terms in excess ofonc year at December 3 l 2016 are as follows

s
l

l

9.7

4.0

26

1.4

17.7s

Year Ending December 31:

2017

2018

2019

2020

ThereaRcr

Total minimum payments

Litigation

From time-totime we arc a party Io litigation and sub.lect to claims incident to the ordinary course of business including intellectual property claims
putative class actions commercial and consumer protection claims. labor and employment claims breach of contract claims and other asserted and unasserted
claims. We investigate claims as they arise and accrue estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses are probable and estimable. The
amounts currently accrued for such matters are not material. While the results ofsuch normal course claims and legal proceedings cannot be predicted with
certainty management does not believe. based on current knowledge and the likely timing of resolution of various matters any additional reasonably possible
potential losses above the amounts accrued tor such matters would be material to our consolidated financial statements. Regardless of the outcome legal
proceedings may have an adverse effect on its because of defense costs diversion of management resources and other factors.

lndcntnifications

In the normal course ofbusiness we have made indemnities under which we may be required to make payments in relation to certain transactions.
including to our directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted under applicable state laws and indemnifications related to certain lease agreements. In
addition certain advertiser and reseller pannier agreements contain indemnification provisions which are generally consistent with those prevalent in the industry.
We have not incurred material obligations under indemnification provisions historically. and do not expect to incur material obligations in the ligature Accordingly
we have not recorded any liabilities related to such indeinnities as of December 3 l 2016 and 2015 .

We include service level commitments to our customers guaranteeing certain levels of uptime reliability and performance tor our hosting and premium
DNS products. Thcse guarantees permit those customers to receive credits in the event we fail to meet those levels with exceptions tor certain service interruptions
including but not limited to periodic
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maintenance. We have not incurred any material costs as a result otsuch commitments during any of the periods presented and have not recorded any liabilit ies

related to such obligations as of December 31 2016 and 2015 .

Indirect Taxes

We are subject to indirect taxation in some but not all of the various states and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Laws and regulations

attempting to subject communications and commerce conducted over the Internet to various indirect taxes are becoming more prevalent both in the U.S. and

internationally and may impose additional burdens on us in the future. Increased regulation could negatively affect our business directly as well as the businesses

four customers. faxing authorit ies may impose indirect taxes on the Internetrelated revenue we generate based on regulations currently being applied to similar

but not directly comparable industries. There are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate indirect tax determination is uncertain. In addition

domestic  and international indirect taxation laws are complex and subject to change. We may be audited in the future. which could result in changes to our indirect

tax estimates. We continually evaluate those jurisdictions in which nexus exists and believe we maintain adequate indirect tax accruals.

As oIDecember 31 2016 and 2015 our acc rual for est imated indirec t tax liabilit ies was $6.l million and $7.1 million respectively reflecting our best

estimate of the probable liability based on an analysis four business activit ies revenues subject to indirect taxes and applicable regulat ions. Although we believe

our indirect tax estimates and assoc iated reserves are reasonable the final determination of indirect tax audits and any related lit igation could be materially

different than the amounts established tor indirect tax contingencies.

I1. Defined Contribution Plan

We maintain defined contribution 401(k) plans covering all eligible employees who may contribute up to l 00% of their compensation subject Io

limitations established by the Internal Revenue Code. We match employee contributions on a discretionary basis. Expense for our matching contributions was $855

million. $86 million and $7.7 million during 2016 2015 and 2014 respectively.

l

12. Income Taxes

l

l

i

l

l

l

We are required to file federal and applicable state corporate income lax returns and recognize income taxes on our pretax income. Desert New co has

been and will continue to be treated as a partnership tor U.S. income lax purposes. As such Desert Ncweo is considered a passthrough entity and generally docs

not pay income taxes on its taxable income in most jurisdic tions. Instead. Desert Neweos members of which we arc  one. are liable for federal and stale income

taxes based on their taxable income. Desert Neweo is liable lOt income taxes in certain lbreign jurisdictions in those states not recognizing its passthrough status

arid lOt certain subsidiaries not taxed as passthrough entities We have acquired the outstanding stock of various entities taxed as corporations which are now

owned l00% by us or our subsidiaries and are treated as an independent consolidated group lOt federal income tax purposes. Where required or allowed these

subsidiaries also file as a consolidated group lOt state income tax purposes. We antic ipate this structure to remain in existence for the foreseeable future.

Our tax provision inc ludes federal state and foreign income taxes. The domestic  and fOreign components four loss belimre income taxes were as lbllows:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2014

s ssUS. loss belbre tax

Foreign income before tax

Loss before income l1lx€s sss

(l4*).Ul

2.9

(l46.l)

2015

(l2l.2)

06

(1206)

(28.5)

7.0

l2155)
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Our (provision) bcncfil for income taxes was as tallows:

2014

Year Ended December 31

20152016

s

Current:

Federal

State

Fgfgflgn

(0.1)

(0.3)

(3.6)

(4.0)

(0.3) s

(0.3)
(3.5)

(4.1)

(0.3) s
(0.1)

(2.4)

(28)
Deferred 1

Federal

State

Foreign

4.9

1.7

0.2

6.8

2.8

2.4

0.4

0.2

3.0

0.2(Provision) benefit tr income taxes ss

3.1
08
08

3.7
(0.4> s

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax role to our cftCctive income tax rate was as tallows:

2016

ssS

2014
407

(45.8)

(2.5)

Year I.nded December J I,

2015

42.2

2.8
(l5.6)

(22)

1.5
(0.11

Expected benefit at federal statutory tax rate (35% for 2016 and 2015; 34% lOt 2014)

Effect orates due to pass-through entities

Income of non-controlling interest

Foreign earnings

TRA liability adjustment

State taxes net of federal benefit

Other

Valuation allowance

(Provision) benefit for income taxes 2.8

5.4
cu?)

(31.7)

0.2 s$

7.5
(0.1)
( i s )

(0.9)

(3.8)

0.1

0.1

(1.5)
(04) s

The components four rel DTAs were as follows:

December31,

2016 2015

s s

DTAs :

Net operating losses

Credits and incentives

Investment in Desert New co

Deferred interest

Other

Valuation allowance

Total DTAs

167.4

2.7

1888

11.2

2.3

(3582)

13.7

131.9

2.5

4.7

8.2

1.6

(l 35.l)

13.8
DTLs:

Identified intangible assets

Total DTLS

Ne! DlAs

(8.7)

(8.7)

5 0

(8.4)

(8.4)

54ss
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As a result of the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO we acquired LLC Units and have recognized a DTA for the ditTcrence between the financ ial

reporting and tax basis four investment in Desert New co. In addition. we acquired certain tax attributes from these transactions. inc luding $89.2 million of NOL

and c redit  carryforwards net oltax. During 2016 the DTAs assoc iated with our investment in Dcsen Ncwco inc reased $1836 million due to the exchange of LLC

Units in the April 2016 secondary offering discussed in Note 5 the exchange of addit ional LLC Units and stock option exerc ises. We also recorded addit ional

DTAs ol$36.7 million in 2016 and $30.1 million in 2015 as a result  olour port ion of Desert  Nevvcos NOLs and c redit  carrylOrwards. and ol$3.0 million in 2016

and $8.2 million in 2015 lOt fUture interest deductions as a result of the liability under the TRAs. Based on our limited operating history and future projections of

taxable income we believe there is significant unccnainty as to when we will be able to utilize these NOLs credit carrytOrwards and other I)IAs. Theretbre. we

have recorded a valuation allowance against these DIAs because we have conc luded it is morelikely-thannot they will not be realized.

As olDec ember 3 I 2016 we have federal. state and tbreign gross NOLs c redits and incentives a port ion olwhich will begin to expire in 2030 and

continue through 2036 as follows:

Portion Subject to

a Valuation

Allowanc e

s s 396.2

4802

i i

877.5

Gross N()Ls,
Credits and
Incentives

424.6

500.9

2.4

$ 927.9 S

Federal NOLs and c redits

State NOLs, credits and incentives

Fore ign NOLs

Total NOLs c redits and incent ives

As otDecember 3 l 2016 . vie have determined undistributed net earnings ol$68 million related to certain subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested in

operations outside the US.. which could become subject to additional taxes if remitted as dividends or loaned to a U.S alTiliate. The resulting U.S. income tax

liabilit ies could be oflSel in whole or in part by credits allowable for taxes paid to foreign jurisdic tions. The actual tax costs will depend on the income tax laws

and circumstances at the time of the realization CVCHIS.

We have tiled income tax returns for years through 2015 These returns are subject to examination by the taxing authorities iii the respective jurisdictions.

generally lOt three or tour years alter they were filed. Based on our analysis of tax positions taken on income tax returns filed. we have determined a liability

related to uncertain income tax positions is not required. Although we believe the amounts reflected in our tax returns substantially comply with applicable federal

state and foreign tax regulations the respective taxing authorit ies may take contrary posit ions based on their interpretation olie Iavv A lax posit ion successtiilly

changed by a taxing authority could result in an adjustment to our benefit for income taxes in the period in which a final determination is made.

13. Payable to Related Parties Pursuant to the TRAp

In the Investor Corp Mergers we received certain tax attributes. inc luding the OBAs and NOL carry forwards lrom the Reorganization Parties. These

OBAS entit le us to the deprec iation and amortization previously allocable to the Reorganization Panics. which arc  allowed prior to the utilization of any NOL or

tax credit carryforwards against income taxes.

Based on then current projections of taxable income and bette deduction ofany spec ially allocated deprec iation arid amortization. we antic ipated having

enough taxable income to utilize a portion of these spec ially allocated deductions related to the OBAs. Accordingly as of December 31 2015 we recorded a

liability under the TRAs of S la l .6 million . with an offSetting reduction to additional paid- in capital representing approximately 85% of the calculated tax savings

based on the portion of the OBAS ac antic ipated being able to utilize in future years

During 2016 we inc reased this liability through l) a $38.5 million reduc t ion of addit ional paidin-capital as a result  of the complet ion of the April 2016

secondary offering discussed iii Note 5 and 2) a $l 2.5 million charge to our consolidated statement of operations. which was primarily due to: i) art increase in our

ownership ofDcsert New co. ii) the finalization of Desert Ne\veos 2015 taxable income allocated to us and iii) changes in estimated 2016 taxable income As of

December 31 2()l 6 the liability under the TRAs was $202.6 million .
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\
The projection of future taxable income involves signilicantjudgment. Actual taxable income may differ from our estimates which could significantly

impact the liability under the TRAs. If these additional depreciation and amortization deductions are greater than our taxable income the excess deductions
allocated to us will increase the amount of our NOL carry forwards. We have determined it is morelikelythan-not we will be unable to utilize all four DTAs
subject to TRAs; therefore we have not recorded a liability under the TRAs related to the tax savings we may realize from the utilization of fOL carry forwards
and the amortization related to basis adjustments under Code Section 754 created by exchanges ofl.LC Units. l utilization of these [)lAs becomes morclikcly
thannot in the fiiturc at such time we will record liabilities under the TRAs olup to an additional $169.8 million as a result ofbasis adjustments under Code
Section 754 and up to an additional $148.0 million related to the utilization of fOL and credit earrylbrwards which will be recorded through charges to our
consolidated statement of operations. llowevcr if the tax attributes are not utilized in future years it is reasonably possible no amounts would be paid under the
TRAp. In this scenario the reduction of the liability under the TRAs would result in a benefit to our consolidated statement ofopcrations.

14. Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to GoDaddy Inc. by the weighted-average number of shares o1Class A common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed giving effect to all potentially dilutive shares. including outstanding options RSUs. warrants arid
ESPP shares. in periods when we have a net loss potentially issuable shares are excluded from the calculation ofeamings per share as their inclusion would have
an antidilutive effect.

For purposes of calculating loss per share for periods prior 10 the IPO including 2015 hr which a portion of the period preceded the IPO. we treated the
Reorganization Transactions as a merger of entities under common control. TherefOre we have retrospectively reflected loss per share as though these transactions
had occurred as of the earliest period presented For all periods prior to the IPO. we allocated our historical net loss between the Class A stockholders and the non-
controlling interest based on their respective share ownership. These calculations do not consider the 26000 shares ofClass A common stock sold in our IPO

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation ofbasie and diluted net loss per share is as follows:

2016

Year Ended December31

2015 zoi4

s s$

s

(l20.4)

(73.0)

(474) s

(21.9)

(5.4)

(l6.5) s

(143.3)

(l00.1)

(43.2)

58.676 3882679835

38.82679835 58676

Numerator:

Net loss

Less: net loss attributable to non-controlling interests

Net loss attributable to GuI)addy Inc.

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares ofClass A common stock outstanding-basic

Effect ofdilutivc securities

Weightedaverage shaircs of Class A common stock outstanding-diluted

SsNet loss per share olClass A common stock-basic and diluted (0.8l) $(0.2 l) (l.ll)

The following number ofweightcdaverage potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share because the eflirct of
including such potentially dilutive shares would have been antidilutive:

Options and vesting LLC Units

RSUs. warrants and ESPP shares

Year Ended December 31,

2015

15159

139

2016
13517

363

13,880

2014
10406

113

1051915298
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Shares olClass B common stock do not share in our earnings and arc not participating securities. Accordingly separate presentation ofnet loss per share
of Class B common stock under the twoclass method has not been presented Each share olClass B common stock (together with a corresponding LLC Unit) is
exchangeable tor one share olClass A common stock Total shares of common stock outstanding were as follows;

Class A common stock

Class B common stock

December31,

2016 20IS

88558 67083

78554 90,398

167112 15748I
IS. Geographic Information

Revenue by geography is based on the customers billing address and was as follows:

2014

s ssUS.

lntemalional

S

2016

1350.1
497.8

1.847.9$ s

Year Ended December 31,

2015

1192.6

414.7

16078

11038.8
348.5

1387.3

No individual international country represented more than l0% of total revenue in any period presented. Substantially all four assets are located in the
U.S.

16. Related Party Transactions

Tax Distributions to Desert Nev co's Owners

Desert New co is subject to an operating agreement containing numerous provisions related to allocations of income and loss as well as timing and
amounts of distributions to its owners. This agreement also includes a provision requiring cash distributions enabling its owners to pay their taxes on income
passing through from Desert Nevvco These tax distributions are computed based on an assumed income tax rate equal to the sum 01(1) the maximum marginal
federal income tax rate applicable to an individual and (ii) 7% The assumed income tax rate currently totals 466% which will increase to 50.4% in certain
cases when the tax on net investment income is applicable.

In addition under the tax nils. Dcsen Ncwco is required to allocate taxable income disproportionately to its unit holders. Because tax distributions are
determined based on the holder otl.l.C Units who is allocated the largest amount of cumulative taxable income for the current year on a per unit basis but are
made pro rata based on ownership Desert Ncwco is required to make tax distributions that. in the aggregate will likely exceed the amount of taxes Desert Ncwco
would have otherwise paid.

During 2016 Desert Ncwco paid total distributions ofsl8.4 million based on ownership as of the various payment dates as folloivs; $73 million to
YAM $4.1 million to SLP $3.9 million to KKR $2.2 million to TVC and $0.9 million to other Desert New co owners. Distributions paid in 2015 and 2014 were
not material.

l

i

l

As of l)eccmber 3 l 2016 we have accrued $1000 million for estimated tax distributions to l)csert Nc\vcos owners excluding us. which is included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Following the finalization ol20l6 taxable income allocated to each Desert Ncwco owner these distributions will be
paid by April 2017 to the Sponsors Bob Parsons and other Desert Ncwco owners based on their ownership as of the payment dates.
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Sponsors
l

Amounts paid to afiiliales ofKKR related to their participation as lenders under our Credit Facility were as follows;

i

2014

Year Ended December 31,

20152016

Sss

i

1
l
l
l

Principal

Interest and other fees

5.3

1.4

0.2

2.2

0. l

a s

As olDcccmbcr 81 2016 and 2015 affiliates ofKKR held $2.9 million and $28.8 million respectively of the outstanding principal balance of the Term
Loan as participating lenders. Affiliates olKKR previously held $5.0 million of the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Credit Loan as participating
lenders which was repaid in April 2015 .

On Dccembcr 16 201 l we entered into a transaction and monitoring fee agreement with alfiliates of certain of the Sponsors pursuant to which those
entities provided management and advisory services. In April 2015 we made a final aggregate payment ot$26.7 million upon the termination of this agreement
allowing the completion of the IPO which was charged to general and administrative expenses Following this payment we have no further obligations under this
agreement in addition on December 16, 201 l we entered into a separate indemnification agreement with such parties pursuant to which we agreed to provide
customary indemnification to them and their affiliates

Bob Parsons and YANI

On December 16. 201 l we entered into an executive chairman services agreement with Bob Parsons pursuant to which we were obligated to provide
customary benefits related to his service to us. In April 20lS we paid $3.0 million upon the termination olthis agreement fOllowing the completion of the IPO
which \vas charged to general and administrative expenses lfollmving this payment. we have no further obligations under this agreement

Payments made to YAM. other than those associated with the repayment ofthe senior note in April 2015 as described in Note 9 were as follows:

2016 2014

Year Ended December 31,

2015

Interest on the senior note 9.2 2 7 0ss s

YAM has indemnified us lOt certain taxes related to periods prior to December 16 20] I and we have agreed to provide customary indemnification to Bob
Parsons related to his service Io us

Other

In the ordinary course of business ac purchase and lease computer equipment. technology licensing and soltv\are maintenance and support from affiliates
olDell Inc. (Dell) of which Silver Lake and its affiliates have a significant ownership interest During 2016 2015 and 2014 we paid S 15.4 million . $l 75 million
and $161l million respectively to Dell.

11. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (lfnaudited)

The fOllowing table contains selected unaudited consolidated statement oloperations inlbrmation lOt each quarter of 2016 and 2015 . The following
information rellecls all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the information 10r the periods presented. The operating results br any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. Our unaudited quarterly results were as follows;
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Sept. 30,
2016

s

472.1

21.2

8.3

$

s

s

Dec. 31, 2016

s 4859

s 17.9

s (0.8)

Mar. 31,
2015

3768

(20.5)

(43.4)

.fun. 30. 2016

S 4562 s
s 9.7 $
s (11.1) $

Three Months Ended

.\1ar.31 I)ec.3l,

2016 2015

433.7 s 425.4 $

1.3 s 12.2 $

(18.3) S (0.5) $

Jun. 30,
2015

394.5 s

(33.6)

(71.3) $

Sept. 30,
2015

41 l.l s

10.9 s

(52) s

4.8 0.1s s $ $(1.9) (43.4)(l0.5) s(8.9) $ (2.5) (29.8) s

0.06s$ 0.00s $(0.02) (0.46) S (0.34)(0.15) S(0.Il) s (0.04) s

Total revenue

Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) attributable to
GoDaddy Inc. $

Net income (loss) per share of
Class A common stock-basic

Net income (loss) per share of
Class A common stock-diluted $ 0.000.05s $ s(0.02) (0.04) $(0.l5) $(0.11) s (0.46) s (0.34)

18. Subsequent Events

Agreement to Acquire llost Europe Holdings Limited

On December 5 2016 we entered into an agreement to purchase all shares in Host Europe Holdings Limited (HEG) and certain loan notes issued by
lost Europe Finance Co Limited. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement and subject to the conditions therein on the closing date we will purchase all
of the outstanding shares ofllEG and the related loan notes for approximately EUR 1.69 billion including approximately EUR 605 million paid to the selling
shareholders and approximately EUR 1.08 billion in assumed net debt subject to certain specified adjustments.

Consummation of the transaction is subject to certain customary closing conditions including obtaining all required regulatory approvals. The purchase
agreement may be tenninated at any time prior to the closing date by mutual written consent of the parties and under certain other conditions. including in the
event the transaction is not consummated by December 5 2017 .

We intend to finance the acquisition using the acquisition term loan discussed below and an asset sale bridge facility of up to EUR 500 million . We have
received a lender commitment letter tor the bridge facility which is subject to customary conditions including the consummation otthe transaction the accuracy
ofeertain specified representations the absence oa Company Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the purchase agreement) with respect to HEG and other
customary conditions. Terms of the bridge facility have not yet been finalized.

Credit Facility Refinancing

On February IS 2017 we refinanced the Credit Facility to provide for: i) a $l072.5 million seven year term loan (the Refinanccd Tcrm Loan), ii) a
second contingent $l425.0 million tranche (the Acquisition Term Loan) which is intended to provide a portion of the financing for our proposed acquisition of
IIEG and iii) a $l50.0 million five year revolving credit facility which will increase to $200.0 million upon the closing four acquisition olHEG (the
Refinanced Revolving Credit Loan)

The Refinanced Term Loan was issued al a 0.25% diseur on the face of the note at original issue lOt net proceeds of$l 069.8 million . The Refinanced
Term Loan matures on February 15 2024 and bears interest at a rate per annum olLIBOR plus 2.50% . We used the net proceeds from the Refinanced Term Loan
to repay all amounts outstanding under our Term Loan

I
I
i

The Acquisition Tenn Loan will be issued at a 0.25% discount on the lace olie note at original issue lOt net proceeds of$l42l.4 million in connection
with the closing four proposed acquisition ofHEG The Acquisition Term Loan will have the same maturity date and interest rate as the Rcfinanccd Temp Loan.
If the closing of the acquisition has not occurred by April 3 2017 the Acquisition Term Loan will begin to aeerue interest at a rate per annum of l.25% and il the
closing olie acquisition has riot occurred by April 16 2017 it will begin to accrue interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 250% .

The Retlnanced Revolving Credit Loan matures on February 15, 2022 and bears interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 2.00%
to 2.50% with the margin determined based on our first lien net leverage ratio
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item ')A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation four ChielExecutive Officer (CEO) and our Chief Financial Officer (CFO) evaluated the effectiveness four
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule l 3a15 under the Securities Exchange Act of l 934 as amended (the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form I0K.

Based on this evaluation. our CEO and CFO concluded that as of December 3 l 2016 our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a
reasonable assurance level and are eftCctive to provide reasonable assurance that inlbnnation we are required to disclose in reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded processed. summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management. including our CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal (ontrol ()vet Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended December 31. 2016 that materially affected, or which are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Limitations on Effectiveness olControls and Procedures

in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures management recognizes that any controls and procedures no matter how well
designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition the design of disclosure controls and
procedures must reflect the fact that there arc resource constraints and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits ofpossiblc controls
and procedures relative to their costs.

.\management's Report on Internal (ontrol over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a15<D of the
Fxchangc Act). Our management assessed the effectiveness four internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2016 . in making this assessment
our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations otthc Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (20l 3 framework). Based on our assessment under this framework our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31 2016 . The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2016 has been audited by Erst &
Young l..I.P. as independent registered public accounting Finn as stated in their report included herein.

l l l
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Report of Independent Registered Public Ac c ount ing F irm

Ihc  Board otDirec tors and Stockholders of GoDaddy Inc .

We have audited GoDaddy lnc .s internal control over financ ial reporting as of December 31 2016 based on criteria established in Internal Control~lntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Trcadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COS() c riteria). Go Daddy Inc .'s

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financ ial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financ ial report ing inc luded in the accompanying Ivlanagemenfs Report on Internal Control Over Financ ial Report ing. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on the company's internal control over financ ial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public  Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit inc luded obtaining an understanding of internal control over financ ial reporting assessing the risk that a material weakness exists testing and evaluating

the design and operating effectiveness ofintemal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

c ircumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financ ial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of finaneial reporting and the

preparation of financ ial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting princ iples. A company's internal control over financ ial

reporting inc ludes those polic ies and procedures that (l ) pertain to the maintenance of records that. in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting princ iples and that receipts and expenditures of the company arc being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use. or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements

Because omits inherent limitations internal control over financ ial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemcms. Also. projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because ofehanges in conditions or that the degree of complianec with

the polic ies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion GoDaddy Inc . maintained in all material respec ts effec t ive intcmal control over financ ial report ing as oi[)eccmber 3 l 2016 based on the COSO

criteria.

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public  Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) the consolidated balance sheets of

GoDaddy inc . as of[)eccmber 31 20 la and 2015 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders'/members equity and cash flows lOt each of

the three years in the period ended December 3 l 2016 and our report dated February 28 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/so Ernst  & Young LLP

Phoenix Arizona
February 28 2017
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Item CB. Other Information

None

Part Ill.

Item 10. Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance l

l

The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting otStockholders to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31 2016 (the 2017 Proxy Statement) and is incorporated herein by reference. The in fonnation required hy this
item regarding delinquent liters pursuant to Item 405 olRcgnlation S-K will be included under the caption "Section l6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance in the 2017 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Codeof E!h/cs

We have adopted a Code of Busincss Conduct and Ethics applicable to all four employees executive officers and directors. Our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available on our website in the Investor Relations section under the menu entry: Governance/Governance Documents
(https://aboutus.godaddy.net/investorrelations/governance/dcfaultaspx). To the extent mandated by legal requirements we intend to disclose on our website any
amendments to our Code olBusiness Conduct and Ethics or any waivers omits requirements.

hem ll.  Executive Compensation

The intimation required by this item will he included in the 2017 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownershipof(Icrtain Beneficial Owners and .\Ianagcment and Related Stockholder Matters

The infOrmation required by this item will be included in the 2017 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item IJ. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The inlOnnation required by this item will be included in the 2017 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

this item will he included in the 2017The infonnation required by Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference
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Part iv.

Item IS. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form I0-K:

(on5o/idaledFinancial Slalemems

Our consolidated financial statements arc listed in the "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" under Item 8 "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Financial Statement Schedules

All other schedules have been omitted because they are either not required not applicable or the required information is otherwise included.

lixhibils

See the Exhibit Index immediately fOllowing the signature page of this Annual Report on Form I()-K.

Item 16. Form I0K Summary

None.
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Sl( » NAllRIIS

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or I5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

(.DAnny INC.

Datci February 28. 2017 /s/ Blake J. Irving

Blake J. Irving
Chief Executive Officer

P()\\l.R OF ATTORNi;\

l

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Blake J. Irving and Ray E. Winbome and each of them as his or her true and lawful
attorneyin-fact and agent with full power of suhstitution and rcsubstitution br him or her and in his or her name place and stead in any arid all capacities to sign
any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Fort I0-K and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the
Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each olthem full power and authority to do and per term each and every
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith. as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-infact and agents. or any of them. or their or his substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Date

February 28 2017 l
l

Title

Chief Executivc Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Oflicer)

February 28 2017ChieiFinancial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board olDircctors February 28. 2017

Director February 28 2017

Director February 28. 2017

Director February 28. 2017

Director February 28. 2017

Director February 28 2017

Director February 28. 2017

Director February 28 2017

Director February 28. 2017

Signature

/s/ Blake J. Irving

Blake J. Irving

/s/ Ray E. Winbome

Ray E Winbornc

/s/ Charles J. Rob cl

Charles J. Rowel

/sf gerald Y. Chen

gerald Y. Chen

/s/ Richard ll Kimball

Richard ll. Kimball

/s/ Gregory K Mondre

Gregory K Mondrc

/s/ John I. Park

.john I. Park

/s/ Bob Parsons

Bob Parsons

/s/ Elizabeth S Rafael

Elizabeth S. Rafael

/s/ Brian ll Sharples

Brian H Shurples

/s/ Lee E. Willlinger

Loc E. Wittlinger
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number ExhibitForm File No.

2.1

Filing Date

4/6/20 IN1I8 K 00136904

2.2# 8 K 00136904 2.1 12/9/2016

23 8 K 00136904 2 2 12/9/2016

3.1

3 2

4.1

3 l

3 2

4 I

8-K

8 K

s I/A

4/6/20 l5

4/6/20 l5

3/ I 9/20 I5

001-36904

001-36904

333196615

4 2 4/6/20 IN8 K 00136904 103

4.3 001-369048-K 10.4 4/6/2015

4 4 8 K 4/6/20 IN102001 36904

45+ 4/1/2015S~8 4.2333203166

4.6 + 41 l 1/2/201600 I 36904l 0 Q

4.7+

4.8 +

4.9 +

410+

4/1/2015

2/13/2015

2/13/2015

3/19/2015

4.4

l 0 l 0

10.11
1028

S8

Sl/ A

Sl/ A

s l/A

333203166

333196615

333196615

333 I 966 I5

101 8-K 4/6/2015101001-36904

102 8 K 4/6/2015105001-36904

10.3 10.6001369048 K 4/6/2015

10.4 8 K 107001-36904 4/6/201 S

105 00136904 10.88 K 4/6/20l 5

10.6 8 K 4/6/20]5001-36904 109

|
I
i
I

10.7 S-l/A 333196615 1013 3/19/2015

Exhibit Description

Reorganization Agreement dated as of March 31 2015 by and among GoDaddy Inc Desert Newer
LLC and the other parties named therein

Agreement on the sale and purchase of all shares in Host Europe Holdings Limited and certain loan notes
issued by Host Europe Finance Co. Limited dated as of December 5 2016 by and among Go Daddy
Operating Company LLC Desert New co, LLC the Cinven Sellers identified on Schedule l thereto the
Minority Sellers identified in Schedule 2 thereto the Management Sellers identified on Schedule 3
thereto and Cinven Capital Management (V) GP Ltd as the Sellers Representative

Management Warranty Deed dated as of December 5. 2016. by and among Patrick PulvemiUller and
Tobias Mohr and Go Daddy Operating Company LLC

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofGoDaddy Inc.

Amended and Restated Bylaws otGo[)addy Inc

Specimen common stock certificate ofGoDaddy Inc.

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agrecmcnt dated as of March 31 2015 by and among
GoDaddy one Desert New co LLC and the other parties named therein

Stockholder Agreement dated as of March 3 I 2015 by and among GoDaddy Inc Desert Neweo LLC
and the other panics named therein

Exchange Agreement dated as of March 31 2015 by and among GoDaddy Inc Desert New co LLC
and the other parties named therein

GoDaddy Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreements thereunder

GoDaddy Inc. 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended on June 27 2016 and term of
agreements thereunder

Desert New co LLC 201 I Unit Incentive Plan as amended and foot of agreements thereunder

Locu Inc Amended and Restated 201 l Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreements thereunder

Bootstrap Inc 2008 Stock Plan and form ofagreementsthereunder

The Go Daddy Group Inc 2006 Equity incentive Plan

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Desert New co LLC dated as of
March 3 I 2015 by and among GoDaddy Inc. Desert New co LLC and the other parties named therein

Tax Receivable Agreement (Exchanges) dated as ofMareh 31 2015 by and among GoDaddy Inc and
the persons named therein

Tax Receivable Agreement (KKR Colnvest Reorganization) dated as olMarcll 3 l 2015 by and among
GoDaddy Inc. and GDG Co-Invest Blocker L.P.

Tax Receivable Agreement (KKR Reorganization) dated as otMarch 31 2015 by and among GoDaddy
Inc and KKR 2006 GDG Blocker 1. p

Tax Receivable Agreement (SLP Reorganization) dated as of March 3 l 2015 by and among GoDaddy
Inc. and SLP III Kingdom Feeder I L.P

Tax Receivable Agreement (TCV Reorganization) dated as of March 3 I "0l 5 by and among GoDaddy
Inc and TCV Vll (A) L P

Restated and Amended Executive Chairman Services Agreement dated March 4 2015 by and between
Desert New co LLC and Bob Parsons

108 333196615 6/9/2014s I 10 16

10.9 s l 6/9/201410.17333196615

10.10 10 14333196615 2/13/2015Sl/ A

Registrar Accrednatuon Agreement. dated July 14 2013 by and between GuI)addy com LLC and
Internet Corporatton tor Asslgncd Names and Numbers

COM Registry-Registrar Agreement dated July 5 2012 by and between GoDuddy.com LLC and
VeriSign Inc

Amendment No. 4 lo Credlt Agreement including as Annex A the Ftrst Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of May 13. 2014 by and among Desert New co LLC Go Daddy Operating
Company LLC Barclays Bank PLC Deutsche Bank Securmes Inc. RBC Capital Markets. KER Capital
Markets LLC. JP Morgan Securntles LLC Morgan Stanley Senior Funding Inc. and Cttlgroup Global
Markets Inc
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EXHIBIT INDEX (continued)

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Fo rm ExhibitFile No. Filing Date

10.11 IO. I8 K 2/16/201700136904

1012 Sl/A 10 18333196615 8/14/2014

10.13
I() 14+

10.15

333196615

333196615

333-196615

SI/A

SI/A

Sl/A

2/24/20 I5

2/24/20 I5

2/24/2015

10.20

1022

10.20

lo l6 + SI/A 333-196615 2/24/20 I510 23

l0.l7+ 333196615 10.24S-l/A 3/19/2015

l0l8+ SI/A 333196615 10 25 2/24/2015

l0.l9+ 8/4/201600 I 36904 10.1lo Q

1020 + 10.100136904 I 1/2/20161 0 Q

8 K 3/10/201600 l -36904 10.1l0.2l+
21 In
231 i

24 I *

3l.l*

3l 2*

32.1 **

Exhibit Description

Amendment No 5 to Credit Agreement including as Annex A the Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of February 15 2017 by and among Desert Ncwco LLC Go Daddy Operating
Company LLC GD Finance Co Inc. Barclays Bank PLC Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. RBC Capital
Markets KKR Capital Markets LLC JP Morgan Securities LLC Morgan Stanley Senior Funding Inc
and Citigroup Global Markets Inc

Agreement dated as o1August I 2014 by and between The Go Daddy Group Inc. and Desert New co
LLC and certain other parties named therein

Form of Indemnification Agreement

Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and officers

Employment Agreement dated as of lune l 2014 by and among GoDaddy com LLC Desert New co
LLC and Blake Irving

Employment Agreement dated as of.lune l 2014 by and among GoDaddy.com LLC Desert New co
LLC and Scott Wagner

Employment Agreement dated as of.lune I 2014 by and among GoDaddy com LLC Desert New co
I.l.c and Amc Joscfsberg

Employment Agreement, dated as of June l 2014 by and among GoDaddy.com LLC Desert New co.
LLC and James Carroll

Employment Agreement dated as of August l. "0l 6 by and among GoDaddv.com LLC Desert New co.
LLC and Ray E Winborne

Offer Letter dated February 18 2016 between GoDaddy Inc. and Brian Sharples

List of subsidiaries of()oDaddy Inc

Consent of independent registered public accounting firm

Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page of this Annual Report on Form l0K )

Certification of Chief Exeeutive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules l3a-l4(a) and l 5dl4(a) as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002

Certification ofChlef Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules l 3al4(a) and l 5dl4(a) as
adopted pursuant to Section 30° of the SarbanesOxley Act of'00"
Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002

+

#

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 60 l(b}(2) of kegulation SK. GoDaddy Inc. agrees to furnish supplementally to the SEC a copy of any omitted
schedule or exhibit upon request.

Filed herewith

an
The certifications altaclied as Exhibit 32.1 accompanying this Annual Report on Form I0K are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of GoDaddy Inc under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form I0K irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.i

i



Exhibit 2 l . l

L I ST  ( ) F  S l . B s l l ) l A R l Es  O F  T H E R E( » l ST R A N l

Na me State of Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Cal i folia

Desert New co LLC

Go Daddy Operating Com pany LLC

G o D a d d v c o m  L L C

Wi ld  West Dom a ins  LLC

M edia Tem ple inc.
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Exhibit 23.1

(onsent of lndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the fOllowing Registration Statements;

ti)

(2)
t 3)
(4)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 File No 333203166) pertaining to the GoDaddy Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan the GoDaddy Inc. 2015 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan the Desert Neweo LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan. the Locu Inc. Amended and Restated 201 l Equity incentive Plan the Bootstrap
Inc 2008 Stock Plan and The Go Daddy Group inc. 2006 Fquity Incentive Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-3 ASR No. 333210589) otGoDaddy Inc.
Registration Statement (Form S3 No. 333212018) otGoDaddy Inc,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No 333-212019) pertaining to the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan otGoDaddy
Inc.

of our reports dated February 28 2017 . with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Go Daddy Inc.. and the elleetiveness of internal control over
financial rcponing ofGoDaddy inc. included in this Annual Report (Form I0K) for the year ended December 3 l 2016

/s/ Emit & Young LLP

Phoenix Arizona
February 28 2017

l



Exhibit 31.1

i

(FR l l l l ( . \ l l ()N OF ptzn1omc REPORT UNDER StI(Tl()n 302 OF
Tm:SARBANIQS()XLE\ .\("I OF2002

tI Blake J. Irving certify that:

I. l have reviewed this Annual Report on Form I()-K of GoDaddy Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state u material fact necessary to make the statements
made in light of the circumstances under which such statements weremade not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge the financial statements arid other financial information included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrants other certifying officer and l are responsible lOt establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures Las defined in Exchange Act
Rules l 3al5(e) and l 5d|5(e)) lOt the registrant arid have:

Ta) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures. or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities. particularly during the
period iii which this report is being prepared;

Tb) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as ofthe end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed iii this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal
control over financial reporting: and

5 The registrant's other certifying officer and l have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting. to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board ofdirectors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

la) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrants ability to record. process summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other cmplovees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
l€pollll1g

Date; February 28 2017

By: /s/ Blake J irving

Blake J. Irving

(hiefExecutive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

i



Exhibit 3 I.2

CERTIFICATION OF PFRlODl( RI:I'oRr LNDER SECTION 302 OF
TIII; sARIsAnI;s-oxII;y .\("l OF 2002

l Ray E. W inbome certify that:

I l have reviewed this  Annual Report on Form l0-K ofGoDaddy Inc.;

2 Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report ;

3 Based OII my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition results ofopcrations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrants other certifying officer and l are responsible br establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as delincd in Exchange Act
Rules l3al5(c) and l5d-l 5(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to he designed under our supervision to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the
period iii which this report Is being prepared; I

l
lTb) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures arid presented in this report our conclusions about the efTcctiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal
control over financial reporting; and;

5 The registrant's other certifying officer and l have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants
auditors and the audit committee ofthe registrants board ofdircctors (or persons perfOnning the equivalent functions):

to) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses iii the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial information; arid

(h) Any fraud. vvhcther or not material that involves management or other cmplovees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 28 2017

By: /s/ Ray E. Winborne

Ray E. Winbornc

ChiefFinancial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

I
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Exhibit 32.1

(ERTiFi(fATions OF ciiiiir F.xl€clilIvlI ()lll(ER ANI) (lllF.F FINANCIAL ()pFI(jl2R
PURSUANT TO

18 l.S.(. SECTION 1550
AS ADO l" ll. l)  P lRs lTAnT TO

SECTION 906 ()F Tlll. SARBAnl.s()xl.lIy ACT ()F 2002

I Blake J. Irving certify pursuant to 18 U.SC. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant Io Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. that the Annual Report on
Form 10K of Gol)addy Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 3 l 2016 fully complies with the requirements of Section l3(a) or l5(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form I0K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and
results oloperations ofGoDaddy Inc.

Date: Fcbniary 28 2017

By: /s/ Blake J. Irving

Blake J Irving

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

I Ray E Winborne. certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that the Annual Report on
Form I0K of GoDaddy Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended December 31 2016 fully complies with the requirements of Section l3(a) or l5(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that tn lbmiation contained in such Annual Report on Form l0K fairly presents in all material respects. the financial condition and
results of operations olGoDaddy Inc.

Date: February 28 2017

By:
i

/s/ Ray E. Winbome

Ray E. Winbornc

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

l


